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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-locking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 under Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include statements with
respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, assumptions, estimates, intentions and future
performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may be bevond our control, and
which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical
fact are statements that could be forward-looking statements, You can identify these forward-looking statements through our
use of words such as “may,” “can.” “anticipate,” “assume,” “should,” “indicate,” “would.” “believe,” “contemplate,”
“expect,” “seek,” “estimate,” “continue,” “plan,” “point to,” “project.” “predict,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “potential” and
other similar words and expressions of the future,

There are a number of important factors that could cause the actual results 1o differ materially from those expressed
in any forward-looking statement made by us. These factors include, but are not limited to:

. our lack of operating history:

. the expectation that we will incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future and will need
significant additional capital:

. our current and future capital requirements to support our development and commercialization efforts for our
product candidates and our ability to sstisfy our capital needs:

. our dependence on our product candidates, which are still in preclinical or carly stages of clinical
development;

. our ability to acquire sufficient quantities of raw material needed o manufacture our drug product;

. our, or that of our third-party manufacturers, ability to manufacture cGMP quantities of our produet
candidates as required for pre-clinical and clinical irials and, subsequently, our ability to manufacture
commercial quantities of our product candidates;

. our ahility to complete required clinical trials for our product candidates and obtain approval from the FDA or
other regulatory agencies in different jurisdictions;

. our lack of a sales and marketing organization and our ability to commercialize our preduct candidates if we

obtain regulatory approval;
. our dependence on third-parties to manufacture our product candidates;
. our reliance on third-party CROs to conduct our clinical trials;

. our ability to maintain or protect the validity of our intellectual property:

. our ability to intermally develop new inventions and intellectual propenty;

. interpretations of current laws and the passages of future laws:

. acceptance of our business model by investors;

. the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses and capital requirements;
. our ability to adequately support organizational and business growth: and

. the continued spread of COVID-19 and the resulting global pandemic and its impact on our preclinical studies
and clinical studies.

The foregomng does not represent an exhaustive list of matters that may be covered by the forward-looking
statements contained herein or risk factors that we are faced with that may cause our actual results to differ from those
anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Please see “Part I-—Item IA—Risk Factors” for additional risks which could
adversely impact our business and financial performance

All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary notice. You are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report or the date of
the document incorporated by reference into this report. We have no obligation, and expressly disclaims any obligation, to
update, revise or correct any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, We have expressed our expectations, beliefs and projections in good faith and believe they have a reasonable
basis. However, we cannot assure you that our expectations, beliefs or projections will result or be achieved or accomplished.




PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

All references in this report to “Dermata,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” mean Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and its
subsidiaries unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise indicates.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage medical dermatology company focused on identifying, developing, and commercializing innovative
pharmaceutical product candidates for the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases we believe
represent significant market opportunities.

Dermatological discases such as acne valgaris (or acne), psoriasis vulgaris (or psoriasis), hyperhidrosis, and various acsthetic
indications, affect millions of people worldwide each year which may negatively impact their quality of life and emotional
well-being. While there are multiple current ireatment oplions for these indications on the market, we believe that most have
significam drawbacks, including underwhelming efTicacy, cumbersome application regimens and varying negative side
effiects, all of which we believe lead to decreased patient compliance. A majority of these indications are first treated with
topical therapy, however, many patients frequently switch treatments or discontinue treatment altogether due to patient
dissatisfaction, This is primarily due to slow and modest response rates, early onset of negative side effects, daily application
schedules and long duration of therapy. Given the limitations with current topical therapies, we believe there is a significant
opportinity o address the needs of frustrated patients searching for topical products that satisfy their dermatological and
lifestyle needs.

Our two product candidates, DMT310 and DMT410, both incorperate our proprietary, multifaceted, Spongilia technology to
topically treat a variety of dermatological conditions. Our Spangifla technology is derived from a naturally grown freshwater
sponge. Spongilla lacusiris or Spongiila, which is processed into a powder that is mixed with a Muidizing agent immediately
prior 1o application to form an easily applicable paste. Spongilfa is a unique freshwater sponge that only grows in commercial
quantities in select regions of the world and under specific environmental conditions, all of which give it its distinctive anti-
microbial, anti-inflammatory, and mechanical properties. The combination of these environmental conditions, the proprietary
harvesting protocols developed with our exclusive supplier, and our post-harvest processing procedures produce a
pharmaceutical product candidate that optimizes the mechanical components as well as the chemical components of the
sponge to create a product candidate with multiple mechanisms of action for the treatment of inflammatory skin conditions
and aesthetic applications.

We believe our Spongilla technology plaiform will enable us w develop and formulate singular and combination products
that are able to target the topical delivery of chemical compounds into the dermis for a variety of dermatology indications.
We believe the combination of Spongilla s mechanical and chemical components (which we helieve have demonstrated, in-
vitres, anti-microbial and anti-inflammatory properties), add to the versatility of our Spongilfa technology platform’s
effectiveness as a singular product, in the treatment of a wide variety of medical skin diseases like acne and psoriasis, We
also believe the mechanical properties of our Spengiffa technology allows for the intradermal delivery of a variety of large
molecules, like botulinum toxins, monoclonal antibodies, or dermal fillers, 1o target treatment sites, through topical
application without the need for needles.

Owr lead product candidate, DMT3 10, is intended to utilize our Spengilla technology for once weekly treatment of a variety
of skin discases, with our initial focus being the treatment of acne vulgaris, which has a U.S. market size of approximately 50
million patients. We have shown DMT310%s ability to treat the muliiple causes of acne in a Phase 2b study where we initially
saw a 45% reduction in inflammatory lesions after four treatments, with statistically significant improvements at all time
points for all three primary endpoints throughout the study (reduction in inflammatory lesions, reduction in non-inflammatory
lesions, and improvement in Tnvestigator Global Assessment). Based on this Phase 2b data we are currently preparing for an
end of phase 2 meeting with the FDA to finalize requirements prior to initiating a phase 3 program in the second half of 2023,
In addition, based on the multiple mechanisms of action and anti-inflammatory effect seen with DMT3 10 acne trial, we
completed a Phase b proofl of concept, or POC, trial in psoriasis where we saw encouraging results warranting further
investigation.




DMT310 consists of two grams of powder processed from the naturally grown freshwater sponge, Spongilla lacustris. The
patient mixes the powder with a NMuidizing agent (hydrogen peroxide) immediately prior to application by the patient to form
an easy-lo-apply paste. The paste is applied similar to a mud mask and is lefi on the skin for approximately ten 1o fifteen
minutes, after which time it is washed off with water. Due to the unigue combination of DMT3 10°s mechanical components
and chemical components, and based on our Phase 2 acne data, we believe patients will only need to apply DMT3 10 once-
weekly to produce a desired treatment effect. The mechanical components of the Spongilla powder consist of many
microscopic siliceous, needle-like spicules that, when massaged into the skin, penetrate the stratum comeum (the skin's
outermost protective layer) and ereate microchannels into the dermis where pro-inflammatory cytokines and bacteria reside.
We believe that the penetration of the spicules also leads to the opening of microchannels, which allow oxygen 1o enter
pilosebaceous glands, helping to kill C. acnes, which grow in an anaerobic (without axygen) environment (C. acnes is the
bacteria that cause inflammatory lesions in ncne patients). The spicules also cause rejuvenation of the top layer of dead skin,
thereby increasing collagen production. Additionally, we believe the newly created microchannels provide a conduit for
DMT310's naturally occurring chemical compounds to be delivered to the dermis and pilosebaceous glands, helping to kill
the . acnes and fight inflammation. In addition to these anti-microbial compounds, DMT310 also appears to have anti-
inflammatory chemical compounds, as demonstrated in in vitro experiments, that inhibit inflammation through the reduction
of Clacnes stimulated IL-8 production and by inhibiting 11.-1TA and IL- 1 7F expression in human cell lines. Also, during in
vitra studies of DMT310°s organic compounds, we observed the inhibition of the lipogenesis of sebocyies, which may
translate to & reduction in sebum (an oily and waxy substance produced by the human body's sebaceous glands) production
and the oiliness of the skin in patients, which was observed by a number of clinical mvestigators i our Phase 2 acne studies,
We believe the combination of these biological and mechanical effects could be important factors in treating multiple
inflammatory skin diseases, as seen in our clinical trials,

Owr second product candidate utilizing our Spongilla technology is DMT410, our combination treatment. DMT410 is
intended to consist of one treatment of our proprietary sponge powder followed by one topical application of botulinum toxin
for delivery into the dermis. Currently, botulinum toxin is only approved to be delivered 1o the dermis by intradermal
injections, which can be painful for the patient and time-consuming for the physician, However, we believe DMT410%s
ability 1o topically deliver botulinum toxin into the dermis could have similar levels of efficacy to existing delivery
techniques, with fewer tolerability issues, and a quicker application time, possibly replacing the need for intradermal
injections, We first tested DMT410 in a Phase | POC trial of axillary hyperhidrosis patients, which saw 80% of patients
achieve a reduction in gravimetric sweat production greater than 50%s four weeks afier a single treatment. With almost 0%
of the hyperhidrosis market currently being treated with intradermal injections of botulinum toxin, we believe there could be
significant opportunity for DMT410 to break into this market and replace intradermial injections of botulinum toxin, Based on
DMT410%s abality to effectively deliver botulinum toxin 1o the dermis as observed in the Phase 1 axillary hyperhidrosis trial,
we also conducted a Phase | POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of multipl hetic skin conditions, mcluding
reduction of pore size, sebum production, and fine lines, among others. In November 2021, we announced top-line resulis
from this trial, where we saw promising data that we believe warrants further investigation of DMT410. We are currently in
IE‘IE p‘lirllcess of discussing parinering opporiunities with botulinum toxin companies io move the DMT410 program into Phase
2 studies.

Application of DMT310

Image 1: The Spongilla is processed into a fine powder and packaged into 2g pouches with a 6mL bottle of 3% H,0,
(hvdrogen peroxide). Onee per week, paticnts mix the powder with hydrogen peroxide, and massage the mixture onto
their skin; after 10-15 minutes the product is easily removed with water.

We believe that the current medical and aesthetic dermatology landscape lacks innovative treatment options. mainly seeing
the introduction of reformulations or combinations of old molecules. Wi believe this lack of innovation provides an ideal
opportunity for us to change how patients treat their skin conditions. With our anticipated once weekly treatment schedule
and product candidate derived from a natural source, we believe we can become a leader in the space that may improve
patient compliance with minimal side elTects and a rapid time 1o treatment effect, as seen in cur multiple clinical trials in
acne, psoriasis, hyperhidrosis and acsthetic conditions. 17 we can successfully develop our product candidates, receive FDA
approval, develop a concentrated prescribing base of dermatologists, and utilize our management’s prior experience, we
believe we have the ability 1o build a commercial organization 1o develop and commercialize treatment oplions in our core
areas of focus within the dermatology space.




Owr Clinical Development Pipeline and Product Candidates

Our clinical development pipeling currently consists of DMT310 and DMT410, each in development for multiple skin
diseases and conditions. In the sccompanying section we will describe each product candidate, its benefits, and our market
strategy lor each product candidate. The dates reflected in the below table and sections are estimates only. and there can be
no assurances that the events mcluded in the below table or sections will be completed on the anticipated timeline presented,
or at all.

DMTiIN

Moderate-to-Severe Aene, In June 2020, we completed a randomized, double-blind, multicenter, placebo-controlled Phase 2b
clinical trial of DMT3 10 for the once weekly treatment of moderate-to-severe acne. DMT3 10 showed statistically significant
improvement versus placebo for all three endpoints (inflammatory lesion counts, non-inflammatory lesion counts, and the
Investigators Global Assessment), after only four topical treatments and continued to statistically separate from placebo until
the end of study ar week 12, We plan on using these same endpoints in our Phase 3 program of DMT310 for the treatment of
moderate-to-severe acne to suppont the filing of our NDA for DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne vulgaris,
We believe these results from once weekly applications may favorably position DMT310 as a first-in-class product in the
market for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne. We intend to initiate the Phase 3 program in 2023 after holding our end
of phase 2 meeting with the FDDA in the first halfl of 2023,

Mild-t-Moderate Psoriasis. Tn October 2021, we completed a Phase 1h POC trial of DMT310 for the once weekly treatment
of mild-to-moderate psoriasis. Plague psoriasis is a chronic, inflammatory skin disease that comprises approximately 80% of
the psoriasis market as of 2019, according to Fortune Business Insights Market Research Repont, a majonty of patients have
mild-to-moderate disease which makes them less likely to receive an approved biologic treatment, that are only indicated for
patients with moderate 1o severe disease, as a first line therapy. Due to the large population of patients who suffer from mild-
to-moderate psoriasis, and lack of effective topical therapies for more mild disease, we believe there is a large unmet need for
an effective topical product with limited side effects. Based on the data in our Phase 1b POC wnial, the in-vitro data of
DMT310%s reduction of IL-17A and IL-17F, and the anti-inflammatory effects we observed in its Phase 2b trial for acne, we
believe DMT3 10 may be used as a first-line therapy for patients suffering from mild-to-moderate psoriasis who are not
candidates for biologic treatments, In October 2021, we announced top-line results from our Phase 1b POC trial of DMT310
for the treatment of 30 mild-to-moderate patients with psoriatic lesions covering between 2% to 30% of their body surface
area, Patients were treated with DMT3 10 once a week for 12 weeks. Based on the efficacy, safety and tolerability profile
observed in the POC trial, we initiated additional work to better inform our clinical trial design prior to moving into a larger
Phase 2, placebo-controlled, clinical trial

Moderate-to-Severe Rosacea. On December 5, 2022, we announced topline resulis from our Phase 2 trial of once-weckly
topical application of DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe rosacea. The data was suppertive of DMT310 as a
treatment for inflammatory skin diseases, but the rosacea study did not meet its primary endpoints. While some patients did
achieve a meaningful change in their rosacea, with 36% of DMT3 10 patients meeting the criteria for a responder on the
Investigator Global Assessment (IGA) score, DMT3 10 was not able to statistically separate from placebo with 23% of
placcho patients meeting the criteria as a responder at Week 120 A treatment responder is defined as an 1GA grade of *clear’
or “almost clear” and at least a 2-grade improvement from baseline.

Based on the foregoing. we have decided not to devote any further financial resources to development of this indication for
DMT310. and we have determined not 1o pursue further development effons regarding this indication for DMT310,

DMT4I0

We are developing the second product candidate from our Spengilla platform, DMT410, for the topical treatment of skin
diseases and aesthetic conditions typically treated with multiple injections of botulimum toxin, Currently, botulinum toxin
must be injected multiple times to suceessfully deliver enough botulinum toxin to the desired treatment area. While injections
are effective for many different discases and aesthetic conditions, they limit botulinum toxin’s use for additional conditions
where injections, especially intradermal injections, are difficult, painful, or otherwise not viable. DMT410°s combination
freatment regimen uses one application of our unique Spongifle powder followed by one topical application of botulinum
toxin. The Spongifla powder is mixed with a fluidizing agent and is massaged into 2 patient’s treatment area by the treating
physician to enhance spicule penetration to create microchannels into the dermis. Afier 10 to 15 minuies, the physician
removes the Spongilla mask with water. The physician then expresses botulinum toxin from a syringe in precise amounts and
onto the patient’s skin. The botulinum toxin is then massaged into the treatment area to 1ake advantage of the microchannels
ereated by Spongifla s spicules, which allows the botulinum toxin to penetrate the stratum corneumn and enter the dermis. We
believe this treatment application will enable the topical delivery of botulinum toxin into the dermis for the treatment of a
variety of medical discases, including for the treatment of hyperhidrosis, acne, and acne scars, as well as improving the skin's
luminosity, brightness, and reducing pore size and count. fine lines, and sebum production. We believe DMT410"s topical
delivery of botulinum toxin can greatly increase market opportunities for botulinum toxin due DMT410%s needle-free
application, targeted intradermal delivery, thus potentially expanding the acsthetic market for botulinum toxin,




To date, we have completed an open-label Phase 1b POC clinical trial of DMT410 for the treatment of axillary hyperhidrosis
and an open-label Phase [b POC clinical trial in multiple aesthetic skin conditions. The Phase 1b POC trial for axillary
hyperhidrosis consisted of 10 patients receiving one treatment of DMT410 1o each axilla. Four weeks after one treatment
with DMT410, patients exhibited a reduction in sweat production. The clinical endpoints for this trial included (i} percent of
patients with greater than 50% reduction in gravimetrically measured sweat production from baseline, (ii) percent of patients
with gravimetric sweat production less than 50mg, and (iii) percent change in gravimetric sweat production. Four weeks after
one treatment with DMT410, 80%6 of patients experienced a decrease in gravimetric sweat production greater than 50, 85%
of patients recorded gravimetric sweat production of less than 50mg. and patients had an average decrease in gravimetric
sweal production of 753% from baseline, We believe these results support that DMT410 may aid in the topical delivery of
botulinum toxin into the dermis for a treatment effect similar to multiple intradermal injections of botulinuwm wxin. With
DMTA10, we believe botulinum toxin may be applied topically 1o penetrate the skin into the dermis without the need for

multiple injections.

We also completed an open-label, ten (10) patient, Phase b POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of multiple aesthetic skin
conditions (pore size, Global Aesthetic Improvement, brightness. luminosity, sebum production, fine lines under the eve,
glabellar lines, forehead lines, and lateral canthal lines). In our Phase 1h POC trial of DMT410, patients received one
treatment of DMT410 and were evaluated every four weeks for a total duration of 16 weeks to determing DMT410°s safery
and tolerability profile, effectiveness, and its duration of treatment ¢ffect. We announced top-line results in November 2021,
where we observed an improvement in many of the trial’s endpoints. At week 8, 80% of patients had a1 least a 25%
improvement in their Global Aesthetic and 60% of patients had a 25% improvement in pore size, Also al week 8, 90% of
patients had at least a one-point improvement in luminosity and 60% of patients had at least a one-point improvement in
brighiness. These physicians graded results were supported by objective analysis provided by Canfield Scientific’s VISIA
and PRIMOS viseal analvsis camera systems. Based on these resulis, we are actively seeking to pariner with a botulinum
toxin to continue development of DMT410 in 2 larger placebo-controlled Phase 2 trial where we can study multiple doses of
botulinum toxin applied 1o the entire face. We believe these results, combined with our results in hyperhidrosiz, clearly
demonstrate how DMT410°s combination regimen could greatly expand the potential indications for botulinum toxins for
aesthetic skin conditions, as well as other dermatologic skin diseases such as hyperhidrosis, acne, or acne scars.

There can be no assurance that DMT410 will receive FDA approval for any of the foregoing indications.
Our Strategy

We plan on in-licensing, developing and commercializing differentiaied medical and aesthetic dermatology product
candidates for the treatment of various skin discases and conditions, which we believe have significant unmet needs in the
market. The key components of this strategy are as follows:

. Complete development and regulatory approval of DMTI10 for acie. We completed a Phase 2b clinical trial
of DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne. We plan to hold an End of Phase 2 meeting with
the FDDA in the first half of 2023 and initiate a Phase 3 program for DMT3 10 in the second half of
2023. Assuming positive results from these two Phase 3 rials, we plan on submitting a New Drug
Application approximately 6 months after completion of the trials,

. Explore mutually beneficial partnership opportunities for eur DMT410 program in hyperhidrosis and
aestheric skin condirions. In November 2021, we announced top-line resulis of our Phase 1b POC trial of
DMT410 for the treatment of multiple aesthetic skin conditions using our Spangilla technology for the opical
application of OnabotulinumtoxinA (brand name BOTOX®). We believe this trial provides further evidence
of the ability for DMT410 to topically deliver botulinum toxin into the dermis for skin conditions and
diseases. Based on the results of DMT410 in hyperhidrosis and aesthetics, we are currently exploring
partnership opportunitics to further develop DMTA10 for the topical treatment of skin diseases and aesthetic
skin conditions,

. Complete a Phase 2 trial of DMT310 for the reatment of psoriasis. In October 2021, we announced top-line
resulls of our Phase 1b POC trial in patients with mild-to-moderate psoriasis. We believe the results of this
POC study warrant further development of DMT310 for the treatment of psoriasis. 1T successfully developed
and commercialized, we believe DMT3 10 would be the first once weekly topical product available to treat
psoriasis, The DMT3 10 program for psoriasis is currently on hold with further advancement subject to
obtaining additional financing and/or a strategic partner,

. Acquire or in-license additional dermatology programs fe our portfolio that complement our curvent prodict
candidates. We comtinuously evaluate potemtial partnering opportunitics that will bolster our current product
candidate portfolio and provide substantial value 1o our organization. We intend to focus on carly to mid-
stage developmen product candidates to generate clinical data and potentially move to later stages of
development and ultimately on 1o commercialization,




. Maximize the value of our porifolio by commercializing owr product candidates in tervitories where we can
do so effectively and pariner for other Jerritories o help us reach new markets. 11 we receive FDA approval
for our product candidates, we plan to maximize the temritorics where our product candidates could be sold by
partnering with established companies in new termtories outside of the ULS. market, if possible.

. Further strengthen our intellectual praperty portfolio, path to new chemical entity, or NCE, exclusivity, raw
material supply and edvance our regulatory filings. We plan to continue to strengthen our IP portfolio, seek
NCE exclusivity for DMT310, maintain our exclusive supply agreement for our raw material requirements,
and continue to protect our proprietary information. We believe these activities will be our primary
competitive advantages if our product candidates receive regulatory approval.

The dates reflected in the foregoing are estimates only, and there can be no assurances that the events included will be
completed on the anticipated timeline presented, or at all. Further, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in the
development of DMT3 10 or DMT410, or any other product candidate we may develop in the future, or that DMT3 10 or
DMT410, or any other product candidate we may develop in the future, will receive FDIA approval for any indication.

Dermatology Market Overview

We are currently focused on the medical and aesthetics dermatology markets, which include multiple common and
undertreated skin diseases and conditions such as acne, psoriasis, hyperhidrosis, and multiple acsthetic conditions, some with
no currently approved products, including the reduction of fine lines, pore size, sebum production and improvement in
luminosity and overall skin quality. We believe these diseases and conditions cause significant negative impacts on patients”
quality of life, including physical and emotional trauma and social stigmatisim, causing patients to constantly seek better
treatment options to help alleviate their conditions. We also believe these markets have not experienced the same level of
development and advances as other markets, as there have been few innovative topical products recently approved other than
reformulations or combinations of existing compounds. We believe our product candidates will be well situated within the
market and offer the innovative solutions to the underserved medical and aesthetic dermatology markets.

The ULS. medical dermatology market has expericnced significant growth in recent years based on the new treatment options
and greater patient access to care. Based on current market data, the U5, medical dermatology market (excluding biologics)
was valued at over S16 hillion dollars in prescription pharmaceutical sales in 2020,

The American Society of Plastic Surgeons estimates that over 15.4 million cosmetic procedures were performed in the U5,
in 2016, of which abowt 7 million used botulinum toxin. There are many factors that continue to drive growth in the
acsthetics dermatology market such as greater patient acceptance. including from an increase in younger patients, and the
discretionary cash that patients are willing to spend on aesthetic care. We also believe patients have a growing willingness to
pay out-of-pocket for effective skin treatments to achieve their desired personal aesthetic look, which further supports the
demand and pricing in those markets.

Based on the foregoing, we believe the dermatology market, both aesthetic and medical, offer a low-cost commercialization
opportinity compared to many other prescription-based specialty markets, due to the relatively small number of specialists in
the dermatology field. According to the American Academy of Dermatology, in 2020 there were approximately 18,000
dermatologists in the U.S., and we plan to target a subset of these dermatologists. who are larger prescribers of competitive
products and who treat a large percentage of patients with eur approved indications. We believe the combination of
prescription based and cash-pay based product lines is an attractive business opportunity, as it incorporates multiple aspects.
of the dermatology market that move independent of the greater healtheare market.

Background of Our Spongilla Technuology
Spongilla Lacustris Overview

Spongilla lacusiris, or Spongilla, 1s a freshwater sponge from the Spongillidea family that grows in freshwater nivers and
lakes in commercial quantities in select regions of the world. It becomes dormant during the winter months and regrows each
year to growth forms ranging from encrusting, to digitate, to branched, depending on its habitat’s growth conditions. While it
grows in many parts of the northern hemisphere, there are only certain locations where it grows in the quantities and of the
quality to viably support a commercial pharmaceutical product. One such location is the Volga River in central Russia, where
we have signed an exclusive supply agreement with one of the larger known suppliers of Spongilla raw material for
DMT310, which guarantees our supply of Spongilla raw material. Traditionally, locals would harvest small amounts of
Spongifla for its perceived medicinal properties and use it as a folk medicine to treat a variety of inflammatory conditions,
including arthritis, Over the last 20 yvears, our exclusive supplier has refined its harvesting methods and procedures and 15
now capable of supplying a high-quality raw matenial, Our supplier has the capacity to collect and process large quantities of
Spongilla per year. We believe our supplier will be able to supply a raw malerial in the quaniities and of the quality necessary
to support our clinical and commercial necds.




The traditional use of Spongilla in Russia has provided a large amount of safety data, In 2003, the Russian Ministry of Health
indicated that Spongilla has been used by over one million people per year, with few reported safety issues. In 2017, we
submited this safety information, along with various other publications and non-clinical studics, in an Investigational New
Drug. or IND, application te the FDA's Division of Dermatology and Dental Products with reference to the FDA's Botanical
Drug Development Guidance for Industry, or Botanical Guidance. This submission enabled the FDA 1o approve our IND for
DMT310, allowing us to proceed directly into a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients due in part to historical human exposure.
While we are still required 1o complete a majority of required non-clinical and pharmacokinetic studies, we were able o
strategically conserve resources while gathering human clinical efficacy and safety data prior to beginning such work.

Spongifla s Muliiple Mechanism of Actions

The unique properties of Spongilla lacastris not only allows us 1o reference the FDA's Botanical Guidance, but also helps
ensure the sustainable regrowth of sufficient supply of raw material each vear, While Spongiffa is technically a part of the
animal kingdom, it grows and acts more similarly to a plant in that it can completely regenerate every year, even in harsh
environmental conditions. In addition 1o causing a regrowth of the sponge each vear, the harsh environmental conditions the
sponge lives in helps contribute to our Spongilia technologies’ multiple mechanisms of actions, Based on knowledge gained
from over almost 20 years of harvesting Spongilla, our supplier has leamed the necessary environmental conditions and
Spongifla characteristics that must be present for optimal raw material harvest and to ensure the raw material contains the
necessary propertics for an effective pharmaceutical product. These properties include both mechanical and chemical
components that are a naturally occurring part of the sponge raw material and contribute 1o our Spongilla lechnology’s
mechanisms of action in the treatment of skin discases and conditions.

The mechanical components of DMT310 come from the Spongifia’s skeletal structure, which is made up of siliceous spicules
that are bound together by organic material, as seen in Image 2 below. These spicules are smooth, rod-like shapes which
come Lo a point on cach end. and if the Spongiila is harvested under certain proprietary environmental conditions. the
spicules can average between 150-300 micrometers in length and about 10-15 micrometers in diameter. While there are other
tvpes of freshwater and marine sponges, many of their spicules can be covered in barbs or hooks which we believe would get
stuck in the skin or contain spicules that are blunt on each end, making skin penetration difficult,

Image 2: Siliceous Spicules Present in Spongilla

Afiter harvesting and further processing in the U5, the form and size of our spicules make them the ideal mechanism o
penetrate the stratum comeum, the skins barrier, and temporarily create a micro-channel into the dermis without penetrating
into subcutanecus tissue, where the larger blood vessels are located. These newly created microchannels tempaorarily open the
skin's barrier to allow for the targeted delivery of large and small chemical compounds into the dermis. Most topically
applied products currently contain various penetration enhancers that help force the active molecule through the stratum
comeum and into the dermis. such as Dimethy| Sulfoxide (DMSO0). However, these penetration enhancers arc only able 10
help smaller molecules penetrate and are usually unable to aid larger molecules, such as botulinum toxin, in topical delivery.
These penetration enhancers can also cause unwanted side effects such as dry skin or garlic like taste, breath, and body odor.
Wi believe our Spengilla technology is differentiated by enabling the delivery of both small and large molecules through
topical application with less irritation and side effects than other topically applied products.

In addition to creating many microchannels in the skin, we believe the penetration of the spicules can open closed
comedones, allowing oxygen into the anacrobic environment of the clogged pilosebaccous glands, where Cacnes and other
bacteria survive. Lastly, we believe the spicules promote collagen production within the skin which accelerates the skin's
rejuvenation period, thus bringing refreshed skin 1o the surface at a quicker rate than the skins normal temover cycle,
Typically, the skin takes between three 1o four weeks to bring a new layer to the surface, while we believe our Spongilla
technology may allow this process to complete in less than one week, We believe this decreases the time to treat
inflammatory skin diseases and conditions while also enhancing the look of a patient’s skin.




Our Spongilla technology also contains multiple active chemical compounds that we believe may aid in our product
candidates” treatment of multiple dermatology skin diseases and conditions. We believe pant of Spengiffa s natural defense
mechanism is the creation of organic material to fight off natural enemies present in the water in which it grows. This organic
material binds its spicules together to form the skeletal structure of the sponge. Based on multiple in-vitro studies, we believe
the organic compounds within the spenge, when separated from the spicules, have both anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial
praperties. We have observed anti-inflammatory activity including reduction of C. acnes, stimulated 1L-8 production, and the
downregulation of the production of IL-17A and IL=17F in human cell lines. Additionally, in our in-vitro studies, we
observed the inhibition of lipogenesis of scbocytes, which may translate to a reduction in sebum production and oiliness of
the skin in patients.

While we believe each of the mechanical or chemical components of our Spongilla technology may be beneficial in treating
various diseases, we believe the impact of each mechanism may be greatly enhanced when combined with the other. The
large number spicules contained in each treatment create many microchannels through the stratum comeum, allowing for
suffficient penctration and delivery of the chemical components into the treatment arca to fight inflammation and bacteria.

FDA Botanical Drug Development Guidance for Industry

Maost currently approved topical dermatology products are reviewed solely by the FDAs Office of Dermatology and Dental
Products and follow a standard approval pathway. However, due to our lead product candidate, DMT3 10, being derived from
a natural source, it will be reviewed by the FDA Office of Dermatology and Dental Products with input from the FDJA
Botanical Review Division. While Spongilla is not a botanical, the FDA has allowed us to reference the Botanical Guidance
for raw material quality control and batch to batch consistency through development and into commercialization. We believe
our ability to reference the Botanical Guidance and receive input from the Botanical Review Division on DMT310 provides
us with key advantages in DMT310%s regulatory pathway 1o approval, if achieved. These advantages include being able to
move into human clinical studies upon the FDAs acknowledged receipt of our IND letter and subsequent study may proceed,
saving us substantial financial resources to achieve human clinical data. Additionally, while we believe that our sponge
contains multiple active chemical compounds. based on our regulatory analvsis of the feedback from the FDA and the
Botanical Guidance, we believe we are only required to provide identifiable and quantifiable active components to show
quality control and batch 1o batch consistency, We believe this will make it more difficult for potential competitors to
replicate DMT3 10 due to their mability to know every component of our product candidaie and to show their product is
similar in its composition. Thus. we believe a competitor with a similar product or product candidate would have to follow all
the manufacturing, development, and regulatory steps we must complete for approval. However, there can be no assurance
that we successfully navigate the development of DMT310 or that DMT310 will receive FDA approval.

Our Product Candidates
DMT310

Our lead product candidate, DMTI10, is a unique, once weekly, naturally derived topical product, first being developed for
the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne vulgaris, or acne, [t is derived from freshwater Spongilla lacustris, or Spongilla,
which grows under certain environmental conditions in select locations throughout the northem hemisphere, Our Spongilia
raw material is harvested by our exclusive partner in Russia abiding by strict protocols based on our suppliers 20 vears of
experience and our expertise in an ideal pharmaceutical product. The result of these strict protocols 15 a consistent chemical
structure that is reproducible year after year. which is critical in producing a material able to be used in a pharmaccutical
product. After harvesting, the Spongifla is shipped to our manufacturing facility in the LS. for further processing into a
uniform powder before being packaged imto sachets. Immediately prior to treatment the patient will mix the powder with a
diluent (hydrogen peroxide) to form a paste, which the patient can then apply to the treatment area to treat the multiple facets
of their disease. DMT310 utilizes the Spengilla s mechanical spicules to help resurface a patient’s skin while also creating
microchannels through the stratum cormeum to allow the penetration of the Spongiflfa s naturally created organic compounds
to help treat various skin diseases. We believe these organic compounds can travel through the newly created microchannels
into the dermis and sebaceous glands where both inflammatory and non-inflammatory acne lesions originate. DMT310
targets treatment of the multiple facets of acne by combining the substantial mechanical and chemical activity of Spongilla
into an easy to apply product that only needs to be applied once weekly. ITapproved by the FDA, we believe the combination
of the mechanical and chemical properties of DMT310 has the potential for a more rapid time to treatment effect with fewer
treatments, less side effects and better tolerability than other currently marketed topical acne products.




DMT3 10 for Treatment of Acne Fulgaris

Market Cpportunity, Acne is characterized by arcas of scaly red skin, non-inflammatory blackheads and whitcheads,
inflammatory lesions, papules, and pustules and occasionally cysts and scarring that occur on the face, neck, chest, back,
shoulders, and upper arms. It affects approximately 50 million people in the U.S., with about 85% of teenagers experiencing
some form of acne. The U.S. prescription acne market had approximately $2.6 billion in prescription pharmaceutical sales in
2016 and is expected to reach approximately $3.8 billion in 2026 according 1o GlobalData Inc. market data.

Most patients experience some form of acne during their teenage vears and for some, their acne may diminizsh over time, or a1
least tends to decrease by age 235, There is, however, no way to predict how long it will take for acne to disappear entirely,
with some individuals suffering from acne well into their 30s, 40s and beyvond. While not life-threatening, acne causes
significant trauma for those suffering from it due to social stigmas, substantial risk of permanent facial scarring, lowered self-
esteem and social withdrawal. Therefore, we believe early and aggressive treatment with an effective onee weekly product
may lessen the overall long-term impact of this disease and may lead to an increase in a patient’s quality of life.

Duie to acne’s negative impact on a patient’s quality of life and negative impact on facial aesthetic, patients suffering from
acne tend to be highly motivated to treat their acne and we believe willing to pay more out-of-pocket for higher priced and
highly effective treatments. It is our belief that patients secking an casy to use and effective topical praduct will tolerate less
favorable reimbursement rates than for other prescription products for other indications, allowing for favorable pricing if we
are able to eventually obtain approval for and successfully commercialize DMT310 for acne. Furthermore, il approved, we
believe that DMT310°s natural characteristics may allow us to expand our addressable acne market to include those patients
who value using naturally derived products, such as DMT310,

The acne market can be broken into three separate classes based on the severity of the acne:

. Mild Acne: characterized by few papules or pustules; typically treated with over-the-counter products or
lopical prescription therapies.

. Moderate Aene: characterized by multiple papules and pustules with moderate inflammation; typically treated
with a combination of oral and topical prescription therapies.

. Severe Acne: characterized by substantial papules and pustules, with many nodules and/or cysts and
significant inflammation; currently treated with oral and topical combination treatments and photodynamic
therapy as a third-line treatment option,

Limitations of Current Stamdard of Care. While current treatment options may be effective for some patients, there are many
limitations and drawbacks of current acne products which cause poor patient compliance. All currently approved topical
therapies for the treatment of acne must be applied once or twice a day to allow an accumulation of the active ingredient
within the skin to effectively treat the disease. This requirement 1o apply multiple times per day becomes very onerous and
time consuming for patients, causing many patients to fail to comply with the strict application regimen and/or skip multiple
treatments, Proper use and application schedules are particularly important for topical acne products and poor patient
adherence may lead to reduced treatment effect and ultimately discontinuation of treatment by the patient due to the lack of
effect.

Many current acne products, such as retinoids that must be applied at least once-a-day, may cause significant stinging.
buming, and pecling after each application. These wlerability issues, which may stan occurring afier the first application, and
the substantial discom fort they cause, lead many patients 1o discontinue the necessary daily application schedule or the use of
the product altogether. It is well known that benzoyl peroxide, or BPO, leads to drying of the skin and that retinoids result in
many local skin reactions incleding erythema, burning, and peeling, after the first treatment. It has been observed in the
combination study of adapalene/BPO, where maore than 2076 of the subjects reported moderate or severe ervthema and
stinging/burming,

Lastly, most topical products have an unavoidable latency period of 6-8 weeks until patients have a definite improvement in
their acne lesions. This means they may have to endure 30 to 60 applications before observing that their acne is improving
(assuming a daily, or twice daily regimen), all while dealing with the buming, stinging. and peeling that may accompany
these topical products, We believe that teenagers, who make up the largest segment of the aene market, become impatient
with the lack of rapid perceived effect leading to premature discontinuation of reatment. The lack of rapid treatment effect,
side effects, and onerous application schedules all greatly contribute to patient compliance issues and could ultimately lead to
treatment failure for current topical therapies. We believe patients are more concerned with rapid efficacy outcomes and low
side effects than costs, thus we believe patients will be more willing to pay higher out of pocket costs for a product that has
these attributes.




Our Solution for Moderate-to-Severe Acne. 1T approved, we believe DMT310%s once weekly application regimen will
increase patient compliance, potentially increasing the likelihood of improved acne resulis, Using our muliifaceted, once
weekly Spongilla treatment technology, we are developing DMT310 to create a paradigm shift in how acne is treated by
dermatologists by attempting to make DMT310 the preferred treatment option for all acne patients. We have designed
DMT310 to reat the multiple faciors of acne while also atlempting to increase patient compliance.

IT approved. we believe DMT310 has the potential to remedy many of the negative characteristics associated with current
topical therapics for moderate-to-severe acne vulgaris, including cumbersome treatment regimens, negative side effeets
{including buming, stinging. itching or dryness, which may oceur as early as the first treatment and continue daily thereafier),
and delayed time to effectiveness (which may take up to cight weeks). DMT3 10 is designed to be applied only once a week,
rather than once or twice a day. We believe a once weekly schedule may be conducive to high patient compliance as it is less
onerous for the patient, In addition, in our Phase 2b acne trial, on average, patients experienced an approximately 45%
reduction in mflammatory acne lesions afler just four treatments, with continued improvement of up to 62% reduction of
inflammatory lesions at 12 weeks. Further, approximately 90% of paticnts had no. or mild, rolerability issucs at the end of the
12-week trial and no patients experienced any severe tolerability issues.

In addition, in our Phase 2b trial we observed that DMT3 10 staried showing a statistically significant difference from placebo
for all three endpaoints after just four treatments while also having a rapid reduction on inflammatory and non-inflammatory
lesions. We believe this rapid visible response encouraged patients to continue to comply with the once weekly application
schedule leading o a continued reduction in their lesions until the end of trial at week 12. Thus, we believe that a topical
product that only needs to be applied once weekly with a quicker time to perceived treatment effect and fewer tolerability
issues has the opportumity to exhibit greater treatment success due to improved patient compliance leading to loval and repeat
users,

DMT310 for the Treatment of Mild-to-Moderate Proriasis

We believe that DMT310 could also be an effective treatment for mild-to-moderate psoriasis based on the clinical data
received from our recently completed Phase 1b POC tnal and the in-vitro effect DMT310 has shown on the down regulation
of IL=17A and IL-17F. as well as its ease of application 1o mild-to-moderate psoriatic lesions with smaller surface areas,

Psoriasis is characterized by “plagues,” or raised red areas of skin covered with a silver or white layer of dead skin cells
referred to as “seales.” Psoriatic plagues can appear on any area of the body, but most often appear on the scalp, knees,
elbows, trunk, and limbs, and the plaques are often itchy and sometimes painful. The psoriasis lesions are characterized by
hyperproliferation of keratinocytes and a lymphocyte-rich infiltrate consisting primarily of T eells. In the dermis and
epidermis, T lymphocytes interact with antigen-presenting cells and secrete Thl and Th17 eywokines. These activated T cells
and the inflammatory eytokines they secrete are believed to induce the skin lesions seen in psoriasis. In addition to the broad
anti=inflammatory properties, we have observed in our clinical acne studies, DMT310Vs ability exhibited in=vitro a dose
dependent inhibition of both TL-17A and IL-17F, key cytokines implicated in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. Thus, DMT310
may provide a method to topically deliver targeted anti-inflammatory therapy directly to psoriatic lesions with good local
tolerability in an ecasy to apply regimen.

Marker Opportunity. Currently patients with mild-to-moderate disease are either underdiagnosed. underreated or untreated.
This leaves patients seeking new and effective treatment options. Psoriasis is a chronic, mflammatory skin disorder estimated
to affect up to 3.2% of the world’s population with global sales of $14.2 billion in 2020, which is projected to increase 1o
£27.5 billion by 2030, Plaque-type psoriasis is the most common form of psoriasis, occurring in more than 80-90% of cases
of psoriasis with approximately 80% of patients experiencing the mild discase form and 20% experiencing moderate-to-
severe form of the disease. In addition to the disfigurement caused by psoriatic lesions, patienis also may experience pruriius,
or itching, which can be particularly common and bothersome for patients. Not only does psoriasis cause direct clinical
challenges. bul patients also suffer a negative impact on their quality of life. Patients can sufler substantial psychological
impacts from their disease, including, social stigmas, feelings of rejections and shame, discrimination in the workplace, and
reduced productivity, among many others. These patients are commonly looking for a safe and effective product to treat their
disease.




Limitations of Current Standard of Care. Most of the available therapies target moderate-to-severe disease, meaning that
mild patients are undertreated with one in five not being happy with their current treatments. The treatments for mild
psoriasis patients are mostly generie, but are often inadequate to control a patient’s disease. Mild psoriasis patients are first
treated with topical therapies due to the reduced svstemic exposure. However, patients often feel that topical treatments are
one of the negative aspects of psoriasis, which we believe is partly due to the limited options available like, coal tar,
retinoids, calcineurin inhibitors and conicosteroids. While topical steroids are a very common treatment, drawbacks include
being able to be used only for a short period of time and are associated with Hypothalamic pituitary adrena axis suppression,
skin atrophy (thinning), striae (stretch marks), and telangiectasia (spider veins), among other side effects. Furthermore, some
of these side effects are irmeversible, persisting even after therapy is discontinued. Consequently, high-potency topical
steroids are not recommended for chronic use and physicians generally will not prescribe them for treatment on the face,
Also, rebound is a known challenge with steroids, where after steroid discontinuation, the psoriasis retuns even worse than it
was before steroid treatment was initiated.

While biologic therapies, including drugs such as Enbrel, Cosentyx, Humira, and Stelara, are available for treatment of
psoriasis, their use remains highly restricted 1o patients with moderate-to-severe disease, In the LS., with less than 2086 of
patients having moderate-to-severe psoriasis, we believe a vast majority of the psoriasis market are left without long-term
effective treatment options. While additional data has caused an uptake of biologics. they remain limited due 1o multiple
factors, including being indicated only for use in moderate-to-severe patients, high cosis, consequent reimbursemeni and
access restrictions, frequent high patient co-pays. perceived risk of side effects, and patient fear of injection. Additionally, we
believe there is room for topical products that treat mild psoriasis to be priced al a premium compared to other topical
products for other inflammatory skin diseases like acne. This is based on fact that when comparing the cast of biologic
therapy, which can cost $50.000 per year, an effective and safe topical product for mild psormsis could have a large impact
on the market. Therefore, we believe physicians would be more likely to prescribe a topical product for psoniasis long before
biologic treatment, and patients experiencing milder psoriasis would prefer using a topical product over a systemic treatment.

Non-biologic systemic therapy options for psoriasis exist, but their use is also limited due 1w unfavorable side effects,
Apremilast (Otezla), an oral PDE4 inhibitor, gencrated more than $1 billion in sales in all indications in 2019, but has only
achicved a small patient share in psoriasis due to limitations on its use to moderate-to-severe patients, its modest
symptomatic improvement, and frequent adverse events, We believe there is still a great need to bring to market a product
that addresses mild-to-moderate psoriasis,

Duie to the shoricomings of existing topical therapies and the lack of options providing robust symptomatic improvement
with chronic treatment, especially in the last 25 vears, we believe there remains a need for a safe, effective, and casily
applicable topical treatment for chronic disease, that has a low risk of side effects, is well tolerated, and can be easily applied
on all anatomical areas.

Chr sofution for Mild-to-Moderate Psoriasis, Similar 1o the needs of patients with acne, we believe patients suffering with
psoriasis might comply better with a treatment that is easy to apply and requires less application time than cumrent treatment
options, DMT310, if approved, could be used as a first line therapy for paticnts with mild-to-moderate psoriasis. We believe
the spicules within DMT3 10 will help break up the psoriatic lesions, while the anti-inflammatory components of DMT310
assist with the healing of the lesions. Due to the historical use of Spongilla and the human safety data collected to date in our
clinical studies, we believe DMT310 may be suitable for long term treatment of chronic psoriasis due (o ils unigue treatment
effect and acceptable safety and tolerability profile,

In addition to the mechanical effects of DMT310, extracts of the organic material have shown in-vitro to have a dose
dependent inhibition of IL-17A and IL-17F secretion. In the dermis and epidermis, T lvmphocytes interact with antigen-
presenting cells and secrete Thi and Thi7 cyvtokines, including interferon-gamma (1FN-g). imerleukin (11.)-2, 11.-17, 11.-22,
and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-u). These activated T cells and the inflammatory cytokines they secrete are believed to
induce the skin lesions seen in psoriasis and be a fundamental contributor in the disease’s immune pathway. We know that
there are multiple approved IL=17A inhibitors on the market, such as secukinumab (Cosentyx®, Novartis) and ixckizumab
(Tahz®, Eli Lilly and Co.), but these are both biologics and only indicated for patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis who
are candidates for systemic therapy. The limited patient population who are candidates for these biologic treatments is a small
percentage of the overall psoriasis market. Therefore, a topical product that can inhibit the 1L-17 pathway in the skin with
minimal systemic exposure would be an ideal option for both physicians and patients.




Based on clinical and non-clinical data generated to date for DMT310, and anecdotal evidence of DMT310°s effect on
psoriatic lesions, we completed a Phase 1b, open label, POC study in mild-to-moderale psoriasis patients in October 2021,
This trial included once weekly treatments of DMT310 for 12 wiecks in 30 mild-to-moderate psoriasis patients with lesions
covering 2% to 30% of their body surface area. The primary endpoints in this trial were the Physician's Global Assessment,
which is a 6-point scale measuring the physician’s assessment of psoriasis severity of the target lesion site, the Psoriasis Arca
Severity Index scale is also a 6-paint scale measuring the psoriatic disease severity laking into account qualitative lesion
charactenistics (ervthema, thickness, and scaling) and degree of surface area involvement and the Pruritus Visual Analog
Scale consists of the patient’s measurement of pruritus, or itch, in addition to normal tolerability and safety assessments. We
announced top-line results in October 2021, and based on the efficacy, safety and tolerability profile seen in the POC trial we
initiated additional work to better inform the clinical wial design prior to moving info a larger Phase 2, placebo-controlled.
clinical trial.

DMT310 for the Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe Rosacea

On December 5, 2022, we announced 1opline results from our Phase 2 rial of once-weekly 1opical application of DMT310
for the treatment of moderate-to-severe rosacea. The data was supportive of DMT3 10 as a treatment for inflammatory skin
diseases, but the rosacea study did not meet its primary endpoints. While some patients did achieve a meaningful change in
their rosacea, with 36% of DMT3 10 patients meeting the criteria for a responder on the Investigator Global Assessment
(1GA} score, DMT310 was not able to statistically separate from placebo with 23% of placebo patients meeting the criteria as
a responder at Week 12, A treatment responder is defined as an 1GA grade of *clear” or “almost clear” and at least a 2-grade
improvement from bascline. We believe that the 23% dropout rate in the DMT3 10 group may have contributed to the
outcome of this study. After further assessment of the data, we believe DMT3 10 may not be tolerable for rosacea patients,
who tend 1o have more sensitive skin.

Based on the foregoing. we have decided not to devote any further financial resources to development of this indication lor
DMT3 10, and we have determined not to pursue further development efforts regarding this indication for DM310, We will
continue to focus our resources on our DMT3 10 program for acne based on the statistically significant results seen in our
Phase 2b study.

DMT400 for the Tapical Delivery of Macromolecules

DMTA00 is our combination treatment regimen that utilizes the unique mechanical features of our Spongille technology o
facilitate the intradermal delivery of macromolecules, such as botulinum toxin, monoclonal antibodies, dermal fillers, or
vaceines, by topical application rather than with injeetions. These macromaeleeules are highly effective and approved for the
treatment of multiple medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases, but currently are not approved in a topical form
because the molecular structures are loo large to penetrate the stratum corneum, the skin’s outermost defense barrier. Thus,
all current macromolecule treatment options for skin conditions and diseases must be injected, sometimes requiring numerous
injections, We believe that DMT400's topical application regimen may provide patients with a topical treatment option for
both medical and aesthetic dermatology conditions using products previously unavailable to them in a topical treatment.

DMT400 works by first topically applying our proprietary sponge powder to the treatment area wherein the mechanical
spicules of the sponge penctrate the skin, thereby creating microchannels into the dermis. Unlike a derma roller or other
microneedle technology, our unique spicules remain in the skin for one to two days allowing the microchannel to remain
open rather than close up, as they would after using a derma roller. With the microchannel open for a longer period a
macromolecule can be applied topically to the skin and is thus able to penctrate into the dermis. We belicve this topical
application of a macromolecule can be massaged into the newly created microchannels thereby facilitating the delivery of the
macromolecule, through the microchannel and into the dermis, without the need for injections, This targeted delivery to the
dermis rather than delivery to the systemic circulation, may decrease the systemic spread of these macromolecules thus
potentially reducing side efTecis seen with injections, while increasing targeted application (o where the disease resides.

DMTHI0 for the Treatment of Primary Axillary Hyperhidrosis

We initially tested our DMT400 treatment with our DMT410 program, which consists of a topical application of our
proprictary sponge powder followed by a topical application of botulinum toxin, a macromolecule. DMT410 was initially
tested in a Phase 1b POC trial of ten (10) patients with primary axillary hyperhidrosis to determine if our sponge powder
could successfully facilitate the intradermal delivery of botulinum toxin and potentially other macromolecules. Based on the
results scen from this study we believe we were successful in delivering active botulinum toxin to the dermis for the
treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis and potentially other skin conditions.




Market Opporfunity, Hyperhidrosis is a life-altering dizorder of excessive sweating out of proportion with thermoregulatory
requirements. While many patients may exhibit this excessive sweating in response (o specific triggers, such as emotional
siress, others may exhibit symptoms spontancously. Typically, the diagnesis of hyperhidrosis is based partly on subjective
measures that measure how the excessive sweating affects a patient’s quality of life. Physicians also gravimetrically measure
the amount of sweat produced, though there is no standardized threshold which defines hyperhidrosis. It is believed to affect
an estimated 15 million people in the 1.5, alone. The U.S. prescription hyperhidrosis market had approximately $66 million
in prescription pharmaceutical sales in 2020, and is expected 1o reach approximately $282 million in 2030, with almost 404
from injections of BOTOX, according to GlobalData Inc. market data. According to a 2016 update on the prevalence and
severity of hyperhidrosis in the ULS., axillary (underarm) hyperhidrasis, is the most common form of the disorder. However,
patients are affected by other forms like palmar (hands) and plantar (feet) hyperhidrosis, which we believe DMT410 may be
able to treat and avoid the side effects scen in studics of poor administration of intradermal injections.

Limirations of Current Standords of Care, While the prevalence of hyperhidrosis is significant, treatment options are limited,
and many come with unwanted side effects making patient acceptance low, Typical first line therapy is usually with
aluminum chloride-based antiperspirants, but many have potential drawbacks, First, daily applications can be time
consuming leading 1o poor compliance among patients. Second. many antiperspirants are irritating to the skin leading 10
treatment discontinuation. Lastly, topical aluminum chloride treatment has a transient duration of effect and requires frequent
reapplication to mainiain sweal control. More recently, lopical anticholinergics have been investigated by companies such as
Fresh Tracks, Inc. and Journey Medical Corporation (formerly developed by Dermira. Inc.), but we believe they tend to have
the same side effects as systemic anticholinergics which are used off-label. These side effects include dry mouth, dry eyves.
blurred vision, headache, urinary retention, among others, The unwanted side effects are often so intolerable that up 1o one
third of patients are forced to withdraw from treatment. If topical or systemic treatments fail, then patients can get intradermal
injections of botulinum toxin which has been shown to have a great treatment effect, but treatment is very technique driven,
requiring a trained physician 1o administer the toxin to the thin layer of the dermis. Many times, poor freatment response with
botulinum toxin is due o meorrect or insufficient dosing or incomect administration. Patients may also experience injection
site pain or discomfort, which may be accompanied by swelling and bruising. However, for the treatment of palmar
hyperhidrosis with intradermal injections of botulinum toxin, the most notable adverse event is transient hand weakness, if
administered incorrectly. As a last resort. patients may also seek surgery to treat their hyperhidrosis. if less invasive treatment
options fail. While there are treatment options available for hyperhidrosis patients, only about half of affected individuals
seek treatment due 10 social embarrassment associated with the diagnosis of the disease. We believe this leaves a wide gap in
the market for a product that combines the efficacy of botulinum toxin with the safety and tolerability profile of fopical
therapies. We believe DMT410, if successfully commercialized, could address this underserved markel opportunity,

Our Solution for Primary Axillary Hiperbidrosis. While primary axillary hyperhidrosis is idiopathic, the mechanism is
thought to be neurogenic overactivity of the ecerine (sweat) glands in the affected arca. Based on the summary basis for
approval of BOTOX, we know that botulinum toxin tvpe A has a clinical effect on hyperhidrosis, which acts by disrupting
sympathetic stimulation 1o the ecerine glands resulting in considerably reduced axillary sweating from four to 12 months.
Based on the packoge insert for BOTOX, intradermal injections of 50 units of BOTOX saw a greater than 50% decrease in
axillary sweat production in 81% and 4 1% of patients treated with BOTOX or placebo, respectively, at four weeks. While
intradermal injections of botulinum toxin appear to be very effective, the treatment requires multiple injections into each
axilla, which is time consuming for the treating physician and administration is very technigue sensitive due to the thin nature
of the dermis. Additionally, given the nature of the target tissue being more sensitive, and the number of injections required,
it is believed that injection site pain is a major cause for the lack of compliance. Thus, we believe a topical application
regimen, capable of penetrating the stratum comewm to deliver botulinum toxin into the dermis, may be able 1o exhibit
similar efficacy with greater compliance and adoption. In a Phase 1h POC study of DMT410 for the treatment of axillary
hyperhidrosis, we saw a greater than $0% decrease in axillary sweat production in 80% of patients at week four, This result
suppons our beliel that topical application of botulinum toxin via our Spongilla technology to the dermis could be a viable
alternative to intradermal injections, 17 approved, DMT410 could eliminate the need for intradermal injections of botulinum
toxin. Therefore, we believe DMT410 could potentially be a favorable treatment option for patients suffering with primary
axillary hyperhidrosis. Additionally, we also believe that DMT410 may be an effective treatment for palmar or plantar
hyperhidrosis due to DMT410%s delivery of botulinum toxin to the dermis without the risk of distance spread of taxin to the
muscle as with intradermal injections of botulinum texin, DMT410 could limit the side effects seen with intradermal
injections ncluding hand weakness and administration pain. There can be no assurance that DMT410 will receive FDA
approval for hyperhidrosis.




DMT4 0 for the Treatment of Aesthetic Conditions In addition to the use of DMT410 in the treatment of hyperhidrasis and
other medical dermatology conditions such as acne, based on the data from our recent Phase b POC trial of DMT410 for the
treatment of multiple acsthetic skin conditions such as pore size, sebum production, fine lines, luminosity, and brightness of
the skin, we believe DMT4 10 has an opportunity to be used for the treatment of multiple aesthetic skin conditions. Botulinum
toxin is known to treat a variety of aesthetic skin conditions, but to achieve these positive effects, the botulinum toxin needs
to be delivered to the dermis rather than the muscle to have the desired effect. DMT410°s uniquely sized spicules creme
microchannels through the stratum cormneum and into the dermis that are large enough for botulinum toxin to be delivered to
the dermis. However, the spicules are not long enotgh to reach the muscle layer, which limits the potential distant spread of
toxin and potential side effects. Botulinum toxin acts by blocking the release of acetylcholine into the synaptic cleft, where it
binds to a cholinergic receptor. thereby inhibiting sympathetic nerve function. This ability to inhibit cholinergic transmission
makes it useful to treat indications with glandular hypersecretion, like sebum production or hyperhidrosis, which are partly
caused by hyperactive sympathetic nerves, For aesthetic indications, since bowlinum toxin must be delivered 1o the dermis,
intradermal injections are typically required but can require numerous injections in order to cover the larger surface area (o
treat these aesthetic skin conditions as compared to targeted injections to the muscle. Intradermal injections can also be
difficult to effectively administer and may be painful for patients. This tends to lead to poor adoption of this therapy, which is
why we believe there are currently no approved aesthetic indications utilizing intradermal injections. Additionally, no topical
formulations of a botulinum toxin have been approved, likely duc to the size of the molecule and its difficulty in penetrating
the stratum comeum to reach the dermis. Therefore, with no currently approved intradermal injections or topical applications
methods of bowulinum toxin for aesthetic skin conditions, we believe there is a large market opponunity for a product that can
successfully deliver botulinum toxin by topical application into the dermis to improve a patient’s aesthetic appearance. I
approved, we believe DMT410 can address this market.

Limirations of Standards of Care While injections of botulinum toxin inte the museles have been approved for many vears
for aesthetic treatments such as the reduction of glabellar, lateral canthal or forchead lines, there are many other acsthetic skin
conditions, such as enlarged pore size. excess sebum production, fine lines, decreased luminosity, and decreased brightness
that botulinum toxin has been demonstrated 1o improve but a botulinum toxin product. whether via intradermal injections or
topical application, has yet to be approved for these indications. This may be because these aesthetic indications typically
require botulinum toxin to be delivered to the dermis rather than the muscle, which due to the thin nature of the dermis, can
be more difficult than injecting into the muscle. Additionally, the areas of the face requiring intradermal injections are much
more sensitive and thus can be more painful for patients. These intradermal aesthetic indications typically require a wider
dispersion of botulinum toxin to be delivered to the dermis rather than the few injections into the muscle needed for the
deeper facial lines, Some intradermal studies have required 25-30 intradermal injections in the face w deliver sufficient
quantities of botulinum toxin to the dermis. With some patients having a fear of needles. a treatment that can avoid the use off
needles would be desirable for this population. Additionally. topical application of botulinum toxin has been difficult due to
the size of the molecule making ot difficult for the botulinum toxin to penetrate the stratum comeum, resulting in many
topical applications being inefTective and discontinued. An example is Revance’s RTO01 product which did not achieve the
primary or other secondary endpoints in a Phase 3 trial for the treatment of crow’s feet and therefore, Revance does not plan
to continue development of this program at this time. Another botulinum toxin company, Allergan (now part of AbbVie),
purchased a company in 2016 to pursue development of a topical botulinum toxin program. However, Allergan has not
conducted any studies with this program. We believe most botulinum toxin companies remain interested in developing a
topical means of administering botulinum toxin that is less painful, easy to apply, provides wider coverage of toxin, and
limits potential distant spread of toxin, but no product has vet been successiully developed.

Cur Solution for the Treatment of Aesthetic Skin Conditions We believe a product candidate like DMT410, which may be
able to successfully deliver botulinum toxin to the dermis covering a larger facial area than injections, would provide a new
treatment aption for a varicty of acsthetic skin conditions, such as reduction in pore size, schum production, and fine lines,
and improvement in skin luminosity and brightness, thus potentially expanding the market for uses of botulinum toxin
beyond injections into the muscle for treatment of deep lines. We believe DMT410 may be able 1o provide patients with a
topical treatment option without the pain and discomfort tvpically associated with mjections of botulinum toxin.
Additionally, we belicve administration will be casier and less time consuming for dermatologist, making it an additional
value driven treatment option they can offer. While current botulinum toxins are approved for injections into the facial
muscles to treat deeper wrinkles such as glabellar lines, lateral canthal lines and forehead lines, there remain many other
aesthetic conditions of the face which could greatly benefit from an intradermal administration of botulinum toxin, especially
wia topical application. Certain aesthetic indications such as reduction in fine lines, pore size, and sehum production, and
improvement in luminosity and brighiness are typically not treated with injections info the muscles but need botulinum toxin
to be delivered to the dermis to have the proper effect. With DMT410°s uniquely sized spicules, we believe it can create
numerous microchannels into the dermis allowing a pathway for the topical application of botulinum toxin. Once in the
dermis botulinum toxin is able to act on reducing sebum production which in lum may reduce pore size and overall ciliness
of the skin. Additionally, botulinum toxin has been demonsirated to have a beneficial effect on the mean volume and depth of
facial lines giving the skin a smoother appearance. Therefore, we believe there may be a need for a product, such as
thn?d 10, that can facilitate the topical application of botulinum toxin into the dermis, to treat a variety of these aesthetic skin
itions,
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If approved, we believe DMT410 has the potential to expand the market for botulinum toxins” treatment to multiple
additional aesthetic skin conditions. We believe DMT410 can be an effective product at delivering bioactive botulinum toxin
with a topical application for treatment of pore size, scbum production, fine lines, luminosity, brightness, overall acsthetic
appearance and possibly more. We recently completed a Phase 1b POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of multiple
aesthetic skin conditions where we examined improvements in pore size, sebum product, luminasity, brightness, and Global
Aesthetic improvement after one treatment of DMT410. We believe this POC trial produced data which demonstrated that
DMT410 was able to deliver botulinum toxin to the dermis and showed a reduction in pore size, reduce sebum production,
improved luminosity, improved brightness. and improved the patients” Global Aesthetics. This study also produced no
adverse events and provided acceptable tolerability data with only mild tolerability effects seen fifteen (15) minutes post
treatment. We believe this data warrants further development of this program and we are currently seeking a partner who has
a botulinum toxin they are looking to develop for aesthetic skin conditions which require delivery of botulinum texin to the
dermis. There can be no assurance that DMT410 will receive FDA approval for any acsthetic indication or that we will be
able to find a pantner for development.

Clinical Progress of our Lead Product Candidates
DMT3 0 Phase 26 Clinical Resuits for Acne

In June 2020, we received results from our randomized. double-blind, placebo-conirolled, Phase 2b clinical trial of once
weekly treatments for twelve weeks of DMT310 for acne. We enrolled 181 moderate-to-severe acne patients at fourteen (14)
sites across the U.S. Patients were required to be 12 vears of age or older, have at least twenty {20) non-inflammatory lesions,
twenty (20) inflammatory lesions, no more than two (2) nodules or cysts and be o moderate or severe (meaning a 3 or 4) on
the IGA scale of acne. The IGA scale consists of a 5-point scale, 0-4, with 0 being clear. 1 being almost clear and 4 being
seviere acne as graded by the treating physician. Patients were randomly divided into two treatment groups, either to receive
DMT310 or placebo. Patients were required to apply the product, whether DMT3 10 or placebao, to the entire face, once
weekly for 12 weeks with the first two weeks of treatment applied in office under the supervision of trained study staff, then
the remaining 10 weekly treatments were applied at heme by the patient.

The primary clinical endpoints of the trial included the absolute reduction in inflammatory lesions from baseline. The
secondary clinical endpoints included:

. the absolute reduction in non-inflammatory lesions from baseline;
. the IGA with a responder being a patient with a 2-grade change in 1GA scale and being a 0 or 1 at study exit;
and

. safety and tolerability.

All statistical analyses and data shown for our Phase 2b study are on the intent-to-treat, or ITT, population. The ITT
population included all randomized subjects in the group to which they were randomized, regardless of siudy drug received
or if they completed the study. The ITT approach provides an unbiased comparison among the treatment groups.

The trial was completed in June 2020 and showed a statistically significant and we believe, a clinically meaningful effect for
all efficacy endpoints of the trial, namely reduction in inflammatory and non-inflammatory lesions and 1GA responders,
Notably, the treatment effect for all efficacy endpoints was statistically significant at the four-weck mark, afier only four
treatments, and continued to be statistically significant for week eight and week 12 when compared with placebo. Patients
saw a rapid and sustained therapeutics treatment effect in percentage change in inflammatory lesions with a 45% reduction in
inflammatory lesions at week four and reached 62% reduction in inflammatory lesions at week 12 compared to 24% and 42%
reduction of inflammatory lesions for placebo at weeks four and 12, respectively. The effect on non-inflammatory lesions
were also statistically significant after four weeks, with the therapeutic effect of an approximately 36% reduction in non-
inflammatory lesions ai week four reaching a therapeutic effect of 38% at 12 weeks, which was siatistically significant when
compared with placebo, In addition, both inflammatory and non-inflammatory percent reduction in lesion counts had P-
values of less than 0,001 at week four and week 12 when compared to placebo.

We also saw an early statistically significant separation in IGA with 15% of patients in the DMT310 group considered
responders on the IGA scale. or who had an 1GA score of 0, “clear,” or 1, “almost clear,” after only 4 treatments as compared
with just over 2% of patients on placebo. This statistical separation continued for the remainder of the trial where at the
completion of the trial, or week 12, 44% of patients in the DMT3 10 group, compared with 1 7 in the placebo group were
IGA responders. This difference was statistically significant with a P-value ol less than 0.001.




Mo reported drug-related severe adverse events were reported in the trial. The drug also appeared to be tolerable by a majority
of patients with greater than 92% of patients experiencing no or mild tolerability with no severe dryness, scaling. ervthema,
or buming/stinging reported at week 12, Of those patients who did report tolerability issues, they also reported that the issues
were usually transient and resolved quickly without intervention. Based on this data, after meeting with the FDA, we expect
to proceed to Phase 3 clinical trials with the same clinical endpoints and the same formulation of DMT310 for moderate-to-
SEVETE acne.

The following diagrams and tables show the absolute reduction of inflammatory and non-inflammatory lesions from baseline
until the end of study, or week 12, for both DMT3 10 and placebo (Tmage 3), and percent reduction of inflammatory and non-
inflammatory lesions from baseline until end of study, or week 12, for both DMT310 and Placebo (Image 4). Although
reduction in non-inflammatory lesions was a secondary endpoint of this trial, it is a required metric for the Phase 3 acne
studies necessary for FDA approval.
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Image 3: Mean reduction of inflammatory and non-inflammatory lesions from baseline until end of study, or week 12,
for both DMT310 and Placebo
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Image 4. Percent reduction of infNlammatory and non-inflammatory lesions from baseline until end of study, or week
12, for both DMT310 and Placebo
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(1) As used in the diagrams and table above, the reference to “P-value™ (relative to placeba) means the probability of being
wrong when asserting that a true difference exists between the results for the relevant patient group and the placebo
group, For example, a “P-value™ of less than 0.001 indicates that there is a less than one in 10,000 chance that the
observed result in the treatment group and the observed result in the placebo group arc the same. A “P-valuc” equal to
or less than 0.05 means that a given difference is statistically significant.

{2) “Success” is defined as an 1GA score of “clear” or “almost clear” upon completion of the study.

Additionally, the safety and wlerability profile of DMT310 appeared to be acceptable with a small number of patients
experiencing treatment emergent adverse events as seen in Image 6 below. In this Phase 2b trial, no subject receiving
treatment with DMT310 experienced a severe local skin reaction at study end nor did any patient undergo a dose
modification. Most tolerability issues were mild and resolved shortly after application without any rescue medication as seen
in Image 7 below, Overall, DMT310 was generally safe and well tolerated by patients when applied once weekly for 12

weeks,
DMT30 Placebo
(N=41) (N=90)
System Organ Class Preferred Team N (%) N (%)
General disorders and administration site conditions . 5(5.5) 222)
Application site ervthema .. 4(4.4) W11
Application site pruritus..... 22.2) 22.2)
Application site dryness.. 1.1} 0.0)
Application site exfoliation 1.1} N0.0)




Image 6. Treatment Emergent Adverse Events
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DMT3I0 Phase 2a Clinical Results for Acne

In 2018 we conducted the first clinical trial of DMT310, a randomized, double-blind. 2x2 factorial, placebo-controlled. Phase
2a clinical trial of DMT310 for the treatment of acne. We enrolled 121 paticnis to evaluate the tolerahility, safety, and
efficacy of DMT310 mixed with 3% H,0, following 12 weeks of topical administration in male and female patients with
moderate-to-severe facial acne. The study employed a 2x2 factorial design to assess the contribution of each component of
the investigational product (i.e., Spongilla lecusteis topical powder and 3% H;0; USP). This Phase 2a clinical wrial employed
the same clinical endpoints as our Phase 2b clinical trial of DMT310 for the treatment of acne, as discussed above.

Patients were randomly divided into one of four treatment groups, DMT310 + 3% Ho0.. DMT310 + Water, Placebo + 3%
H3(, or Placebo + Water (control). The patients were required to apply the assigned study drug 1o their entire face up to
once weekly for 12 wecks (84 days), beginning on Day 1 and through Day 78 (as applicable). During study center visits on
Days 29 and 57, a determination was made for each patient, based on the Investigator's Global Assessment (1GA) score, as to
whether study drug application would continue once weekly or at a lower biweekly frequency {once every 2 weeks),
Specifically, patients with an [GA > | at the Day 29 or Day 57 visits continued with once weekly study drug applications,
while paticnts with an 1GA | at these same visits were instructed to subscquently apply their assigned study drug biweckly
{see Image 8 below for a presentation of the study drug application frequency algorithm).
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This Phase 2a trial showed statistically significant and clinically meaningful effects for its endpoint, absolute reduction in
inflammatory lesions when comparing DMT310 + 3% Hi(h and placebo + water (control) groups at both week 8 and week
12 or end of study. At week 12, DMT310 + 3% HyO: had a 16-lcsion reduction from baseline while placebo + water had an
11 lesion reduction from baseline, with a p-value of less than 0.05. Across all the treatment groups, there was a mean
decrease from baseling (i.e., improvement) in the inflammatory and non-inflammatory lesion counts at Days 15, 29, 57, and
B35, However, there were no statistically significant differences between the DMT3 10 + 3% H10; group versus the placebo +
water (control) group for the mean changes from baseline in non-infl ry lesion counts.

We did not ohserve a statistically significant difference between the DMT3 10 + 3% H.0, group and the placebo + water
(control) group in the percentages of patients with 1GA treatment success (IGA score of 1| or 0 and a 2-grade change) or
patients with |-grade or 2-grade improvements from baseline in IGA at any visit. At Day 85 in the DMT310 + 3% H.0,,
DMT310 + water, placebo + 3% HxO,, and placebo + water groups, 29.6%. 20.0%, 27.6%, and 34.5% of patients had IGA
treatment responders, respectively: 66.7%, 66.7%, 65.5%. and 55.2% of subjects had a 1-grade improvement from baseline in
the IGA, respectively: and 37.0%, 20.0%, 27.6%, and 34.5% of subjects had a 2-grade improvement from baseline in the
1GA, respectively.

Analysiz of Placebo: After speaking with the clinical investigators in the trial, it was determined that the higher than normal
placebo response in non-inflamimatory lesions may have been partially due to the stickiness of the placebo, which required
patient to scrub their face, resuliing in exfoliation of the skin and removal of sebaceous plugs (whitcheads and blackheads),
thereby reducing non-inflammatory lesion counts. We believe this caused a placebo response rate that was much higher than
the placebo response rates seen in other topical Phase 2 acne trials. As a result of the inadequate placebo, we developed a new
proprietary placebo formulation for our Phase 2b clinical trial.




Chnce weekly vs. Biweekly Treatment Schedule: Due o this being the first time DMT3 10 was studied in moderale-lo-severe
acne patients for 12 weeks, a conservative study design was chosen to ensure patient tolerability and safety while attempting
to maintain ¢fficacy. Therefore, we allowed [GA treatment responders (1GA score of 0 or 1) to move to a biweckly or every
other week application schedule as discussed above. This resulted in 3 out of 27 patients in the DMT310 + 3% H,0, group
and 0 out of 29 patients in the placebo + water group moving from an [GA score of 1 (treatment responder) at week 8 and
regressing to an 1GA score of 2 (treatment failure) at week 12, Therefore, our Phase 2b clinical trial of DMT3 10 in moderate-
to-severe acne patients incorporated only once weekly applications for 12 weeks with no biweekly option.

No statistical or clinical difference was seen between the placebo + 3% HaOs and the placebo + water groups, which we
believe indicates that 3% H,0. by itself does not have a treatment effect.

DMT3 10 next steps for acne

We are currently preceding with the necessary non-clinical and pharmacokinetic studies and once complete we plan to
schedule an End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in the first half of 2023 to discuss and finalize the protocol for the Phase 3
program in moderate-to-severe acne.

Once we are able to hold an End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA and we receive approval to proceed with Phase 3, we plan
to initiate a pivotal Phase 3 program for DMT310 for the treastment of moderate-to-severe acne. We expect this Phase 3
program to include two, multi-center, placebo-controlled trials with identical clinical endpoints to our recemtly successful
Phase 2b clinical rial of DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne, Once we receive top-line results from both
Phase 3 studies, assuming positive results, we plan to file a new drug application, or NDA, with the FDA shortly thereafter.
This Phase 3 program is intended 1o be designed to demonstraie the safety and efficacy of the treatment of DMT3 10 relative
to placebo for the treatment of moderate-lo-severe acne. Prior to, or in parallel with our planned Phase 3 program, we intend
to continue conducting and complete the additional non-clinical studies necessary to file the NDA. We also intend to conduct
a long-term safety study. 1IFfDMT310 is approved for the treatment of acne. we believe DMT3 10 can eventually be an
attractive prescription to over-the-counter switch, or Rx=-10-0OTC, target, which could provide a substantially larger sales
opportunity. There can be no assurance that DMT3 10 will receive FDA approval for the treatment of acne.

DMT3I0 Phase Ta Climical Resulfs for Psorfasis

We completed a Phase 1a POC trial of DMT3 10 for the wreatment of mild-to-moderate psoriasis. This was an open-label,
mislti-center, 12-week study in 30 mild-to-moderate psoriasis patients with psoriatic lesions coving between 2-30% of body
surface area. The trial aimed at evaluating the tolerability, safety, and efficacy of once weekly treatments of DMT310, which
consists of 2 grams of Spongiffa powder mixed with 6 mL of 3% H;0,, One mild or moderate lesion was selected, and
patients were required to apply DMT310 to the entire lesion, once weekly for 12 weeks with the first iwo weeks of treatment
applied in office under the supervision of trained staff, then the remaining 10 weekly treatments were applied at home by the
patient.

The endpoints in this study included:

. Physicians Global Assessment (PGA) of disease severity with success defined as absent or very mild disease,
a seore of 0 or | respectively on a S-point scale, at the target lesion site.

. Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI) at the target lesion site defined as absent or mild, a score of 0 or |
respectively, on a 6-point scale. This required each psoriatic sign of scaling. erythema, and plaque clevation
to have a score of 0 or | for the subject to be considered a responder,

. I'Ehrilus Visual Analog Scale (WAS) looking at the mean change and percent change from baseling in pruritis
(itch).

All efficacy analyses were performed using the As-Treated population, which consists of all enrolled patients who received at
least one dose of study medication and the per protocol population, which consists of all enrolled patients with no significant
protocol violations during the study that would affect the efficacy analyses,

The trial was completed in August 2021 and showed an acceptable salety and tolerability profile that we believe is clinically
meaningful and warranis further investigation of DMT310 as a potential treatment for mild-to-moderate psoriasis. DMT310
was able to achieve a PGA score of 0 or | for the target lesion in 29.6% of patients at week 8. DMT310 also demonstrated a
tonal PASI score of 0 or 1 for the target lesion in 25.9% of patients at week 8. Notably, DMT3 10 demonstrated a 19.6%
reduction from baseline in pruritus (itch) at week 8 with a peek reduction of 22.5%. We believe these findings from a POC
trial are encouraging for the potential use of DIMT3 10 as an ¢asy to apply topical treatment for mild-to-moderate psoriasis
with an acceptable safety and tolerability profile.

n




Mo reporied drug-related severe adverse events were reported in the trial and only two treatment emergent adverse events
were reported, both being application site pruritus. Additionally, the drug also appeared 1o be tolerated by a majority of
patients. OF those patients who did report tolerability issues, they also reported that the issues were usually transient and
resolved quickly without intervention.
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Image 9: Local Tolerability
DMT310 next steps for psoriasis

We are pleased with data already seen in our Phase | POC trial, especially seeing a reduction in itch as that is one of the main
complaints of patienis suffering from psoriasis, We are in the process of designing a Phase 2 study of DMT3 10 for the
treatment of psoriasis. The Phase 2 study will be a larger randomized, double-blind, placebo control study of DMT310 for the
treatment of psoriasis. Based on the data from the Phase b proof of concept study we are considering adding additional arms
1o examine once versus twice weekly treatment. potentially enhancing the treatment effect seen in our Phase b trial.
Additionally, due to the unique nature of psoriasis and the general thickness of psoriatic plaques, we may also examine
increasing the application pressure and the length of application. We believe that the thicker psoriatic plaques may require a
more intensive treatment compared to the application regimen for acne where there is no thickened skin, We believe
DMT310 could be a first in class treatment option for psoriasis patients. The DMT310 program for psoriasis is currently on
hold with further advancement subject to obtaining additional financing and/or a strategic partner. There can be no assurance
that DMT3 10 will receive FDA approval for the treatment of psoriasis,

DMTEI0 Phase b-Primary Axillary Hyperhidrosis

In the first quarter of 2019, we completed a Phase 1b, open-label, POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of moderate-to-
severe primary axillary hyperhidrosis. In this study we treated ten (10) patients with one application of our proprietary
sponge powder followed by one topical application of BOTOX, reconstituted per label, to each axilla, Patients were followed
for 4 weeks after which time their sweat production was measured and compared with baseline measurements.

The endpoints for this trial included:
. percent of patients with less than 30% reduction in gravimetrically measured sweal production from baseline,
. percent of patients with gravimetric sweat production of greater than 50 mg, and

. percentage change in gravimetric sweal production.
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Afer 4 weeks, 80% of patients saw a decrease in gravimetric sweal production greater than 50%, 85% of patients had
gravimetric sweat production of less than 50mg, and patients had a 73% decrease in gravimetric sweat product from baseline.
Based on this clinical data, we believe that we were able 1o deliver botulinum toxin into the dermis through topical
application for the treatment of primary axillary hyperhidrosis. Treatment with DMT410 also had an scceptable safety and
tolerability profile. We plan 1o parner with a botulinum toxin 1o run a larger Phase 2 siudy of DMT410 for axillary
hyperhidrosis and possibly for palmar (hand) or plantar (foot) hyperhidrosis where there is currently no approved product.
There can be no assurances that DMT4 10 will receive FDA approval for the treatment of hyperhidrosis.

DMT410 Phase 1b— Aesthetic Conditions

In November 2020, we enrolled our first patient in a Phase |b open-label, POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of upper
facial lines along with multiple other aesthetic skin conditions that are affected by delivery of toxin to the dermis such as pore
size, sebum production, brighiness, luminosity, fine lines, and Global Aesthetic Improvement. Due to the fact that we do not
own rights to a botulinum toxin product, we were required by the FDDA 10 conduct this trial using an approved indication for
BOTOX, upper facial lines, an approved dose for this indication (64 units of botulinum toxin) and an approved route of
administration, which is typically injections into the muscle rather than the dermis. However, our primary interest was
studying the clinical effect of DMT410 for ihe aesthetic skin conditions that require delivery of botulinum toxin (o the dermis
rather than the muscle. This is due to our belief that DMT4 10 only delivers botulinum toxin to the dermis and not the muscle,
thus limiting the botulinum toxin's effect to aesthetic conditions which arise in the dermis like line lines, pore size, sebum
production, and others. With these constraints, we initiated the POC trial by enrolling ten (107 female patients, age 18 or
older, each receiving one treatment of DMT410, consisting of one topical application of our proprietary sponge powder
followed by one topical application for BOTOX, reconstituted per label, to the upper face. Patients were followed for sivteen
{16) weeks 1o determine the achievement of our endpoints along with the duration of effect. We also collected safety and
tolerability data. We received top-line data from this study in the November 2021, and believe that we achieved results in
multiple acsthetic endpoints sufficient to warrant further investigation of DM410 for the tre of various acsthetic skin
conditions.

The endpoints for this trial were:

. Portion of patients achieving a grade of none or mild on the investigator’s assessment of lateral canthal,
forchead, and glabellar lines based on the Facial Wrinkle Scale (FWS), which consists of a 5-point scale with
0 being none and | being almost none. To be considered a responder, both the patient and physician had to
agree on the score,

. Partion of patients achicving improvement on the physician’s assessment of pore size improvement, based on
the Global Aesthetic Improvement Scale (GAIS), which consists of a S-point scale with 0 being no
improvement. | being less than or equal w 25% improvement, 2 being a 26-50% improvement, 3 being a 51-
5% improvement, and 4 being a 76-100% improvement.

. Mean and percent change from baseline in brightness based on the 10-point visual analog scale.
. Mean and percent change from baseling in luminosity based on the 10-point visual analog scale.

. Portion of patients achieving a two- grade improvement on the physician’s asscssment of FWS of fine lines
under the eve.

The efficacy analysis was conducted on the ITT and Per Protocol {PP), meaning all patients completing the study without a
major protecol violation, populations. In addition to the physician measured endpoints listed above, we also implemented 2-
dimensional VISIA and 3-dimensional PRIMOS imaging technology from Canfield Scientific to provide objective analysis
of many of the acsthetic endpaints,

Based on the assessment of forehead, lateral canthal, and glabellar lines, no patient was considered a responder in this study,
while some patients did achieve at least a one-grade change throughout the course of the study, This result was not
unexpected as BOTOX is only approved for injections into the muscle for these indications and we did not believe that we
would see any potential distant spread of toxin outside of the dermis 1o the muscle. Seeing no potential distant spread of toxin
was encouraging for us as it provides important safety data that while DMT410 can be applied over a larger treatment arca
than injections, it does not appear to travel beyond the dermis which may cause unwanted facial effects.
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We believe the real potential of DMT410 lies in the acsthetic endpoints that can be affected by delivering BOTOX to the
dermis rather than the muscles. These clinical endpoints include pore size, global aesthetic improvement, brightness,
Tluminosity, and fine lines. The following table (Image 10) shows the improvements in pore size, or a decrease in overall pore
size, with patients achieving at least 2 25% improvement in pore size, for assessment of GAL, or the overall improvement in
skin quality, the with patients achicving at least a 25% improvement in GAI, for assessment of brightness, or the skin’s
combined uniformity of color and texture, with patients having at least a 1-point improvement in brightness, and for
assessmient of luminosity, or the intensity of light area reflected off the face, with patients having at least a 1-point
improvement in brightness.

5 (50.0%)

Physician Assessment of Pore Size | | %) | 5(50.0%) | 4(40%) |
Global Aesthetic Improvement | 7(70.0%) | 8(80.0%)  6(60.0%)  2(20%) |
Brightness | 3(30.0%) | 6(60.0%) | 6(60.0%) | 4 (40%)
Luminosity | 5(500%) = 9(90.0%)  9(90.0%) 6 (60%)

Image 10: Aesthetic Endpoints

In addition to the physician measured endpoints, we also utilized Canfield Sciemific’s 2-dimensional VISIA and 3-
dimensional PRIMOS imaging technologies to gather additional objective data on some of the key endpoints. Based on the
VISIA system paticnts saw a 14, 1% reduction in pore count and a 14.3% reduction in pore arca at week 4. Patients also saw a
16.5% reduction in wrinkle count and a 11.5% reduction in wrinkle area at week 4. Using the PRIMOS image analvsis
patients saw a percent decrease in mean line, which consist of the deeper facial lines, of 12.1% and a percent change in mean
roughness, which consists of the superficial fine lines, of 6.5%. We believe the subjective effects seen by the treating
physicians were further validated by the objective measures using Canficld camera systems.

No reported dnig-related adverse events were reported in the trial. The drug appeared to be well tolerated by patients, with
only mild stinging and erythema reported 15 minutes after treatment and no tolerability issues reported at week 4, 8, 12 or 16,

DMTAI0 next steps for aesthetics

We are very encouraged by the results from our Phase 1b POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of muliiple acsthetic skin
conditions. This was designed to be a signal detection trial of DMT410 for the treatment of a varicty of acsthetic skin
conditions based on the clinical rial design constraints, including the limitation on the quantity of BOTOX that we were able
to apply, the clinical endpoints that needed to be included, and the area of the face that could be treated. Even with these
limitations we believe that we achieved results sufficient to warrant the comtinued development of this program as there
remains no approved botulinum toxin, whether via injection or topical, 1o treat many of the endpoints in which we saw a
treatment effect. We believe this is further supported by the fact that many of the endpoints saw an improvement by week
cight (8) or twelve (12) and started to retum towards bascline at week 16, This is consistent with the knowledge that BOTOX
lasts for about three (3) months before the effect begins to fade. We believe that if we can conduct a larger Phase 2 ¢linical
trial that consists of multiple doses of botulinum texin, we will be able to find the optimal dose for the trestment of a variety
of aesthetic skin conditions including pore size, sebum production, fine lines, luminosity, brightness, and overall aesthetic
improvement. We know that botulinum toxin has shown efficacy of these endpoints but there has been very lintle research
conducted on the optimal dose or administration procedure. likely due to challenges with intradermal injections and the lack
of topical applications that can cffectively deliver botulinum toxin to a large enough treatment arca as required to treat many
of these aesthetic skin conditions. We believe DMT410 can meet this need as shown by our Phase 1b data, so we are actively
sceking a partnership with a botulinum toxin company that is interesting in helping us further develop our DMT410 program
for multiple aesthetic skin conditions. There can be no assurances that we are able 1o successfully negotiate a partmership with
a botulinum toxin company or that DMT410 will receive FDA approval for the treatment any aesthetic skin conditions.,
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Manufacturing

We do not currently own or operate any manufacturing facilities and do not plan to own any in the near future. We have been
relying on our third-party partners for the manufacture of our products used in pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and will
likely continue to rely on these partners in the near term for the commercial manufacturing of our drug substance and drug
product, if our drug product candidates are approved. Manufacturing of the active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, for our
product candidates requires a raw material that is derived from a natural source.

To date, we have obtained naturally sourced Spongilla raw material directly from our supplicr based in Russia. In February
2020, we signed an exclusive supply agreement with this supplier of Spongifia raw material. Our supplier has over 20 years
of experience collecting and processing Spongilla and has the capacity to collect and process large quantitics of Spengilla per
year. We believe our supplier is able 10 and will continue to be able to harvest sufficient quantities of raw material to fulfill
our development and potential commercial needs, if a product candidare is approved using this raw material, We received
two shipments of Spongilla raw material from our supplier during fiscal vear 2022 containing additional quantities of
Spongilla raw material, which we believe will provide us with sufficient quantities of Spongilfa 1o initiate and complete two
Phase 3 studies in moderate-to-severe acne and support the filing of a new drug application for DMT310 in acne in the event
of succeasful completion of the two Phase 3 studies. However, we are exploring allernative manufacturing sources in order to
ensure thal we have access (o sullicient manufaciuring capacity o meel potential demand for any of our product candidates in
a cost-efficient manner. See “Business — Material Agreements— Supply Agreement between Dermata Therapentics LLC and
Reka-Farm LLC for more information regarding our supply of Spongilia.

Development and commercial quantities of any drug product candidates that we may develop will need 1o be harvested,
manufactured in facilities, and processed in compliance with the requirements of the FDA and the regulatory agencies of
other jurisdictions in which we are seeking approval. We currently employ internal resources o manage our manufacturing
contractors, The relevant manufacturers of our drug product candidates have advised us that they are in compliance with both
current Good Laboratory Practices, or cGLF, and ¢cGMP.

We have relied upon our complete supply chain while supporting both our Phase | and Phase 2 clinical supply requirements
and we are confident that our manufacturers have the ability to scale our processes 1o support our Phase 3 clinical studies and
future commercial commitments, Our suppliers and manufactures were specifically selected based on the capabilities of their
organization, their compliance to regulations, their personnel and the type and capabilities of their equipment. Testing
methods for each stage of the manufacturing process form acquisition of raw materials through production of finished drug
praduct have been developed and satisfactorily qualified per the FDA's phase appropriate regulations relating to elinical
materials for human use. Analytical methods and operational procedures related to each stage of our production operations
including product release will continue to evolve and be validated as part of our overall development plan for Phase 3 ¢linical
supplies and commercial production.

Commercialization

Given our stage of development, we do not currently have any internal sales, marketing, or distribution infrastructure or
capabilitics. If approved, we infend 1o commercialize DMT310, or any other product candidates that we may successfully
develop, in the United States by building a specialized sales organization focused on dermatologisis. We believe a
scientifically oriented. customer-focused weam of approximately $0-60 sales representatives would allow us 1o reach our
targeted dermatologists n the U.S. with the highest potential for prescribing DMT310. In the future, we may develop and
commercialize DMT310 for additional geographic regions, independently or with a strategic pariner. IF DMT310 is approved,
and we are able to suecessfully commercialize it, we believe DMT3 10 can eventually become an attractive Rx-to-OTC
switch target. which could provide a substantially larger addressable market and an expanded sales opportunity.

Competition

The medical and acsthetic pharmaceutical industries in which we plan to operate are competitive and subject to changes in
practice. While we believe that our unique natural technology, knowledge, experience and resources provide us with
competitive advantages, we may face competition from many different sources with respect to our current programs or any
other product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future. Possible competitors may include
pharmaceutical companies, academic and medical institutions, governmental agencies and public and private research
institutions. These prospective competitors have the ability to effectively commercialize, market and promote approved
products, including communicating the effectiveness, safety and value of products to actual and prospective customers.
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Many of our prospective competitors have substantially greater manufacturing, financial, research and development,
personnel, and marketing resources than we do. Our prospective competitors may also have more experience and expertise in
obtaining markcting approvals from the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities. Tn addition to product development, testing,
approval and promation, other competitive factors in the pharmaceutical industry include industry consolidation, product
quality and price, product technology, reputation, customer service and access to technical information. As a result, our
prospective compelitors may be able to develop competing or superior products and compele more aggressively and susiain
their competitive advantage over a longer period of time than us. Our products may be rendered obsolete or may lack
economic viability in the face of competition.

The key competitive factors affecting the success of DMT3 10, if approved, will likely be its eflicacy, safety, convenience of
administration and delivery, price, and the availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors, With
respect to DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne, if approved, we will primarily be competing with therapies
such as other topical products, oral products, in-office procedures, such as laser surgery, off-label drugs, over the counter
medication and homeopathic remedies, With regards to DMT310 for the treatment of mild-to-moderate psoriasis, if
approved, we will face competition from topical therapies, oral therapies, systemic therapics, photo therapies and
homeopathic treatments. However, based on our clinical trials, we believe that DMT3 10 has multiple competitive advantages
over curment treatment altematives with significamtly less adverse side effects. Our main competition in these indications will
be with products from Vyne Therapeutics, Inc, Sol-Gel Technologies Lid., Arcutis Biotherapeutics, Inc., Almirall S.A.,
Galderma S.A., Plizer Inc. See “Business - Clinical Progress of our Lead Product Candidares” for the results of our
completed and ongoing clinical trials. While we are unaware of any potential similar competitive topical produets to

DMT3 10 for the treatment of acne and psoriasis, it is possible that such potentially similar competitive products are currently
being developed.

We are also in carly stages of clinical development for DMT410 for treating various medical and aesthetic skin conditions
and diseases, and if we obtain marketing approval in the future, we will compete with traditional therapies, such as topical
products, oral products, in-office procedures, such as bowlinum toxin injections, ofl-label drugs, over the counter medication
and homeopathic remedies, as well as additional new entrants to the applicable markets.

We also expect to face competition in our efforts to identify appropriate collaborators or partners to help commercialize our
product candidate portfolio in our target commercial markets,

Intellectual Property
hverview

Owir commercial suceess depends in pant on our ability 1o obtain and maimain proprietary protection for DMT3 10, DMT400,
DMT410 and any of our future product candidates, medical devices, methodologies, assays, drug development technologies,
harvesting procedures, know-how; to operate without infringing on or otherwise violating the proprietary rights of others; and
to prevent others from infringing or otherwise vielating our proprictary rights. Our strategy is to protect our proprictary
position by, among other things, filing U.S, and foreign patent applications related to our product candidate and other
proprietary technologies, inventions and improvements that are important to the development and implementation of our
business. We also rely on trade secrets, trademarks, know-how, continuing technological innovations, exclusivity
agreements, nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements, license agreements, assignment of inventions and potential in-
licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our proprictary position.

Parent Portfolio

Our patent eslale consisis of in-licensed and solely owned patent applications. Typically, we initially file U.5. provisional
patent applications and then file applications directly or under the Patent Cooperation Treary, or PCT, which is an
international patent law treaty that provides a unified procedure lor filing a single initial patent application to seck patent
protection from an invention simultancously in any one of the designated member jurisdictions and states, including in the
U5, Although a PCT application does not issue as a patent, it allows the applicant to seek protection in any of the member
states through national-phase applications filed at a later date. We currently have multiple patent or patent applications in our
patent portfolio and continue to pursue and seek additional patent coverage of all our product candidates.




DMT310

Our DMT310 portfolio includes two familics, one in-licensed and one owned by Dermata. The in-licensed family includes
patents and patent applications in-licensed from Villani, Inc. related to therapeutic compasitions and methads for treating
skin conditions, The in-licensed pertfolio consists of one pending non-provisional U.S. patent application, two granted ULS.
patents, and granted foreign patents in Australia, Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Mexico, Russia, Singapare,
South Korea, Spain, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. Additionally, the issued forcign patent in Japan, has lapsed and is
no longer in force or valid. These patents are expected to have expired or expire between 2022 and 2023, absent any patent
term adjustments or extensions. Based on the anticipated timing of any potential FDA approval of DMT310 for acne, the
patents that expire in 2022 and 2023 are not material to our business. as we do not expect these patents to provide any
protection for our product candidates. We expect our intellectual propenty portfolio to be protecied by any potential NCE
exclusivity for DMT310 and our other product candidates, the maintaining of our exclusive supply agreement for our raw
material requirements, and our continued efforts to protect our proprietary information. We also have an additional Dermata
owned family refated to DMT3 10, with applications pending in the U.S., Australia, and Canada. This family refers to specific
attributes of the DMT3 10 API and drug product as well as treatment related attributes for the treatment of acne based on the
data received prior 1o its filing. Patents in this patent family, if granted, are expected to expire in 2039, absent any patent term
adjustments or extensions.

DMT4I0

Our DMT410 portfolio includes two families owned by Dermata. The first family consists of one pending non-provisional
U5, patent application and six pending foreign patent applications in Australia, Canada, China, the European Patent Office,
Japan, and South Korea. These patent applications relate 1o compositions for the treatment of skin diseases using our
proprictary sponge powder in combination with multiple types of botulinum toxin for both medical and aesthetic skin
conditions and diseases. Patents in this patent family, if granted, are expected to expire in 2039, absent any patent term
adjustments or extensions. The second family is related 1o certain of our clinical methods related to sponge powder and
batulinum toxin. This second family consists of a US non-provisional application and a PCT application. Patents in this
patent family, if granted are expected to expire in 2041, absent any patent term adjustments or extensions.

DMT400

Our DMTA00 portfolio includes three families owned by Dermata, The first family consists of pending applications in the
LS., Canada, and Japan covering our sponge powder in combination with many approved and development stage
monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of skin diseases. Patents in this patemt family, if granted. are expected to expire in
2039, absent any patent term adjustments or extensions. The second family consists of a pending applications in the LS.,
Australia, Japan, and South Korea, covering compositions for the treatment of conditions by dermal fillers in combination
with our proprietary sponge powder. Patents in this patent family, if granted, are expected to expire in 2040, absent any
patent term adjustments or extensions. The third family consists of a pending PCT application filed in January of 2023,
covering the compositions for the treatment of conditions by vaccines in combination with our proprietary sponge powder.

Although we believe our patent portfolio offers significam protection for DMT3 10, DMT410 and DMT400 and additional
combination regimens, the protection offered by our patents may be, to some extent, more limited than the protection
provided by patents which claim chemical struetures which were previously unknown. Accordingly, other parties may
compete with us, for example, by independently developing or obtaming competing topical formulations thal design around
our patent claims, but which may contain the same or similar active ingredients, or by seeking to invalidate our patents,

The term of individual patents depends upon the laws of the countries in which they are obtained. In most countries in which
we file, the patent term is 20 vears from the earliest priority date of filing of a non-provisional patent application. However,
the term of United States patents may be extended for delays incurred due to compliance with the FDA, requirements or by
delays encountered during prosecution that are caused by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO. For
example, the Hatch-Waxman Act permits a patent term extension for FDA-approved drugs of up 1o five vears bevond the
expiration of the patent. The length of the patent term extension is related to the length of time the drug is under regulatory
review, Patent extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product
approval, and only one patent applicable to an approved drug may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe
and other jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drag. In the future, if and when our product
candidates receive FDA approval, we expect to apply for patent term extensions on patents covering those product
candidates. We intend to seck patent term extensions in any jurisdiction where these are available and where we also have a
patent that may be eligible; however there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities, including the United State Patent
and Trademark Office and United States FDA, will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted,
and even if granted, the length of such extensions.
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Cther Invellectal Property

In addition to patent protection, we also rely heavily on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology
innovation, technical specifications and assays and other proprictary information in attempting to develop and maintain our
competitive advantage. We believe our ability to protect our unpatented know-how and trade secrets are as important i not
more important than our patent portfolio due the complex nature and lack of expiration associated with such information.

We seck trademark protection in the United States and in certain other jurisdictions where available and when we deem
appropriate. We currently have registrations for Dermata in the United States and multiple other jurisdictions. We intend 1o
file applications for rademark registrations in connection with our therapeutic candidates in various jurisdictions, mcluding
the United States,

Material Agreements
License Agreement hetween Dermata Therapeatics, LLC and Villani, Inc.

On March 31, 2017, we entered into a License Agreement (or, the License Agreement) with Villani, Inc. (or, Villani),
whereby Villani has granted us an exclusive, sub-licensable, rovalty-bearing license (or, the License) under the Licensed
Patents (as defined in the License Agreement), to formulate, develop. seek regulatory approval for. make or sell products that
contain Spongilla lacustris (alone or in combination with other active or inactive ingredients) for the treatment of discases,
disorders and conditions of the skin, including but not limited to acne. rosacea, psoriasis, atopic dermatitis. seborrheic
dermatitis, actinic keratosis and eczema that were developed using certain licensed know-how (or, the Licensed Products).
We are responsible for the development (including manufacturing, packaging, non-clinical studies, clinical trials and
obtaining regulatory approval) and commercialization (including marketing, promotion, distribution, ete.) for all Licensed
Products.

In partial consideration of the License, we forgave our outstanding loan o Villani in the amount of $400,000 and agreed 1o
make future milestone pavments to Villani. The milestone payments due to Villani under the License Agreement have been
amended to the amounts described below in connection with our entry into the Second License Amendment (as defined
below).

The License Agreement may be terminated (i) by either party for material breach with 90 days written notice, or 30 days’
notice if for material payment breach, il such material breach is not cured within such notice period, (i1) immediately upon
written notice to either party if either party initiates o voluntary bankruptcy proceeding, dissolves or winds-up its business,
(110} immediately upon written notice to either party if ¢ither party becomes subject to mveluntary bankruptey proceedings, if
such proceedings are not dismissed or staved within 90 days.

The License Agreement includes customary terms relating to, among others, indemnification, intellectual property protection,
confidentiality, remedies, and warranties.

On June 4, 2019, we entered into a License Amendment and Settlement Agreement (or the First License Amendment) with
Villani. Pursuant to the First License Amendment, we made milestone payments to Villani in an aggregate amount of
£750,000, and in exchange for certain know-how, we issued to Villani 3,221,156 units of our Series 1¢ Preferred Units
{which units were converted ino shares of our Series ¢ Preferred Stock in connection with our conversion into a Delaware
corporation, which was equal to 5% of our total capitalization (on a fully-diluted basis) at the time of issuance). At the time
of issuance, these units were valued at $730,962, ‘5& subsequently cancelled the shares of Series 1¢ Preferred Stock issued to
Villani pursuant to the Second License Amendment, as described below. Pursuant to the First License Amendment, we also
agreed to make certain milestone payments to Villani, which rates were subsequently amended pursuant to the Second
License Amendment, as discussed below. To date, the $750,000 milestone pavment made in connection with the First
License Amendment is the total amount paid to Villani in connection with the License,

On July 30, 2021, we entered into a Second Amendment to the License and Settlement Agreement (or, the Second License
Amendment). wherehy, for the settlement of cenain disputes arising under the First License Amendment, we agreed 10
exchange the shares of Series 1c Preferred Stock owned by Villani for an increase of milestone payments and rovalty rates
due to Villani under the License Agreement. The resulting rovalty rates payable pursuant to the Second License Amendment
are equal to single-digit percentages of net sales of Licensed Products and HMW Combination Products (as defined in the
License Agreement). subject lo certain adjustments as set forth in the Second License Amendment. Royalties are payable on
a eouniry-byv-country and Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product basis, for the period of time from the effective date of the
License Agreement until the later of (i) the expiration of the last to expire valid claim in such country (which is set to expire
in 2023, (ii) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for such Licensed Product in such country, and (iii) 15 vears from the
date of the first commercial sale of the Licensed Product in such country. Pursuant to the Second License Amendment, if we
sublicense the License, we are obligated to pay to Villani a sublicense fee of between 10% and 30% of Sublicense Revenues
{as defined in the License Agreement). Such future milestone payments due to Villani (all payvable to Villani in cash or in
equity, at the option of Villani) are in a te amaounts of up to $3.5 million in development milestones and $37.0 million
in sales milestones, We paid to Villani §1 0 million upon the closing of our nitial public offering,
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Supply Agreement between the Company and Reka-Farm LLC

On February 27, 2020, we entered into an exclusive Supply Agreement (or. the Supply Agreement) with Reka-Farm, LLC
(or, Reka-Farm), whereby Reka-Farm will supply us with the Spongilfa raw materials necessary for use in the development
of our product candidates. The Supply Agreement has an indefinite term unless and until terminated. For the term of the
Supply Agreement, Reka-Farm is prohibited from supplying Spongilla for development and sale of any other product outside
of the Russian Federation, other than Cosmetic Products (as defined in the Supply Agreement).

Pursuant 1o the Supply Agreement, we shall provide Reka-Farm with two-vear rolling forecasts of our Spongilfe raw material
requirements, and such forecasts shall be provided 1o Reka-Farm on a semi-annual basis, beginning on January 1, 2021 (each,
a Forecast), Pursuant to the Supply Agreement, Reka-Farm has guaranteed its ability to supply us with the required amounts
of Spongilla as specified in each Forecast for the first 12 months of each Forecast. All Forecasts are non-binding on us. If
Reka-Farm is unable to supply us with Spongilla raw material in accordance with a Forecast, all available quantities of
Spongilla then available to Reka-Farm shall be made available to us on a first priority basis until all amounts of Spongilla set
forth in the Forecast are supplied.

Pursuant to the Supply Agreement, we pay a pre-negotiated price per kilogram for Spongilfa supplicd by Reka-Farm, and we
are required to pay to Reka-Farm a royalty payments of less than one percent of the Net Sales (as defined in the Supply
Agreement) of any products we develop containing Spengilla raw material supplied by Reka-Farm.

The Supply Agreement may be terminated (i) by either party for material breach with 90 days written notice, if such material
breach is not cured within such notice period and (ii) by us for any reason or no reason upon M0 days written notice to Reka-
Farm.

The Supply Agreement includes customary terms relating to, among others, indemnification, intellectual property protection,
confidentiality, remedies, warranties, as well as certain quality requirements.

Human Capital Resources

As of the date of this report, we have eight full time employees, with three employees working in the general and
administrative depantment, two engaged in non-clinical and clinical development, two working in the chemistry,
manufacturing and controls department, and one employes working in the regulatory affairs and quality control department.

We believe that our future success will depend, in pant, on our continued ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel,
In particular, we depend on the skills, experience and performance of our senior management and research personnel, We
compete for qualified personnel with other medical pharmaceutical, and healthcare companies, as well as universities and
nan-profit research institutions.

We provide competitive compensation and benefits programs to help meet the needs of our emplovess. In addition to salaries,
these programs (which vary by country/region and employment classification) include incentive compensation plans,
healthcare and insurance benefits, retirement investments, paid time off, and family leave, among others. We also use
targeted equity-based grants with vesting conditions to facilitate retention of personnel. particularly for our key emplovees.

The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our people. Accordingly, we are commitied to
the health and safety of our employees. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. we implemented significant changes that we
determined were in the best interest of our emplovees, as well as the communities in which we operate, and which comply
with government regulations,

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

fnvesting in our securtties invalves a high degree of risk. You should carcfully consider the risks and uncertainties described
belaw, together with all of the other information in this report, including the consolidated financiol statements, the notes
therete and the section entiled “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ™
inichuded elsewhere in this report before d('n'di'llg whether to frvest in our securities. The risks and wuneertaintics deseribed
below are not the only omes we foce, Additional risks and uncertainties that we are nnaoware of or that we deem immaterial
may also become inportant factors thar adversely affect our business. [fany of the following risks actually ocour, our
business, financial condivion, results of operations and furure prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In tha
evenl, the marke! price of our common stock andior Warrants could decline, and you could lose part or all of your
invesiment,

30




Summary of Risks Associated with Our Business

Our business and an invesiment in our company is subject to numerous risks and uncertaintics, including those highlighted in
the section tithed “Risk Factors™ immediately following this summary. Some of these risks include:

We are a pre-revenue company with a limited operating history:

We may not be able to successfully develop or commercialize our product candidates or do so.on a timely or
cost-ciTective basis;

Our business may be negatively affected by the impacts of COVID-19;

We depend on a limited number of product candidates and our business could be materially adversely
affected if one or more of our key product candidates do not perform as well as expected and do not receive
regulatory approval;

The market for our product candidates, including DMT 310 and DMT 410, may not be as large as we expect;
Our competitors and other third parties may allege that we are infringing their intellectual property. forcing us
to expend substantial resources in resulting litigation, and any unfavorable outcome of such litigation could
have a material adverse effect on our business;

We may experience failures of or delays in clinical trials which could jeopardize or delay our ability to obtain
regulatory approval and commence product sales;

We face intense competition from both brand and generic companies which could limit our growth and
adversely affect our financial results;

We are subject to extensive governmental regulation and we face significant uncertainties and potentially
significant costs associated with our efforts to comply with applicable regulations:

We may not be able 1o develop or maintain sales capabilitics or effectively market or sell any products that
we may successfully commercialize;

Manufacturing or quality control problems may damage our reputation, require costly remedial activities, or
otherwise negatively impact our business;

Our profitability will depend on coverage and reimbursement by third-party payors, and healthcare reform
and other future legislation may lead to reductions in coverage or reimbursement levels;

We currently, and may in the future need 1o, license certain intellectual property from third parties, and such
licenses may not be available or may not be available on commercially reasonable terms;

We may not identify relevamt third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope or
expiration of a third-party patent, which might adversely affect our ability to develop, manufacture and
market our products and product candidates;

The raw material for our product candidates, DMT310 and DMT410, is derived from naturally ccourring
ingredients that grow only in limited arcas that need 1o be harvested annually, Due to unforeseen
environmentzl conditions or circumstances, our supplier may not be able to harvest as much raw material as
we require, or any at all, which may negatively impact our ability to conduct preclinical studies, ¢linical trials,
and ultimately commercialize our product candidates;

We currently rely on a third pany for the raw materials needed for DMT3 10 and DMT410, and if we
encounter any difficulties in accessing or procuring altemative sources on accepiable terms, or at all, our
business may suffer:

Our current issued patents covering DMT310 have expired or will expire between 2022 and 2023, which is
prior to our anticipated date for any market launch, Our current pending patents covering DMT3 10 and
DMT410 have not been issued yet and there is no guarantee they will get issued. We may not be able to
obtain additional patent coverage, which could limit our market opportunity due to competition from other
products:

If we fail to comply with our obligations under any of our third-party agreements, we could lose license rights
that are necessary to develop our product candidates;

Our directors, executive officers and certain stockholders (one of which is an affiliate of our Chief Executive
Officer) own a significant percentage of our common stock and, if they choose 1o act together, will be able to
exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval: and

We will need to add personnel, which will increase the size and complexity of our organization and we may
experience difficulties executing growth and corporate strategies.
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Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital
We are a clinical stage pharmacentival company with a Knvited eperafing history,

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate our
business and prospects. We miust complete clinical studies and receive regulatory approval before commercial sales of a
product can commence, The likelihood of suceess of our business plan must be considered in light of the problems,
substantial expenses, difficulties, complications and delays frequently encountered in connection with developing and
expanding carly-stage businesses and the regulatory and competitive environment in which we operate. Pharmaceutical
product development is a highly speculative undertaking, involves a substantial degree of risk and is a capital-intensive
business.

Accordingly, vou should consider our prospects in light of the costs. uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequemtly
encouniered by companies in the early stages of development. especially early stage clinical pharmaceutical companies such
as ours. Potential investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertaintics that a company with a limited operating
history will face. In particular, potential investors should consider that we cannot assure vou that we will be able 1o, among
other things:

. successfully implement or execute our curment business plan, and we cannot assure you that our business plan
is sound;

. successfully complete the clinical trials. non-clinical testing and other requirements necessary 1o obtain
regulatory approval for the marketing of our drug candidates, including DMT3 10 and DMT410;

. successfully manufacture our clinical products and establish commercial drug supply.

. secure, maintain and. as necessary, defend our intellectual property rights:

. secure market exclusivity and'or adequate mtellectual property protection for our drug candidates;

. attract and retain an experienced management and advisory team;

. secure acceptance of our drug candidates in the medical community and with third-party pavors and
consumers;

. launch commercial sales of our drug candidates, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

. comply with post-marketing regulatory requiremenis;

. raise sufficient funds in the capital markets or otherwise to effectuate our business plan; and

. utilize the funds that we have and may mise in the future to efficiently execule our business strategy.

17 we cannot successlully execute any one of the foregoing, our business may fail and yvour investment will be adversely
affected.

We have incurred losses since inception amd anticipate that we will continie to incur losses for the foreseeable fiture. We
are nof curvently profitable, and we may never achieve or sustain profitability.

We have never generated revenue from operations, are unlikely to generate revenues for several years, and are currently
operating al a loss and expect our operating costs will increase significantly as we incur costs related to preclinical
development. the clinical trials for our drug candidates and to operating as a public company. We expect to incur substantial
expenses without corresponding revenues unless and until we are able to obtain regulatory approval and successfully
commercialize any of our drug candidates. We may never be able 1o obtain regulatory approval for the marketing of our drug
candidates in any indication in the United States or internationally. Even if we are able to commercialize our drug candidates,
there can be no assurance that we will generate significant revenues or ever achieve profitability, We have incurred losses in
each vear since we commenced operations in December 2014, We incurred net losses of approximately $9.6 million and
approximately $7.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, we had
an accumulated deficit of approximately $435.6 million. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on our future
expenses and our ability to generate revenue. if any. Revenue from our current and potential future collaborations is uncertain
because milestones or other contingent payments under our agreements may not be achieved or received.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had capital resources consisting of cash and cash equivalents of $6.2 million. Wee will continue
to expend substantial cash resources for the foreseeable future for the clinical development of our product candidates and
development of any other indications and product candidates we may choose to pursue. These expenditures will include costs
associated with research and development, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufacturing and supply, as
well as marketing and selling any products approved for sale, In particular, our Phase 3 clinical studies for our product
candidates will require substantial funds to complete. Because the conduct and results of any clinical trial are highly
uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and
commercialization of our current and any futire product candidates.

We are unceriain when or if we will be able to achieve or sustain profitability. 1f we achieve profitability in the future, we
may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Failure to become and remain profitable would impair our
ability 1o sustain operations and adversely affect the price of our common stock or Warrants and our ability 1o raise capital,

We will require additional capital to fund owr operations, and if we fail fo obtain necessary financing, we may not be able
to ¢ lete the devel it and ¢ ialization of our drugs.

We belicve that our existing cash, together with interest thereon, will be sufficient to fund our operations into the third
quarter of 2023, We have based these estimates, however, on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could spend
our available capital resources much faster than we currently expect or require more capital to fund our operations than we
currently expect. Our currently anticipated expenditures for the development of our product candidates, DMT310 and
DMT410, exceed our existing cash, We will need to raise additional capital to fund our operations and continue to support
our planned development and commercialization activities.

The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including:

. the timing,. rate of progress and cost of any preclinical and clinical wrials and other product development
activities for our current and any future product candidates that we develop, in-license or acquire;

. the results of the clinical trials for our preduct candidates in the United States and any foreign countries;

. the timing of, and the costs involved in. FDA approval and any foreign regulatory approval of our product
candidates, if at all;

. the number and characteristics of any additional future product candidates we develop or acquire;

. our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing. co-promaotion or other arrangements
and the terms and timing of such arrangements;

. the cost of commercialization activities if our current or any future product candidates are approved for sale,
including manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution costs;

- the degree and rate of market acceptance of any approved products;

. costs under our third-party manufacturing and supply amangements for our current and any future product
candidates and any products we commercialize;

. costs and timing of completion of any additional outsourced commercial manufacturing or supply
arrangements that we may establish;

. costs of preparing. filing. prosecuting. maintaining, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other
intellectual property rights associated with our product candidates;

. costs associated with proseeuting or defending any litigation that we are or may become involved in and any
damages payable by us that result from such htigation;

. costs associated with any product recall that could occur:
. costs of operating as a public company;

. the emergence, approval, availability, perceived advantages, relative cost, relative safety and relative efficacy
of alternative and competing products or treatments;

. costs associated with any acquisition or in-license of products and product candidares, technologies or
husinesses; and

- personnel, facilities and equipment requirements.
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We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, future debt financing
into which we enter may impose upon us covenants that restrict our eperations, including limitations on our ability 1o incur
liens or additional debt, pay dividends, redeem our stock, make certain investments and engage in certain merger,
consolidation or asset sale transactions.

IM we are unable 1o raise additional capital when required or on acceplable terms, we may be required to significantly delayv.
scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of ene or more of our product candidates, restriet our
operations or obtain funds by entering into agreements on unaftractive terms, which would likely have a material adverse
effiect on our business, stock price and our relationships with third partics with whom we have business relationships, at least
until additional funding is obtained. If we do not have sufficient funds to continue operations, we could be required to seek
bankruptcy protection or other alternatives that would likely result in our stockholders osing some or all of their investment
in us. In addition, our ability to achieve profitability or to respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to onr stockholders, restrict our operations or requive us to relinguish righis
ta aiir technologies or product candidates.

Until such time, il ever, as we can generate substantial revenue, we may finance our cash needs through a combination of
equity offerings, debi financings, marketing and disiribution arrangemenis and other collaborations, sirategic alliances and
licensing arrangements or other sources. We do not currently have any committed external source of funds. In addition, we
may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe that we have
sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, vour ownership interest
will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely afect your rights
as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include
covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing,
distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties. we may be required to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies,
intellectual property, future revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us,
IT we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required 1o delay. limit,
reduce or terminate product candidate development or future commercialization efforts.

The reports of our independent registered public acconnting firm for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
contain an explamatory paragraph regarding siubstantial dowbt about oar ability to confinue as @ going concern.

Due to the uncenainty of our ability 10 meet our current operating and capital expenses, in its report on our audited annual
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, our independent auditors
included an explanatory paragraph regarding concerns about our ability to continue as a going concern. Substantial doubit
about our ability to continue as a going concem may materially and adversely affect the price per share of our common stock
and Warrants and we may have a more difficult time obtaining financing. Further, the perception that we may be unable 10
continue as a going concen may impede our ability 1o raise additional funds or operate our business due to concems
regarding our ability to discharge our contractual obligations,

Changes in tax laws may materially adversely affect our business financial condition, resulis of operations and cash
Jloiws,

We are subject to tax laws, regulations and pelicies of the jurisdictions in which we do business, which may include LS,
federal, state, and local governmenis and taxing authorities in foreign jurisdictions, Changes in tax laws, as well as other
factors, could cause us to experience fluctuations in eur tax obligations and otherwise adversely affect our tax positions
and/or our tax liabilities. The income tax rules in the jurisdictions in which we operate are constantly under review by laxing
authorities and other governmental bodies. Changes 1o tax laws {which changes may have retroactive application) could
adversely affect us or our stockholders. We are unable 1o predict what tax proposals may be proposed or enacted in the future
or what effect such changes would have on our business, but such changes, to the extent they are brought into tax legislation,
regulations, policies or practices, could affect our financial position and overall effective tax rates in the future in
Jurisdictions where we have operations, and increase the complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance.
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Risks Related to Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization

We face risks related to health epidemics and owthreaks, includimg COVID-T9, which could significandy disrupt our
preclinical studies and clinical trials,

The duration and the geographic impact of the business disruption and related financial impact resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic cannot be reasonably estimated at this time and our business could be adversely impacted by its effects. In an effort
to halt the outbreak of COVID-19, the United States has, at times, placed significant restrictions on travel and many
businesses have announced extended closures which could adversely impact our operations. Enrollment of patients in our
clinical trials and our planned and ongoing preclinical and clinical trials may be delaved due to COVID-19, The impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the FDA and other health authorities may delay potential approvals of our clinical
trial protocols. In addition, we rely on independent clinical investigators, contract research organizations and other third-party
service providers (o assist us in managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying out our preclinical studies and clinical wrials,
and the pandemic may affect their ability to devote sufficient time and resources to our programs. We also rely on third party
suppliers and contract manufacturers to produce the drug product we wtilize in our clinical trials, and the pandemic may cause
delays in the delivery of raw materials and drug product. Temporary closure of facilities at which our ¢linical or preclinical
trials are conducted. or restrictions on the ability of our employees, clinicians or patients enrolled in our trials to travel could
adversely alfect our operations and our ability 1o conduct and complete our preclinical and clinical irials. In addition, the
COVID=19 pandemic, including insufficient vaccination of the general population and the emergence of new variants,
including the delta variant and the omicron variant, could aflect the health and availability of our workforce as well as those
of the third parties on whom we rely. If new, more infectious or severe variants emerge, it is possible that the impact of the
pandemic on our business may increase or lengthen in duration.

As aresult of the foregoing factors, the expected timeline for data readouts of our preclimcal studies and clinical trals and
cerfain regulatory filings may be negatively impacted, which would adversely afTect our business.

Disruptions in the global economy and supply chains may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and resulis of sperations.

The disruptions to the global economy in 2020 and into 2021 have impeded global supply chains, resulting i longer lead
times and also increased critical component costs and freight expenses. We have taken and may have 1o take steps 1o
minimize the impact of these disruptions in lead times and increased costs by working closely with our suppliers and other
third parties on whom we rely for the conduct of our business. Despite the actions we have undertaken or may have to
undertake to minimize the impacts from disruptions to the global economy, there can be no assurances that unforeseen future
events in the global supply chain will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. To date, we have experienced difTicultics in obtaining the necessary supply of minipigs required to conduct a
required 90-day dermal minipig study, and as a result, we may be forced 1o delay the start of such study.

Furthermore, inflation can adversely affect us by increasing the costs of clinical trials_ the research and development of our
product candidates, as well as administration and other costs of doing business, We may experience increases in the prices of
labor and other costs of doing business. In an inflationary environment, Cost increases may oulpace our expectations, causing
us lo use our cash and other liquid assets faster than forecasted. 11 this happens, we may need to raise additional capital 1o
fund our operations, which may not be available in sulficient amounts or on reasonable terms, if at all, sooner than expecied.

Adverse global conditions, including economic uncerfaingy, may negatively impact our financial resules.

Global conditions, dislocations in the financial markets, any negative financial impacts affecting United States as a resuli of
tax reform or changes to existing trade agreements or Lax conventions, may adversely impact our business.

In addition, the global macroeconomic environment could be negatively affected by, among other things. COVID-19 or other
pandemics or epidemics, instability in global economic markets, increased U.S. trade tarifls and trade disputes with other
countries, instability in the global credit markets, supply chain weaknesses, instability in the geopolitical environment as a
result of the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the Eurepean Union, the Russian invasion of Ukraine and other
political tensions, and foreign govemmental debt concerns. Such challenges have caused, and may continue to cause,
uncertainty and instability in local economies and in global financial markets.
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Our business is dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product
candidates, in particular DMT310 and DMTLAI0,

Our portfolio of product candidates includes one mid-stage product candidate, DMT3 10, a once weekly topical, naturally
derived product candidate for the treatment of acne and psoriasis, and an early-stage candidate, DMT410, a combination
treatment regimen to aid in the topical delivery of botulinum toxin for the treatment of hyperhidrosis and acsthetic skin
conditions. The success of our business, including our ability to finance our company and gencrate any revenue in the future,
will primarily depend on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization or partnering of our product
candidates. In the future, we may also become dependent on just one of our product candidates or any future product
candidates that we may in-license, acquire or develop. The clinical and commercial success of our product candidates will
depend on a number of factors, including the following:

the ability to raise additional capital on acceptable terms, or at all;
timely completion of our clinical tnals, which may be significantly slower or cost more than we currently
anticipate and will depend substantially upon the performance of third-party contractors;

whether we are required by the 1.5, Food and Drug Adminisiration, or the FDA, or similar foreign regulatory
agencies to conduct additional clinical trials beyond those planned to suppont the approval and
commercialization of our product candidates or any future product candidates;

acceptance of our proposed indications and primary endpoint assessments relating to the proposed indications
of our product candidates by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities:

our ability to demonstrate 1o the satisfaction of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities, the safety
and efficacy of our product candidates or any future product candidates;

our ability to develop a suitable drug product release assay;
our ability to identify an active compound within the drug product that can be detected in a pharmacokinetics
study;

the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects experienced in connection with our product
candidates or future approved products, if any:

the timely receipt of necessary marketing approvals from the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authonities;

achieving and maintaining, and, where applicable. ensuring that our third-party contractors achieve and
maintain, compliance with our contractual obligations and with all regulatory requirements applicable 1o our
product candidates or any future product candidaies or approved products, if any;

the ability of third partics with whom we contract to manufacture clinical trial and commercial supplies of our
product candidates or any future product candidates, remain in good standing with regulatory agencies and
develop, validate and maintain commercially viable manufacturing processes that are compliant with current
good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, or good agriculiural and collection practices, or GACP;

a continwed acceptable safety profile during clinical development and following approval of aur product
candidates or any fulure product candsdates;

our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates or any future product candidates in the
United States and intemnationally, if approved for marketing, sale and distribution in such countries and
territories, whether alone or in collaboration with others:

acceptance by physicians, patients and payors of the benefits, safety and efficacy of our product candidates or
any future product candidates, if approved. in¢luding relative to alternative and competing treatments;

our ability to comply with numerous post-approval regulatory requirements;

our and our partners” ability to establish and enforce intellectual propenty rights in and to our product
candidates or any future product candidates;

our and our pariners” ability to avoid third-party patent interference or intellectual property infringement
claims: and

our ability to in-license or acquire additional product candidates or commercial-stage products that we believe
we can suecessfully develop and commercialize,
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If we are unable to achicve one or more of the above factors, many of which are bevond our control, in a timely manner or at
all, we could expertence significant delays and increased costs or an inability to obtain regulatory approvals or commercialize
our product candidates, Even if regulatory approvals are obiained, we may never be able to successfully commercialize any
of our product candidates. Accordingly, we cannot assure vou that we will be able 1o generate sufficient revenue through the
sale of our product candidates or any future product candidates 1o continue operations.

According to the FDA Guidelines, we are required to complete a 90-day devmal minipig study and a standard dernval
pharmacokinetic study prior to holding an End of Phase 2 meeting with the agency. The minipig and pharmacokinetic
studies can be complicated, fime consuming, and expensive and we may be unsaccessful in completing the required
studies, which could prevent or delay the Phase 3 program and regulatory approval and commercialization.

Part of required drug development for topical products is completion of a 20-day dermal minipig study and a standard dermal
pharmacokinetic development plan prior to holding an End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA. This plan can be difficult to
design and conduct and its outcome is uncertain, As pant of this dermal pharmacokinetic development plan, we need o
develop and validate an analytical method to detect an analvie in rat, minipig and human plasma, which will be difficult, time
consuming, and expensive. While we have identified an analyte that is present in DMT3 10, we have vet to develop a method
with sufficient sensitivity to detect the analyte at the required levels. If we are delayed or unable o develop such method, we
may be m}uma-d 1o identify a new analyte of DMT3 10 1o use in the pharmacokinetic development plan. Even if we are able to
5l.n:ms5l' v develop a bioanalvtical method to detect the identified analyte, we still must validate the bioanalvtical method

good laboratory practice, or GLP, conditions. There 15 no guarantee that we will be able to do so successfully, If we are
un:ubh. to validate such a bioanalytical method then we may be required to develop a new bioanalytical method or identify a
new analyte for the pharmacokinetic development plan. which could prevemt or delay regulatory approval and
commercialization.

Prior to holding an End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA and after validating the bioanalvtical method under GLP
conditions, we must conduct a 90-day dermal minipig study and a maximum use pharmacokinetic study in humans, the
outcomes of which are unknown and difficult pr:dgicl. Due to delays and constraints in the global supply chain for the
minipigs to be used in the $0-day dermal minipig study, we may be forced to delay the start of such study. Additionally, if the
outcomes of these studies are not satisfactory 1o the FDA, we may be required 1o conduct the entire pharmacokinetic
development plan again, which could result in additional development costs and a delay in our development timeling, in
which case our business could be materially harmed.

Clinical drug development for our product candidates is very expensive, time-consuming and uncertain. Our clinical trials
may fail fo adeguarely demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which could prevent or delay
regulatory approval and commercialization.

Climical drug development for our product candidates is very expensive, time-consuming, difficult to design and implement
and its ovicome is inherently uncertain. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial sale of a product candidate,
we must demonstrate through clinical trials that a product candidate is both safe and effective for use in the target indication,
which is impossible to predict, Most product candidates that commence clinical trials are never approved by regulatory
authorities for commercialization. Our product candidates are in various stages of development and a failure of one more
clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing or at any time during the trial process. We expect that clinical trials for these
product candidates will continue for several years, but may take significantly longer than expected to complete.

We have not completed all clinical trials for the approval of any of our product candidates, We have vet to hold an End of
Phase 2 meeting with the FDA and do not know what feedback they will provide us. In previous communications with the
FDA they had asked us to show that hydrogen peroxide was not an active ingredient in our DMT3 10 product, If we do not
supply sufficient evidence and data to convinee the FDA that hydrogen peroxide is not an active ingredient and merely a
fluidizing agent (hydrogen peroxide), then we may have to alter our clinical plans or reformulate our product based on FDA
feedback. If we chose to reformulate our lead product, DMT310, then we may decide to redo our Phase 2 studies, which
would be time consuming and expensive and there is no cenainty of success,

We mag experience delays in ongoing and future clinical trials for our product candidates and do not know if future clinical
trials, if any, will begin on time, need 1o be redesigned. enroll adequate number of patients on time or be completed on
schedule, ifat all, In addition, we, any partner with which we currently or may in the future collaborate, the FD!\ an [RB or

other regulatory authorities. including state and local agencies and cou rt agencies in foreign countries, may suspend,
delay. require modifications to or terminate our clinical trials at any time, for various reasons, including:
. discovery of safety or tolerability concerns, such as serious or unexpected toxicities or side effects or

exposure to otherwise unacceptable health risks, experienced by study participants or other safety issues;

. lack of effectiveness of any product candidate during clinical trials or the failure of our product candidates to
meet specified endpoints;

. slower than expected rates of subject recruitment and enrollment rates or inability to enroll a sufficient
number of patients in clinical trials resulting from numerous factors, including the prevalence of other
companies” clinical inals for their product candidates for the same indication, or chinical triaks for indications
for which patients do not as commonly seek treatment;
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. delays or difficulties in our clinical trials due 1o quarantines or other restrictions resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic;

. difficulty in retaining subjects who have initiated a elinical trial but may withdraw at any time due to adverse
side effects from the therapy. insufficient efficacy, fatigue with the clinical trial process or for any other
reason;

. difficulty in obtaining IRB approval for studies to be conducted a1 each clinical wial site;

. delays in manufacturing or obtaining, or inability to facture or obtain, sufficient quantities of materials
for use in clinical trials;

. difficulty or inability to find a partner that will allow us to test their product for our DMT410 program;
. inadequacy of or changes in our manufacturing process or the product formulation or method of delivery;
. changes in applicable laws, regulations and regulatory policies;

. delays or failure in reaching agreement on acceptable terms in clinical trial contracts or protocols with
prospective CROs, clinical trial sites and other third-party contractors:

. inability to add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites:
. uncertainty regarding proper formulation and dosing;

. failure by us, our employees, our CROs or their employees or other third-party contractors 1o comply with
contractual and applicable regulatory requirements or to perform their services in a timely or acceplable
manner;

. failure by us, our emplovees, our CROs or their emplovees or any pariner with which we may collaborate or
their employees to comply with applicable FDA or other regulatory regquirements relating to the conduct of
clinical trials or the handling. storage, security and recordkeeping for drug and biologic products;

. scheduling conflicis with participating clinicians and clinical institutions;

. failure to design appropriate clinical trial protocols;

. insufficient data to support regulatory approval;

. inability or unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols; or

. difficulty in maintaining contact with subjects during or afier treatment, which may result in incomplete data,

In the case of our topical product candidates, we are seeking to deliver sufficient concentrations of the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, or API, through the skin barrier to the targeted dermal tissue to achieve the intended therapeutic effect. Asa
result, safety and efficacy can be difficult to establish. The topical route of administration may invelve new formulations and
dosage forms. which can be difficult to develop and manufacture and may raise novel regulatory issues and result in
development or review deluys. For example, the AP for DMT310 is a milled sponge powder, and we are not aware of
previous FIDDA approvals of sponges as a prescription drug.

We or any pariner with which we may collaborate may suffer significant setbacks in our clinical trials similar to the
experience of a number of other companices in the pharmaccutical and biotechnology industries, even after receiving
promising results in earlier trials, In the event that we or our potential partners abandon or are delayed in the clinical
development efforts related to our product candidates, we may not be able to execute on our business plan effectively and our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects would be harmed.

Changes in methods of product candidate mansfacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

As product candidates proceed through preclinical studies to late-stage clinical trials towards potential approval and
commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods and
formulation. are aliered along the way in an effort to optimize processes and results, Such changes carry the risk that they
will not achieve these intended objectives. Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently
and affect the results of planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. Such
changes may also require additional testing, FDA notification or FDA approval. This could delay completion of clinical
trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical trials.
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We may be wmable to obtain regulatory approval for DMT310, or our carfy-stage product candidates ander applicable
regulatory requirements. The FIA and foreign regulatory bodies have substantial discretion in the approval process,
including the abifity fo deluy, limit or deny approval of product candidates. The delay, lmitation or denial of any
regalatory approval woald adversely impact commercialization, our potential fo generate revenue, our business and our

operating results,

We currenily have no products approved for sale, and we may never oblain regulatory approval to commercialize any of our
current or future product candidates. The research, testing, manufacturing, safety surveillance, efficacy, quality control,
recordkeeping, labeling, packaging. storage, approval, sale, marketing, distribution, import, export, and reporting of safety
and other post-market information related to our drug products are subject 1o extensive regulation by the FDA and other
regulatory authorities in the United States and in foreign countries, and such regulations differ from country to country. We
are nol permitted to market any of our current product candidates in the United States until we receive approval of a new drug
application, or NDA, or other applicable regulatory filing from the FDA. We are also not perminted 1o market any of our
current product candidates in any foreign countries until we or our pariners receive the requisite approval from the applicable
regulatory authoritics of such countrics.

To gain approval to markel a new drug such as DMT310 or DMT410. the FDA and/or foreign regulatory authorities must
receive, among other things, preclinical and clinical data that adequately demonstrate the safety, purity, potency, eflicacy and
compliant manufacturing of the drug product for the intended indication applied for in an NDA, or other applicable
regulatory filing. The development and approval of a product derived from a natural source and new drug products involves a
long, expensive and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage. A number of companies in the
pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical indusiry have suffered significant setbacks in nonclinical development, clinical trials,
including in Phase 3 clinical development, even after pronmising resulls in earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials. These
setbacks have been caused by, among other things, findings made while clinical trials were underway and safety or eflicacy
observations made in clinical wrals, including previously unreported adverse events, Success in clinical trials does not ensure
that later clinical trials will be successful, or that nonclinical studies will be successful. The results of clinical trials by other
partics may not be indicative of the results in trials we or our partners may conduct. For example, for DMT310, the results of
our Phase 2a and Phase 2b clinical trials may not accurately predict results in Phase 3 clinical trials that will have larger
numbers of patients. Mor will the human safety data collected from our Phase 2a and Phase 2b clinical trial predict the
outcome of our pharmacokinetic plan.

The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability 1o
delay, limit or deny approval of product candidates for many reasons. The FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body
may:

. disagree with the design or implementation of one or more clinical trials;

. not deem a product candidare safe and effective for its proposed indication, or may deem a product
candidate’s safety or other perceived risks to outweigh its clinical or other benefits;

. ot find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to support approval, or the results of
clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA or the
applicable foreign regulatory body for approval;

. disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials performed by us or third
partics, or with the interpretation of any partner with which we may collaborate:

. determine the data collected from clinical trials may not be sufficient 1o support the submission of an NDA, or
other applicable regulatory filing;

. require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials;

. identify deficiencies in the formulation, quality control, labeling or specifications of our current or future
product candidates;

. require clinical trials in pediatric patients in order to establish pharmacokinetics or safety for this more drug-
sensitive population;

. grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional post-approval clinical trials;

] approve our current or any future product candidates for a more limited indication or a narrower patient
population than we originally requested or with strong warnings that may affect marketability;
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. not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our
product candidates;

. not approve of the manufacturing processes, controls or facilities of third-party manufacturers or testing labs
with which we contract;

. consider our products a device instead of a drug requiring a different approval process and manufacturing
needs;

. consider one of our products a combination product instead of a singular drug requiring additional clinical
trials or increased number of patients per study. or

. change its approval policies or adopt new regulations in a manner rendering our clinical data or regulatory
filings insufficient for approval,

There have been only two products approved by the FDA under the botanical guidance. Each of these products” active
ingredient was derived from the extract of a plant(s). Further, neither of the products were approved for the indication of
acne vulgaris. While freshwater sponges, such as Spongilla, are technically animals, because we are using the entirety of the
sponge for the DMT310 drug product. the FDA has allowed us to reference the botanical guidance for raw material quality
control relating to the manufacturing of the drug product, We do not know how any other regulatory authority will treat
DMT310 for their approval process. In addition, the FDA or other regulatory authorities may change their policies, issue
additional regulations or revise existing regulations or take other actions, which may prevent or delay approval of our future
products under development on a timely basis. Such policy or regulatory changes could impose additional requirements upon
us that could delay our ability to obtain approvals, increase the costs of compliance or restrict our ability to maintain any
marketing authorizations we may have obtained.

Any delay, limitation or denial in any applicable regulatory approval for any of our product candidates would delay or
adversely impact commercialization of our product candidates and would harm our business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects.

We are preparing to conduct our first Phase 3 clinical trials and may be wnable fo successfully complete it or any future
clinical trials,

The conduct of a Phase 3 clinical trial is a complicated process. Although members of our management team have conducted
Phase 3 elinical trials in the past while emploved at other companies, we as a company have not conducted a Phase 3 clinical
trial before, and as a result may require more time and incur greater costs than we anticipate. Failure to include the comrect
treatment regimen, complete, or delays in, our Phase 3 clinical trials, could prevent us from or delay us in commencing future
clinical trials for DMT3 10, obtaining regulatory approval of and commercializing our product candidates. which would
adversely impact our financial performance. In addition, some of our competitors are currently conducting clinical trials for
product candidates that treat the same indications as DMT3 10, and patients who are otherwise eligible for our clinical trials
may instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors” product candidates,

Patient enrollment is affected by other factors including:
. the severity of the discase under investigation;
. the eligibility criteria for the study in question;
- the perceived risks and benefils of the product candidate under study:
. the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;
. the patient referral practices of physicians;
. he ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment:
. the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients: and

. factors we may not be able to control, such as potential pandemics that may limit subjects, principal
investigators or staff or clinical site availability (e.g.. the outbreak of COVID-19).
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Even if vur current product candidatex or any future product candidates obiain regulatory approval, they may fail fo
achieve the broad degree of physician and paticit adoption and use necessary for commercial siceess,

The commercial success of any of our current or future product candidates, if approved. will depend significantly on the
broad adoption and use of the resulting product by physicians, patients and payors for approved indications, and may not be
commercially successiul. The degree and rate of adoption of our current or future product candidates, if appraved, will
depend on a number of factors, including;

the clinical indications for which the product is approved and patient demand for approved products thai treat
those indications;

the effectivencss of our product as compared 1o ather available therapies;

the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from managed care plans and other healthcare
pavors for any of our product candidates that may be approved:

the cost of treatment with our product candidates in relation to alternative treatments and willingness to pay
for the product, if approved, on the part of patients;

acceptance by physicians, major operators of clinics and patients of the product as a safe and effective
treatment;

physician and patient willingness to adopt a new therapy, including for DMT310, a sponge product, over
other available therapies to treat approved indications;

patients’ perception of a product derived from a freshwater sponge as one for which will provide medical
treatment;

overcoming any biases physicians or patients may have toward particular therapics for the treatment of
approved indications;

proper training and administration of our product candidates by physicians and medical staff;

paticnt satisfaction with the results and administration of our product candidates and overall treatment
experience;

the willingness of patients to pay for certain of our product candidates relative to other discretionary items,
especially during economically challenging times:

the revenue and profitability that our product candidate may offer a physician as compared to altermative
therapies;

the prevalence and severity of any side effects of our product candidates;

limitations or wamings contained in the FDA-approved labeling for our product candidates;

any FDA requirement to undertake a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS;

the effectiveness of our sales, marketing and distribution efforts;

our ability to maintain sufficiem quantities of supply to meet demand:

adverse publicity about our product candidates or favorable publicity about competitive products; and
potential product liability claims.

IF any of eur current or future product candidates are approved for use but fail to achieve the broad degree of physician and
patient adoption necessary for commercial success, our operating results and financial condition will be adversely affected,
which may delay, prevent or limit our ability to generate revenue and continue our business.
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We intend to seek NCE exclusivity for DMT318 and future product candidates, and we may be unsuccessful in obfaining
siech exclusivity.

As pant of our business strategy. we intend to seek new chemical entity, or NCE, exclusivity for DMT3 10 or future product
candidates. In the United States, a pharmaceutical manufacturer may obtain five years of non-patent exclusivity upon NDA
approval of an NCE which is a drug that containg an active moiety that has not been approved by the FDIA in any other NDA.
An “active moiety” is defined as the molecule or ion responsible for the drug substance’s physiological or pharmacologic
action. During the five-year exclusivity period, the FDA cannot accept for filing any ANDA secking approval of a generic
version of that drug or any 305(b)}2) NDA for the same active moicty and that relics on the FDAs findings regarding that
drug, except that FDA may accept an application for filing afler four vears if the follow-on applicant makes a paragraph 1V
certification, This exclusivity period may be extended by an additional six months if centain requirements are met to qualify
the product for pediatric exclusivity, including the receipt of a written request from the FDA that we conduct certain pediatric
studies, the submission of study reports from such studies 1o the FDA after receipt of the written request and satisfaction of
the conditions specified in the written request. We believe that DMT310 constitutes an NCE and should be eligible for NCE
exclusivity. However, we may be unable 1o successfully obtain such exclusivity, and if any of our competitors obtains FDA
approval of an MDA for a similar drug product before we do, they, and not us, may be eligible for NCE exclusivity. If we do
nat obtain NCE exclusivity for DMT310. or iff a competitor obtains NCE exclusivity for a similar product before we submit
and receive approval of an NDA for DMT310, our ability 1o commence sales and generale revenue would be adversely
affected.

hur product candidates, if approved, will face significant competition and our faifure fo effectively compete may prevent
us from achieving significant market penetration.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis
on developing proprietary therapeutics. Numerous pharmaceutical companies, generic drug companies, biotechnology
companies, cosmetic companies and academic and research institutions are engaged in the development, patenting,
manufacturing and marketing of health care products competitive with those that we are developing, including VYNE
Therapeutics, Cassiopea, Sol-Gel, Arcutis Biotherapeutics. Arena Pharmaceuticals, Amgen. AbbVie, Bristol Mevers Squib,
Lilly, Nestle, Pfizer, and others. Many of our competitors have greater financial resources, marketing capabilities, sales
forces, manufacturing capabilities, research and development capabilities, clinical wrial expertise, intellectual property
portfolios, experience in obiaining patents and regulatory approvals for product candidates and other resources than us. Some
of the companies that offer competing products also have a broad range of other product offerings, large direct sales forces
and long-term customer relationships with our target physicians, which could inhibit our market penctration efforts. In
addition, certain of our product candidates, if approved, may compete with other dermatological products, including over-the-
counter trealments, for a share of some patients” discretionary budgets and for physicians’ attention within their elinical
practices.

We anticipate that_ if we obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will face significant competition from
other approved therapics. 1T approved, our product candidates may also compete with unregulated, unapproved, off-label, and
over the counter treatments. Certain of our product candidates, if approved, will present novel therapeutic approaches for the
approved indications and will have to compete with existing therapies, some of which are widely known and accepted by
physicians and patients. To compete successfully in this market, we will have to demonstrate that the relative cost, safety and
efficacy of our approved products, if any, provide an attractive altemative to existing and other new therapies. Such
competition could lead to reduced market share for our product candidates and contribule to downward pressure on the
pricing of our product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects. For
more information about the competition we face, see “Busingss—Competition,”

Due to less stringent regulatory requirements in certain foreign countries, there are many more dermatological producis and
procedures available for use in those international markets than are approved for use in the United Srates. In certain
international markets, there are also fewer limitations on the claims that our competitors can make about the effectiveness of
their products and the manner in which they can market them. As a result, we expect to face more competition in these
markets than in the United States.




We expect to face genevic or simifar type of product competition for our product candidates, which could adversely affect
our busimess, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

Upon the expiration or loss of any patent protection for any of our product candidates that are approved, or upon the “at-risk™
launch, despite pending patent infringement litigation against the generic product or its equivalent, by a generic competitor of
a generic version of any of our product candidates that are approved, which may be sold at significantly lower prices than our
approved product candidates, we could lose a significant portion of sales of that product in a short period of time, which
would adversely affect our business, financial condition, eperating results and prospects.

It is unknown how the FDA or any regulatory authority will view an altempted generic version of DMT310 because it is
derived from a natural material that refers to principles of the botanical guidance. There are no currently approved generic
versions of a natural product on the market and no FDA guidelines on the approval process for a generic version of a natural
product. Therefore, it is unknown how difficult it will be for a generic version of a nawral product 1o be approved for
commercial sale in the United States, It is unclear whether the FDA will view Spongilia lacustris or a similar sponge species
that is harvested from a different location than DMT3 10 raw material is harvested as identical to DMT3 10 raw material and
therefore could follow the generic pathway to approval.

Any product candidates that we commercialize, or that any partner with which we may collaborate commercializes, will be
subject to ongoing and continued regulatory review,

Even after we or our parmers achieve ULS. regulatory approval for a product candidate, if any, we or our partners will be
subject to continued regulatory review and compliance obligations. For example, with respect to our product candidates, the
FDA may impase significant restrictions on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or on the
conditions of approval. A product candidate’s approval may contain requirements for potentially costly post-approval studics
and surveillance, including Phase 4 clinical trials or a REMS, 1o monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. We will also
be subject to ongoing FDA obligations and continued regulatory review with respect to. among other things, the
manufacturing, processing. labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, adventising, promotion and
recordkeeping for our product candidates, These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing
information and reports, regisiration, as well as continued compliance with cGMP requirements, with the FDA’s good
clinical practice. or GCP, or good agricultural and collections practices. or GACP, requirements and good laboratory practice,
or GLP, requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our product candidates in clinical
and preclinical development, and for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. To the extent that a product candidate
is approved for sale in other countries. we may be subject to similar restrictions and requirements imposed by laws and
government regulators in those countries.

If we, our pariners, our product candidates or the manufaciuring [acilities for our product candidates fail to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:

. impose restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, suspend or withdraw product approvals
or revoke necessary licenses:

. mandate modifications to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective information to healtheare
practitioners;
. require us or our pariners to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines,

reimbursements for inspection costs, required due dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance;

. issue warning letters, show cause notices or untitled letters describing alleged violations, which may be
publicly available;

. commence criminal investigations and proseculions;
. impose injunctions, suspensions or revocations of necessary approvals or other licenses;
. impose other civil or eriminal penalties;

. suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. delay or refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our
potential partners;

. refuse to permit drugs or precursor chemicals to be imponed or exported 1o or from the United States;
. suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or
. seize or detain products or require us or our partners to initiate a product recall.
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The regulations, policies or guidance of the FDA and other applicable government agencies may change and new or
additional statutes or government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product
candidates or further restrict or regulate post-approval activities, We cannot predict the likelihood. nature or extent of adverse
government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If
we are not able 1o achieve and maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our product candidates,
which would adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and achieve or mamtain profitability,

We may in che future conduct clinical trials for our product candidates oweside the United States and the FIDDA and
applicable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from swch irials,

We may in the future choose to conduct one or more of our clinical trials outside the United States, including in Canada,
Europe and South America. Although the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may accept data from clinical trials
conducted outside the United States or the applicable jurisdiction, acceptance of such study data by the FDA or applicable
forcign regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions. Where data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve
as the basis for marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will not approve the application on the basis of foreign data
alone unless those data are applicable 1o the LS. population and U.S. medical practice: the studies were performed by
clinical investigators of recognized competence; and the data are considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection
by the FDA or, if the FDA considers such an inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-
site inspection or other appropriale means. Many foreign regulatory bodies have similar requirements. In addition, such
foreign studies would be subject 1o the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the studics are conducted.
There can be no assurance the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted owside
of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory autharity does not accept such
data, it would likely result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of
our business plan,

Owr product candidates may couse undesirable side effects or bave other unexpected properfies that conld delay or
prevent their regulatory approval, limir the commercial profile of an approved label or vesult in post-approval regulatery
action.

Unforeseen side effects from any of our product candidates could arise either during clinical development or, if approved,
afier the approved product has been marketed. Undesirable side effects caused by produet candidates could cause us. any
partners with which we may collaborate or regulatory authorities to interrupt, modify, delay or halt elinical trials and could
result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable foreign authorities.
Results of clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects. Tn such an event, trials
could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authaorities could order us, or our potential
partners, (o cease further development of or deny approval of product candidates for any or all targeted indications. The drug-
related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in product
linbility claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

Additionally, if we or others identify undesirable side effects, or other previously unknown problems, caused by our product
candidates afler obtaining U.S, or foreign regulatory approval or other products with the same or related active ingredients, a
number of potemtially negative consequences could result, including:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product:

. regulatory authorities may require a recall of the product or we or our potential partners may voluntarily recall
a product;

. regulatory authorities may require the addition of wamings or contraindications in the product labeling,
narrewing of the indication in the product label or ficld alerts to physicians and pharmacies:

. we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution o
patients or institute & REMS:;

. we may have limitations on how we promaote the product;

. we may be required to change the way the product is administered or modify the product in some other way;
the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may require additional clinical trials or costly post-
marketing testing and surveillance 1o monitor the safety or efficacy of the product;
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. the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may require additional clinical trials or costly post-
marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product

. sales of the product may decrease significantly:
. we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and
. our brand and reputation may suffer.

Any of the above events resulting from undesirable side effects or other previously unknown problems could prevent us or
our potential pariners from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could
substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates.

We may face product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial Babiliy
if onr insurance coverage for those claims is inadequate.

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our product candidates and will face an even
greater risk if we commercialize any products, Thiz nisk exists even if a produet is approved for commergial sale by the FDA
and manufactured in facilities licensed and regulated by the FDA or an applicable foreign regulatory authority. Our products
and product candidates are designed (o affect important bodily functions and processes. Any side effects, manufacturing
defiects, misuse or abuse associated with our product candidates could result in injury to a patient or even death. We cannot
offer any assurance that we will not face product liability suits in the future, nor can we assure you that our insurance
coverage will be sufficient 1o cover our liability under any such cases.

In addition, a liability claim may be brought against us even if our product candidates merely appear to have caused an
injury. Product liability claims may be brought against us by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies or
others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our product candidates, among others. 1f we cannot successfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims we will incur substantial liabilities and reputational harm. In addition, regardless of
mieril o eventual outcome, produet liability claims may result in:

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

. inability 1o gain regulatory approval of our product candidates:

. the inability to commercialize our product candidates;

. decreased demand for our product candidates,

. impairment of our business reputation;

. product recall or withdrawal from the market or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

. substantial costs of any related litigation or similar disputes;

. distraction of management’s attention and other resources from our primary business;

. substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants against us that may not be covered by insurance; or

. loss of revenue.

We currently maintain product liability insurance coverage, which may not be sufficient to cover all of our product liability
related expenses or losses and may not cover us for any expenses or losses we may suffer, Moreover, insurance coverage is
becoming increasingly expensive, and. in the future. we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost,
in sufficient amounts or upon adequate terms to protect us against losses due to product liability. We will need to increase our
product liability coverage if any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, which will be costly, and we may be
unable to obtain this increased product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, A successful product
liahility claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our
insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and
Pprospecs.

45




If any of our product candidates are approved for marketing and we are found to0 have improperly promoted off<label
wses, oF if physicians misuse our products or use our prodisces off-label, we may become subject to profibitions on the sale
or marketing of our products, produce Gability claims amd significans fines, penalties and sanctions, and our brand and
reputation could be harmed,

The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the marketing and promational claims that are made about drug and
biologic products, In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses or indications that are not approved by the FDA or
stuich other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product’s approved labeling and comparative safety or efficacy claims
cannot be made without direct comparative clinical data. I we are found to have promoted off-label uses of any of our
product candidates, we may receive warning or untitled letters and become subject to significant liability, which would
materially harm our business, Both federal and state governments have levied large civil and criminal fines against
companies for alleged improper promotion and have enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. If we
become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our marketing and promotional practices, we could face
similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business. In addition, management’s attention could be diveried from our
business operations, significant legal expenses could be incurred and our brand and reputation could be damaged. The FDA
has also requesied that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional
conduct is changed or curtailed. 17 we are deemed by the FDA to have engaged in the promotion of our products for ofT-label
use, we could be subject 1o FDA regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letier, a waming
letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine or criminal penalties. It is also possible that other federal. state or foreign enforcement
authorities might take action if they consider our business activities constitute promotion of an ofl-label use, which could
result in significant penalties, including criminal, civil or administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion
from participation in government healthcare programs and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations.

We cannot, however, prevent a physician from using our product candidates outside of those indications for use when in the
physician’s independent professional medical judgment he or she deems appropriate, Physicians may also misuse our product
candidates or use improper techniques, potentially leading to adverse results, side effects or injury, which may lead to
product liability claims. If our product candidates are misused or used with improper technigue, we may become subject to
costly litigation by physicians or their patients. Furthermore, the use of our product candidates for indications other than
those cleared by the FDXA may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm our reputation among physicians and
patients.

We may cheose not to contfnie develaping or commercializing any of enr prodict candidates at any time during
development or after approval, which wonld reduce or eliminate our pofential requrn on invesinent for those produce
candidates,

At any time, we may decide to discontinue the development of any of our product candidates or not 1o contlinue
commercializing one or more of our approved product candidates for a variety of reasons, including the appearance of new
technologies that make our product obsolete, competition from a competing product or changes in or failure to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements. If we terminate a program in which we have invested significant resources, we will not
receive any return on our investment and we will have missed the opportunity to have allocated those resources to potentially
mare productive uses,

For example, on December 5, 2022, we announced topline results from our Phase 2 wial of once-weekly topical application
of DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe rosacea. While the data was supportive of DMT3 10 as a treatment for
inflammatory skin discases, the rosacea study did not meet its primary endpoints. Based on the forcgoing. we have decided
not to devote any further financial resources to development of this indication for DMT310, and we have determined not to
pursue further development efforts regarding this indication for DMT310.

We or our current and prospective partners may be subject to product recalls in the futwre that could harm oo brand and
reputation and conld negatively affect our business,

We or our current and prospective pariners may be subject to product recalls, withdrawals or seizures if any of our product
candidates, if approved for marketing, fail to meet specifications or are believed to cause injury or illness or if we are alleged
to have violated governmental regulations including those related 1o the manufacture, labeling, promotion, sale or
distribution, Any recall, withdrawal or seizure in the future could materially and adversely affect consumer confidence in our
brands and lead 1o decreased demand for our approved products. In addition, a recall, withdrawal or seizure of any of our
approved products would require significant management attention, would likely result in substantial and unexpected
expenditures and would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
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If we or any partmers with which we may collaborate are umable to achieve and maintain coverage and adeguate levels of
reimbursement for any of wur product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval, or any future prodiuces we
miay seek to commercialize, their commercial success may be severely hindered.

For any of our product candidates that become available only by prescription, successful sales by us or by any partners with
which we may collaborate depend on the availability of coverage and adeguate reimbursement from third-party payors,
Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatment of their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse
all or part of the costs associuted with their prescription drugs. The availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from
governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private third-party payors is critical 1o new product
acceptance. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and cconomic standards that disfavor new drug products when
more established or lower cost therapeutic allematives are already available or subsequently become available. I any of our
product candidates do not demonstrate attractive efficacy profiles, they may not qualify for coverage and reimbursement,
Even il we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting reimbursement payvment rates might not be adequate or may
require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients arc unlikely to use our products unless coverage is
provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our products.

In addition, the market for our product candidates will depend significantly on access to third-party payvors’ drug formularies,
or lists of medications for which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement. The industry competition to be
included in such formularies often leads to downward pricing pressures on pharmaceutical companies. Also, third-party
payors may refuse to inchade a particular branded drug in their formularics or otherwise restrict patient access to a branded
drug when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is available.

Further. third-party payors, whether foreign or domestic, or governmenial or commercial, are developing increasingly
sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. Tn addition, in the United States, although private third-party payors
tend to follow Medicare, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party
payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result,
the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and
clinical support for the use of our product candidates to each pavor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate
reimbursement will be obtained,

Further, we believe that future coverage and reimbursement will likely be subject 1o increased restrictions both in the United
States and in international markets. Third-party coverage and reimbursement for any of our product candidates for which we
may receive regulatory approval may not be available or adequate in either the United States or imemational markets, which
could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

Healtheare legislative or regulatory reform measures, including government restrictions on pricing and reimbursement,
may have a megative impact on our business and resulis of operations.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and continue to be, several legislative and regulatory
changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of product
candidates, restrict or regulate post approval activities, and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates lor
which we obtain marketing approval,

Among policy makers and payors in the United States and clsewhere, there is significant interest in promoting changes in
healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and’or expanding access. In the
United States, the pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these effonts and has been significantly affected by
major legislative initiatives. For example, in the United Staies, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, or the
ACA, substantially changed the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers and significantly
affects the pharmaceutical industry. Many provisions of the ACA impact the biopharmaceutical industry, including that in
order for a biopharmaceutical product to receive federal reimbursement under the Medicare Pan B and Medicaid programs or
o be sold directly to ULS. government agencies, the manufacturer must extend discounts to entities eligible to participate in
the drug pricing program under the Public Health Services Act, or PHS. Since ils enactment, there have been judicial and
Congressional challenges and amendmenis to certain aspects of the ACA. There is continued uncertainty about the
implementation of the ACA, including the potential for further amendments to the ACA and legal challenges 1o or efforts to
repeal the ACA.
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Additionally, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny in the United States of pharmaceutical pricing practices in
light ef the rising cost of preseription drugs and biologics. On September 9, 2021, the Biden Administration published a
wide-ranging list of policy proposals, most of which would need 1o be carried out by Congress, to reduce drug prices and
drug payment. The United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS™) plan includes, among other reform
measures, proposals to lower prescription drug prices, including by allowing Medicare to negotiate prices and
disincentivizing price increases, and to support market changes that strengthen supply chains, promote biosimilars and
generic drugs, and increase price transparency. These initiatives recently culminated in the enactment of

the Inflation Reduction Act (the “IRA") in August 2022, which will, among other things, allow the HHS to negotiate the
selling price of certain drugs and biologics that the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS”) reimburses under
Medicare Part B and Pant D, although only high-expenditure single-source drugs that have been approved for at least 7 years
{11 years for biologics) can be selected by CMS for negotiation, with the negotiated price taking effect two vears after the
selection year. The negotiated prices, which will first become effective in 2026, will be capped at a statutory ceiling price
beginning in October 2023, penalize drug manufacturers that increase prices of Medicare Part B and Part D drugs at a rate
greater than the rate of inflation. The IRA permits the Secretary of HHS to implement many of these provisions through
guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the initial years. Manufacturers that fail to comply with the IRA may be subject to
various penalties, including civil monetary penalties. The IRA also extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing
healih insurance coverage in ACA marketplaces through plan year 2025, These provisions will take effect progressively
starting in 2023, although they may be subject to legal challenges.

Other examples of proposed changes include, but are not limited to, expanding post-approval requirements, changing the
Orphan Drug Act, and resiricting sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products,

We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether government regulations, guidance or
interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes would be on the marketing approvals, sales, pricing, or
reimbursement of our drug candidates or products, if any, may be. We expect that these and other healtheare reform measures
that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the
price that we receive for any approved drug. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government progranms
may resull in a similar reduction in payments frem private pavors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other
healtheare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our drugs.

In addition, FDA regulations and guidance may be revised or reinterpreted by the FDA in ways that may significantly affect
our business and our products. Any new regulations or guidance, or revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations or
guidance, may impose additional costs or lengthen FDA review times for DMT310 or any future product candidates, We
cannot determine how changes in regulations, statutes, policies, or interpretations when and if issued, enacted or adopted,
miay affect our business in the future. Such changes could, among other things, require:

. additional clinical trials to be conducted prior to obtaining approval:

. changes to manufacturing methods;

. recalls, replacements, or discontinuance of one or more of our products; and
. additional recordkecping.

Such changes would likely require substantial time and impose significant costs, or could reduce the potential commercial
value of DMT310 or other product candidates. In addition, delays in receipi of or fatlure to receive regulatory clearances or
approvals for any other products would harm our business, financial condition. and results of operations.

We may also be subject fo healthcare lows, regulation and enforcement and our failure to comply with those laws conld
adversely affect our business, operations amd financial condition.

Certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients” rights are and will be
applicable to our business. We are subject to regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we or our
partners conduct our business. The laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly
and willfully offering, soliciting, receiving or providing any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or
rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce either the referral of an
individual or in retum for the purchase, lease. or order of any good, facility item or service. for which
payment may be made, in whole or in pan, under federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and
Medicaid programs;




. federal civil and criminal false claims lows and civil monetary penalty laws, including, for example, the
federal civil False Claims Act, which impose criminal and civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui
tam actions, against individuals or entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be
presenied, to the federal government. including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, claims for pavment that
are false or fraudulent or making a false statement 1o avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to
the federal government:

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new
federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme
to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations
or promises, any of the money or property owned by. or under the custody or control of, any healthcare
benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private), knowingly and willfully embezzling or
stealing from a health care benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a health care
offense and knowingly and willfully falsifving, concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material
fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare
benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters;

. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their
implementing regulations, which impose obligations on covered entities, including healthcare providers,
health plans, and healtheare clearinghouses, as well as their respective business associates that create, receive,
maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a covered entity, with
respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

. the federal physician sunshine requirements under the Affordable Care Act, which require manufacturers of
drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies to repont annually to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services information related to payments and other transfers of value provided to physicians and teaching
hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members:
and

. state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws, which
may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers; state laws
that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance
guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, or otherwise
restrict payments that may be provided to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources: state laws
that require drug manufacturers to report information related to pavments and other transfers of value to
healtheare providers or marketing expenditures; and state laws governing the privacy and security of health
information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not
hawve the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the namowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available, it is possible
that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. In addition, recent health
care reform legislation has strengthened these laws. For example, the recently enacted Affordable Care Act, among other
things, amended the intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and certain criminal healthcare fraud statutes. A
person or entity no longer needs 1o have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the
Affordable Care Act provided that the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a
violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purpeses of the federal civil False
Claims Act,

Achieving and sustaining comphiance with these laws may prove costly, In addition, any action against us for violation of
these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divent our
management’s attention from the operation of our business. If our operations are found 10 be in violation of any of the laws
described above or any other governmental laws or regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including
administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, the exclusion from participation in federal and
state healthcare programs, individual imprisonment or the curtailment or restructuring of our eperations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results.
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Chiir business invalves the use of hazardeus materials and we and our third-party siappliers and manafactiorers miust
comply with environmental fows and regulavions, which can be expensive and restrict funw we do business.,

The manufacturing activities of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers involve the controlled storage, use and disposal
of hazardous materials owned by us, incleding the components of our product candidates and other hazardous compounds,
We and our manufacturers and suppliers are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage,
handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. In some cases, these hazardous materials and various wastes resulting
from their use are stored at our suppliers’ or manufacturers’ facilities pending use and disposal. We and our supplicrs and
manufacturers cannol completely eliminate the risk of contamination, which could cause an interruption of our
commercialization efforts, research and development efforts and business operations, injury to our service providers and
others and environmental damage resulting in costly clean-up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations goveming
the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. Although we believe that the safety
procedures utilized by our third-party suppliers and manufacturers for handling and disposing of these materials generally
comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, we cannot guarantee that this is the case or elimmalte the
risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In such an event, we may be held liable for any resulting
damages and such liability could exceed our resources. We do not currently carry biological or hazardous waste insurance
coverage.

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consuitants, vendors, CROs and any partners with which
we may collaborate may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory
standards und requirements,

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, CROs
and any partners with which we may collaborate may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these
persons could include intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or unauthorized activity that vielates: laws or regulations,
including those laws requiring the reporting of true. complete and accurate information to the FDA or foreign regulatory
authorities; manufacturing standards; federal, state and foreign healthcare frand and abuse laws and data privacy; or laws that
require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. In particular, sales, marketing and other
business arrangements in the healtheare industry are subject to extensive laws intended to prevent (raud, kickbacks, self-
dealing and other abusive practices. These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide range of business activities, including
research, manufacturing, distribution, pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive
programs and other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of clinical trials, or illegal misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions
or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure 1o be in compliance with such laws or regulations, and serious harm to
our reputation, In addition, federal procurement laws impose substantial penalties for misconduct in connection with
government contracts and require cenain contractors to maintain a code of business ethics and conduct. IFany such actions
are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a
significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs,
contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future eamings, and curtailment of our operations, any of
which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our operating results,

e future growth depends, in part, on our ability 1o penerrace foreign markets, where we wonld be subject o additional
regulatory burdens and other risks and uncertainties.

Our future profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to commercialize our product candidates in foreign markets for
which we intend to rely on collaborations with third parties. If we commercialize DMT3 10 or our other product candidates in
foreign markets, we would be subject to additional nsks and uncertainties, mcluding:

. our customers” ability to obtain market access and appropriate reimbursement for our product candidates in
foreign markets;

. our inability 1o directly control commercial activities because we are relying on third parties;

. the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, fax, accounting and legal
requirements;

. different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceplance in the marketplace
. import or export licensing requirements;

. longer accounts receivable collection times;

. longer lead times for shipping:

. language barriers for technical training;

. reduced protection of intellectual propenty rights in some for¢ign countries;

50




. foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

. the interpretation of contractiual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.

Foreign sales of our product candidates could also be adversely affected by the imposition of govemmenial l:onlml':. political
and economic instability, trade restrictions and changes in tanffs, any of which may adversely affect our results of operations.

Development of test methodology for DMT310 presents unigue challenges due te the complex mixture of constituents in
the product. Determination of appropriate assay(s) for release and gualiny control evaluations could reqicire significant
development time amd cost to successfully complere and uncertain,

DMT310 is comprised of both inorganic and organic constituents, and unlike most pharmaceutical cts, there is no
single active component to charnclcﬂzc for purposes of assay development. In order to release the drug product and test for
stability we plan to develop a cell-based bioassay 10 assess inhibitory effeets of DMT310 on pro-inflammatory cytokines
knowit to play a role in the pathogenesis of various skin diseases. While this approach may show activity, it may not bf
suitable as a quality control release potency assay for DMT310. Furthermore, this technique may not have sufficient
sensitivity o be considered stability-indicating and detect small changes or degradation to the product. If we are not able to
develop a suitable potency assay utilizing this approach, we may have to identify and develop an alternative bioassay
platform or secondary approaches that may require additional orthogonal m:hudnlngacs 10 meet our testing requirements,
This could be expensive, time consuming and its success uncertain, leading to delays in filing of the NDA.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We are dependent on one supplier for the raw material used to produce DT 10 and DMT410. The termination of this
contract would result in a disruption o product development and our bisiness will be harnned,

We curmently only have one qualified source of supply for the raw material used in DMT310 and DMT410, While we have an
exclusive supply agreement with our supplier. our supplier may not comply with the terms of our agreement and may supply
to third parties, DMT3 10 and DMT410 contain a wild growing freshwater sponge that grows in an area of the Volga river
delta in Russia that is partially protected by a Russian government entity. The Russian govermnment entity allocates a quantity
of freshwater sponge that may be harvested each harvest season and may determine in any vear that no sponge or a smaller
quantity of sponge than harvested in previous years may be harvested in a particular vear, which could impact our ability to
obtain raw material to manufacture and supply DMT310 and DMT410. If we have not adequately stockpiled raw materials,
or even if we do stockpile raw material, we could not have enough raw material to meet the quantity demands to conduct our
non-clinical and clinical studies or to supply product for the market if approved

The freshwater sponge contained in DMT310 and DMT410 can only be harvested once per year based on the presence of
certain environmental conditions. 1f these environmental conditions are not present during the harvest season, then our
supplier may not be able to harvest the raw material required, which could impact our ability to manufacture and supply
DMT310 and DMT410. The ability of our supplier to harvest the sponge may also be impacted by severe weather and limit
the |m?m of time they can harvest, which could limit the amount of raw material that can be harvested, which mav impact
our ability to manufacture and supply DMT310 and DMT410. The portion of the Volga river delta where the sponge grows
could also become contaminated from pollutants, which could contaminate the sponge to be harvested by our supplier,
making it unusable in humans, impacting our ability to manufacture and supply DMT3 10 and DMT410.

Even il we are able o obtain supply, we and our supplier are exposed 1o a number of envirenmental and geopolitical risks,
including;

. risk of contamination being introduced in the Volga river, thereby polluting the spengilla fecustris population
through environmental factors that we cannot control, which could result in new impurities or reduced supply
of raw materials;

. loss of Spongilla lacustris habitat and other similar environmental risks to the sponge population whether due
to climate change, over-development, or otherwise;

. risk of disease in the Spongilla locustris geographic area where harvested;
. risk of trade issues between the US. and Russia:

. restrictions on trade of certain items between the U.5. and Russia;
. restriction on means of payment with Russian entitics; and
. other unforeseen geopolitical factors that limit our ability access our supply of raw material.
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Restrictions could be imposed on the harvesting of the raw material. Such events could have a significant impact on our cost
and ability to produce DMT310 and DMT410 and anticipated line extensions. The country from which we obtain the raw
material could change its laws and regulations regarding the export of the natural products or impose or increase taxes or
duties payable by exporters of such products. In addition, any business, glebal or cconomic challenges our existing supplier
faces, whether in the ordinary course of business or not, could impair its ability to supply our needs for raw materials.
Accordingly, there is a risk that supplies of our raw materials may be significantly delaved by or may become unavailable as
a result of any issues affecting our supply and production of naturally sourced products. In addition, if we need a new or
additional suppliers, it may take a substantial amount of time and financial resources to identify any additional supplier(s)
who can supply our required raw materials in the quality and quantity required lfor our pre-clinical and we may not be able 1o
negotiate new agreements with an alternate or new supplier on terms that we deem commercially reasonable or at all, and the
failure by us to enter into such agreements could harm our financial condition, business, clinical trials and prospects.

Our business may be affected by mew sanctions and export conrols targeting Russia and other responses to Russia's
invasion of Ukraine.

As a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the United States, the United Kingdom and the European Union governments,
among others, have developed coordinated sanctions and expori-control measure packages against Russian individuals and
entitics, Wie are currently a party to an exclusive supply agreement for the supply of the Spongilla raw material used in
DMT310 and DMT410. The counterparty to this supply agreement is a Russian entity, To date, none of these sanctions or
export=controls have impacted our ability 1o perform under our supply agreement. However, the imposition of enhanced
expon controls and economic sanctions on transactions with Russia and Russian entities by the United States, the United
Kingdom, and/or the European Union could prevent us from perfonming under this existing contract or any future contract we
may enter or remitting payment for raw material purchased from our supplier. We received two shipments of Spongilla raw
material from our supplier during fiscal year 2022 containing additional quantities of Spongilla raw material which we
believe will provide us with sull‘l?ciem quantities of Spongilfa to initiate and complete two Phase 3 studies in moderate-to-
severe acne and support filing a new drug application for DMT310 in acne in the event of the successful completion of two
Phase 3 studies. Depending on the extent and breadth of new sanctions or export controls that may be im

against Russia, otherwise or as a result of the impact of the war in the Ukraine, it is possible that our business, results of
operations, and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We have in the pasi relied and expect to continge to rely on third-party CROs and other thivd parties to conduct and
oversee our clinical irials and other aspects of product developmeni. If these third pariies do not meet anr requirements or
otherwise comduct the trials as required, we may mot be able to satisfy our contraciuval obligations or sbrain regulatory
approval for, or commercialize, our product candidaces when expected or ar all.

We have in the past relied and expect to continue to rely on third-party CROs to conduct and oversee our clinical trials and
other aspects of product development. We also rely upon various medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract
laboratories to conduct our trials in accordance with our clinical protocols and all applicable regulatory requirements,
including the FDIA's regulations and GCPs, which are an international standard meant to protect the rights and health of
patients and to define the roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators and monitors, and state regulations goveming the
handling, storage, security and recordkeeping for drug and biologic products. These CROs and other third parties play a
significant role in the conduct of these trials and the subsequent collection and analvsis of data from the clinical mals. We
rely heavily on these parties for the execution of our clinical trials and preclinical studies, and control only certain aspects of
their activities. We and our CROs and other third-party contractors are required to comply with GCF, GLP, and GACP
requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities for
products in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforee these GCP, GLP and GACP requirements through periodic
mspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites, 1f we or any of these third parties fail to comply with
applicable GCP, GLP and GACP requirements, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and
the FDA or other regulatory authority may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our or our
partners’ marketing applications. We cannot assure vou that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory
authority will determine that any of our clinical or preclinical trials complies with applicable GCP and GLP requirements. In
addition, our clinical trials must generally be conducted with product produced under cGMP regulations, Our failure
comply with these regulations and policies may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval
process.

Our CROs are not our emplovees, and we do not control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our
clinical trials, Our CROs may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom
they may also be conducting clinical trials, or other drug development activities, which could harm our competitive position.
We face the risk of potential unsuthorized disclosure or misappropriation of our intellectual property by CROs, which may
reduce our trade secret protection and allow our potential competitors to access and exploit our proprietary technology. If our
CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations. fail to meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or
accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory
requirements or for any other reason, our clinical trials may be extended. delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to
obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize any product candidate that we develop. As a result, our
financial results and the commercial prospects for any product candidate that we develop would be harmed, our costs could
merease, and our ability 10 generate revenue could be delaved
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If any of our CROs or clinical trial sites terminate their involvement in one of our clinical trials for any reason, we may not
be able to enter into arrangements with altiemative CROs or clinical trial sites, or do so on commercially reasonable terms, In
addition, if our relationship with clinical trial sites is terminated, we may experience the loss of follow-up information on
paticnts enrolled in our ongoing clinical trials unless we are able to transfer the carce of those patients to another qualified
clinical trial site. In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants Lo us
from time 1o time and could receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and
any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable
clinical trinl site may be questioned by the FDA

We rely completely on third-party contractors to supply, manufacoure and distribuce clinical drug supplies for our product
candidates, including certain sole-source suppliers and fi ers, we infend fo rely on third parties for commercial
supply, mamafacturing and distribution i any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval and we expect to rely
on fhird parties for supply, manufaciuring and distribution of preclinical, clinical and commercial supplies of any fufure
product candidates,

We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability to supply. manufacture or distribute
preclinical, clinical or commercial quantities of drug substances or producis. Our ability to develop our product candidates
depends and our ability to commercially supply our products will depend, in part. on our ability to successfully obtain the raw
malerials and APls and other substances and materials used in our product candidates from third parties and to have finished
products manufactured by third parties in accordance with regulatory requirements and in sufficicnt quantities for preclinical
and clinical testing and commercialization. 17 we fail to develop and maintain supply relationships with these third parties, we
may be unable to continue to develop or commencialize our product candidates.

We rely and will continue fo rely on certain third parties as the sole source of the materials they supply or the finished
products they manufacture, Any of our existing suppliers or manufacturers may:

. fail to supply us with product on a timely basis or in the requested amount due to unexpected damage to or
destruction of facilities or equipment or otherwise;

. fail to increase manufacturing capacity and produce drug product and components in larger quantities and at
higher yields in a timely or cost-effective manner, or at all. to sufficiently meet our commereial needs;

. be unable to meet our production demands due to issues related to their reliance on sole-source suppliers and
manufacturers;

. supply us with product that fails 1o meet regulatory requirements;
. become unavailable through business inferruption or financial insolvency;
. lose regulatory status as an approved source;

. be unable or unwilling to renew current supply agreements when such agreements expire on a timely basis, on
acceptable terms or at all; or

. discontinue production or manufacturing of necessary drug substances or products.

In the event of any of the foregoing, if we do not have an altemative supplier or manufacturer in place, we would be required
o expend subsianiial management time and expense to identify, qualify and transfer processes (o alternative suppliers or
manufacturers. Transferring technology to other sites may require additional processes, technologies and validation studies,
which are costly, may take considerable amounts of time, may not be successful and, in most cases, require review and
approval by the FDA, Any need 1o find and qualify new suppliers or manufacturers could significantly delay production of
our product candidates, adversely impact our ability to market our product candidates and adversely affect our business,
Replacements may not be available to us on a timely basis, on acceptable terms or at all. Additionally, we and our
manufacturers do not currently maintain significant inventory of drug substances and other materials, Any interraption in the
supply of a drug substance or other material or in the manufacture of our product candidates could have a material adverse
effiect on our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects,
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We do not have direct control over the ability of our contract suppliers and manufacturers to maintain adequate capacity and
capabilities to serve our needs, including quality control. quality assurance and qualified personnel. Although we are
ultimately responsible for ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements such as cGMPs and GACP, we are dependent
on our contract suppliers and manufacturers for day-to-day compliance with ¢cGMPs or GACP for production of raw
materials, APls, and finished products. Facilities used by our contract suppliers and manufacturers to produce the APls and
other substances and materials or finished products for commercial sale must pass inspection and be approved by the FDA
and other relevant regulatory authorities. Our contract suppliers and manufacturers must comply with ¢cGMP and GACP
requirements enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program and review of submitted technical information. If
the safety of any product or product candidate or component is compromised dug 1o a falure 1o adhere 1o applicable laws or
for other reasons, wie may not be able to successfully commercialize or obtain regulatory approval for the affected product or
product candidate, and we may be held liable for injuries sustained as a resull. Any of these factors could cause a delay or
termination of preclinical studies, clinical trials or regulatory submissions or approvals of our product candidates, and could
l:ll'lllail higher costs or result in our being unable to effectively commercialize our approved products on a timely basis, or at
all.

In addition, these contract manufacturers are engaged with other companies to supply and manufacture materials or products
for such companies, which also exposes our supphiers and manufacturers to regulatory risks for the production of such
materials and products. As a result, failure to meet the regulatory requirements for the production of those materials and
products may also affect the regulatory clearance of a contract supplier’s or manufacturer’s facility, 1fthe FDA ora
comparable foreign regulatory agency does not approve these facilities for the supply or manufacture of our product
candidates, or if it withdraws its approval in the future, we may need to find alternative supply or manufacturing facilities,
which :;:uld negatively impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval of or market our product candidates, if
approved.

Owr reliance on contract manufacturers and suppliers further exposes us to the possibility that they, or third parties with
access 1o their facilities, will have access to and may misappropriate our trade secrets or other proprictary information.

In addition, the manufacturing facilities of certain of our suppliers, including our supplier of Spongilla locusiriz. are located
outside of the United States. This may give rise to difficuliies in importing our products or product candidates or their
components into the United States or other countries as a result of, among other things, regulatory agency approval
requirements or import inspections, incomplete or inaccurate import documentation or defective packaging.

If we are not able to establish and maintain collaborations, we may have to alter onr development and commercialization
plans.

The development and potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional cash to fund
expenses. [n order to fund further development of our product candidates, we may collaborate with pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies for the development and potential commercialization of those product candidates. We face
significant competition in secking appropriate partners. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will
depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the partner’s resources and experience, the terms and conditions of the
proposed collaboration and the proposed panner’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or
results of clinical trials; the likelihood of approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities; the potential market for the
subject product candidate; the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering such product candidate to patients; the
potential of competing products; any uncertainty with respect 1o our ownership of our intellectual property: and industry und
market conditions generally, The partner may also consider altemative product candidates or technologies for similar
indications that may be available for collaboration and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one
with us for our product candidate. We may also be restricted under luture license agreements from entering into agreements
on certain terms with potential partners, Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document, In
addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that
have resulted in a reduced number of potential future partners,

Future collaborations we may enter into may involve the following risks:

. collaborators may have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to
these collaborations;

. collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected:

. changes in the collaborators” strategic focus or available funding, or external factors. such as an acquisition,
may diver resources or create competing priorities;

. collaborators may delay discovery and preclinical development, provide insufficient funding for product
development of targets selected by us. stop or abandon discovery and preclinical development for a product
candidate, repeat or conduct new discovery and preclinical development for a product candidate;
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. collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or
indirectly with our products or product candidates if the collaborators believe that competitive products are
maore likely to be successfully developed than ours;

. product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive
with their ewn product candidates or products, which may cause collaborators to cease 10 devote resources to
the development of our product candidates;

. disagreements with collaborators, including disagreemenis over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or
the preferred course of development, might cause delays or termination of the discovery, preclinical
development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities for us with
respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time-
consuming and expensive:

. collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or intellectual property
rights licensed 10 us or may use our proprictary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could
Jjeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential
Iitigation;

. collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation
and potential liability: and

. collaborations may be terminated for the convenience of the collaborator and, i terminated, we could be
required 1o raise additional capital to pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable
product candidates.

Collaborations typically impose detailed obligations on each party. If we were to breach our obligations, we may face
substantial consequences, including potential termination of the collaboration, and our rights to our partners” product
candidates, in which we have invested substantial time and money, would be lost,

We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms or at all, If we are unable 1o do s0, we
may have to cunail the development of a product candidate. reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our
other development programs, delay its potential commercialization or increase our expenditures and undertake development
or commercialization activitics at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or
commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available 10 us on
accepiable terms or at all. Ifwe do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or
bring them to market and generate product revenue.

Risks Related to Managing Our Growth, Our Employees and Our Operations

We will need to further increase the size and complexity of our organization in the fature, and we may experience
difficulties in executing our growth strategy and managing any growth,

Our management, personnel, svstems and facilities currently in place are not adequate 1o support our business plan and near-
term future growth. We will need to further expand our chemistry and manufacturing team, clinical team, managerial,
operational, financial, and other resources to supporn our planned research, development and commercialization activities,

To manage our operations, growth and various projects effectively requires that we;

. confinue to improve our operational, financial, management and regulatory compliance controls and reporting
systems and procedures;

. attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented emplovees;
. develop a marketing, sales and distribution capability;

. manage our commercialization activities for our product candidates effectively and in a cost-effective
manner;

. establish and maintain relationships with development and commercialization partners;
. manage our preclimeal and clinical tnals effectively;

. manage our third-party supply and manufacturing operations effectively and in a cost-effective manner, while
increasing production capabilities for our current product candidates 1o commercial levels; and

. manage our development efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to partners and
other third parties.
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In addition, historically, we have utilized and continue to utilize the services of part-time outside consultants 10 perform a
number of tasks for us, including tasks refated to preclinical and clinical testing. Our growth strategy may also entail
expanding our use of consultants to implement these and other tasks going forward, We rely on consultants for certain
functions of our business and will need to effectively manage these consultants 1o ensure that they successfully carry out their
contractual obligations and meet expected deadlines. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our existing
consultants or find other competent outside consultants, as needed, on economically reasonable terms. or at all. 1f we are not
able 1o effectively manage our growth and expand our organization by hiring new employvees and expanding our use of
consultants, we might be unable to implement successfully the tasks necessary to execute effectively on our planned research,
development and commercialization activities and, accordingly, might not achieve our research, development and
commercialization goals.

If we fuil to attract and retain management and other key personnel, we may be unable to contimue fo successfully develop
oF conrmiercialize onur prodivct candidates or otherwise implement our business plan.

Owr ability to compete in the highly competitive pharmaceuticals industry depends upon our ability to attract and retain
highly qualified managerial, scientific, medical, sales und marketing and other personnel. We are highly dependent on our
management and scientific personnel, including: our Chief Executive Officer. President and director, Gerald T. Proehl; our
Senior Viee President, Regulatory AfTairs and Quality Assurance, Maria Bedoya Toro Munera, Ph.D., M.B.A.; and our
Senior Vice President, Development, Christopher J. Nardo, M.P.H., Ph.D. The loss of the services of any of these individuals
could impede, delay or prevent the successful development of our product pipeline, completion of our planned clinical trials,
commercialization of our product candidates or in-licensing or acquisition of new assets and could negatively impact our
ability 1o successfully implement our business plan. If we lose the services of any of these individuals, we might not be able
to find suitable replacements on a timely basis or at all, and our business could be harmed as a result. We do not maintain
“key man” insurance policies on the lives of these individuals or the lives of any of our other employees. In order to retain
valuable emplovees at our company, in addition 1o salary and cash incentives, we provide stock options that vest over time,
The value to employees of stock options that vest over time will be significantly affected by movements in our stock price
that are beyond our control and may at any time be insufficient to counteract offers frem other companies.

We might not be able to attract or retain qualified management and other key personnel in the fiure due to the intense
competition for qualified personnel among biotechnology, pharm, ical and other busingsses, particularly in the San Diego
area where we are headquartered. We could have difficulty attracting experienced personnel to our company and may be
required to expend significant financial resources in our employee recruitment and retention cfforts. Many of the other
pharmaceutical companies with whom we compete for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources,
different risk profiles and longer histories in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and
better chances for carcer advancement. If we are not able to attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our
business objectives, we may experience constraints that will harm our ability 1o implement our business strategzy and achicve
our business objectives.

In addition, we have scientific and clinical advisors who assist us in formulating our development and clinical strategies.
These advisors are not our employees and may have commitments to, or consulting or advisory contracts with. other entities
that may limit their availability to us. In addition, our advisors may have arrangements with other companies to assist those
companics in developing products or technologies thal may compete with ours.

O ability te attract and retain qualified mentbers of oiee board of divectors may be lmpacted due te new state laws,
including recently e d gender and diversity guotas.

In September 2018, the state of California enacted 5B 826 requiring public companies headquartered in California to
maintain minimum female representation on their boards of directors as follows: by the end of 2019, at least one woman on
its board, by the end of 2020, public company boards with five members will be required to have at least two female
directors, and public company boards with six or more members will be required to have at least three female directors., In
September 2020, the state of California enacted AB 979 requiring public companies headquartered in California to maintain
minimiim representation on their boards of directors from members of underrepresented communities as follow: by the end of
2021, at least one direcior from an underrepresented community, by end of 2022, public company boards with more than four
but fewer than nine members will be required to have at least two directors from underrepresented communities, and public
company board with nine or more members will be required 1o have at least three directors from underrepresented
communities. Failure to achieve designated minimum levels in a timely manner exposes such companies to financial
penalties and reputational harm. We cannot assure that we can recruit, atiract and 'or retain qualified members of the board
and meet the above quotas as a result of the California laws, which may expose us to penalties and/or reputational harm.
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We carrently have limited marketing capabilities and no sales organization, If we are unable te establish sales and
marketing capabilities on our own o through thivd parties, we will be unable to successfully commercialize oier product
candidates, if approved, or generate product revemue,

We currently have limited marketing capahilitics and no sales organization. To commercialize our product candidates, if
approved, in the United States, Canada, the European Union and other jurisdictions we seek 1o enter, we must build our
marketing. sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third parties 1w
perform these services, and we may not be successful in doing so. Although our management team has experience in the
marketing, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products from prior employment at other companics, we as a company
have no prior experience in the marketing, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products and there are significant risks
involved in building and managing a sales organization, including our ability to hire, retain and incentivize qualified
individuals. generate sufficient sales leads, provide adequate training to sales and marketing personnel and effectively
manage a geographically dispersed sales and marketing team, Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities would adversely impact the commercialization of these products. We may choose lo
collaborate with additional third parties that have direct sales forces and established distribution systems, either to augment
our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force and distribution systems. 1f we are unable o
enter into such arrangements on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product
candidates. 11 we are unable 1o successfully commercialize our product candidaies, either on our own or through
collaborations with one or more third parties, our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects would suffer.

e failure to swccessfully in-license, acquire, develop, and market additional product candidates or approved products
wanld impair our ability to grow our business,

We intend to in-license, acquire, develop, and market additional products and product candidates and we may in-license or
acquire commercial-stage products or engage in other strategic transactions. Because our internal research and development
capabilities are limited, we may be dependent upon pharmaceutical companies, academic scientists, and other researchers to
sell or license products or technology to us. The success of this strategy depends partly upon our ability to identify and select
promising pharmaceutical product candidates and products. negotiate licensing or acquisition agreements with their current
owners and finance these arrangements,

The process of proposing, negotiating, and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate or approved product
is lengthy and complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater financial, marketing, sales, and other
resources, may compete with us for the license or acquisition of product candidates and approved products. We have limited
resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-licensing of third-party products, businesses and technologies and
integrate them into our eurrent infrastructure. Morcover, we may devele resources to potential acquisitions or licensing
opportunities thal are never completed. or we mayv fail 1o realize the anticipated benefits of such efforis. We may not be able
1o acquire the rights to additional product candidates on terms that we find acceptable, or ar all.

Further, any product candidate that we acquire may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale,
including preclinical or ¢linical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities, All product
candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of pharmaceutical product development, including the possibility that a product
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities, In addition, we cannot
provide assurance that any approved products that we acquire will be manufactured or sold profitably or achieve markel
acceplance,

Additional potential transactions that we may consider include a variety of different business arrangements, including spin-
offs, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings. divestitures, business combinations and investments. Any such
fransaction may require us (o incur non-recurring or other charges, may increase our near- and long-term expenditures and
may pose significant integration challenges or disrupt our management or business, which could adversely affect our
operations and financial results. For example, these transactions entail numerous potential eperational and financial risks,
including:

. exposure to unknown liabilities:

. disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in arder to develop acquired
products, product candidates or technologies;

. incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay for acquisitions;

. substantial acquisition and integration costs;

57




. write-downs of assets or impairment charges;
. increased amortization expenses;

. difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our operations
and personnel;

. impairment of relationships with key suppliers, partners or customers of any acquired businesses due to
changes in management and ownership; and

. inability 1o retain our key employees or those of any acquired businesses,

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfully complete any transactions of the nature
described above. and any transaction that we do complete could harm our business, financial condition, operating results, and

prospects,

Manufacturing and supply of the APl and other substances and materials wsed in our product candidates is a complex
amd technically challenging undercaking, and there is potential for failure af many points in the mamufactaring, testing,
quality asswrance and distribution supply chain, as well as the potentinl for latent defects after products have been
manufactured and distributed,

Manufacturing and supply of APIs, other substances and materials and finished drug products is technically challenging.
Changes beyond our direct control can impact the quality, volume, price, and successful delivery of our product candidates
and can impede, delay. limit or prevent the successful development and commercialization of our product candidates.
Mistakes and mishandling are not uncommon and can affect suceessful production and supply. Some of these risks include:

. failure of our manufacturers to follow cGMP or GACP requirements or mishandling of product while in
production or in preparation for transit;

. inability of our contract supplicrs and manufacturers to efficiently and cost-effectively increase and maintain
high vields and batch quality, consistency and stability;

- our inability to develop an FDA approved bioassay for release of any future produect;

. difficulty in establishing optimal drug delivery substances and techniques, production and storage methods
and packaging and shipment processes;

. transportation and import/export risk, particularly given the global nature of our supply chain;

. delays in analytical results or failure of analytical techniques that we depend on for quality control and release
of any future product;

. natural disasters, pandemics, labor disputes, financial distress, lack of raw matenal supply, issves with
facilities and equipment or other forms of disruption to business operations of our contract manufacturers and
suppliers; and

. latent defects that may become apparent after the product has been released and which may result in recall
and destruction of product.

Any of these factors could result in delays or higher costs in connection with our clinical trials, regulatory submissions,
required approvals or commercialization of our product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition,
operating results and prospects.
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Cer sperating results may fMuctwate significantly, which makes our futwre operating reswits difficult to predict and cowld
caiise our operating resules to fall below expectations.

Our operations to date have been primarily limited to researching and developing our product candidates and undentaking
preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates. We have not yet obtained regulatory approvals for any of our
product candidates. Conseguently, any predictions vou make about our fulure success or viability may not be as accurate as
they could be if we had a longer operating history or approved products on the market. Furthermore, our operating results
may fluctuate due to a variety of other factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict,
including the following:

delays in the commencement. enrollment and the timing of clinical testing for our product candidates:

the timing and success or failure of clinical irals for our product candidates or competing product candidates,
or any other change in the competitive landscape of our industry. including consolidation among our
competitors or pariners;

any delays in regulatory review and approval of product candidates in clinical development;

the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development activities relating to our
product candidates, which may change from time to time;

the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on FDA guidelines and
requirements, and the quantity of production;

our whility to obtain additional funding to develop our product candidates;
expenditures that we will or may incur to acquire or develop additional product candidates and technologics;
the level of demand for our product candidates, should they receive approval. which may vary significantly;

potential side effects of our product candidates that could delay or prevemt commercialization or cause an
approved drug to be taken off the market;

the ability of patients or healthcare providers to obtain coverage of or sufficient reimbursement for our
product candidates, if approved;

our dependency on third-party manufacturers to supply or manufacture our product candidates;
our ability to establish an effective sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure in a timely manner;

market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, and our ability to forecast demand for those
product candidates;

our ability to receive approval and commercialize our product candidates outside of the United States:
our ability to establish and maintain collaborations, licensing or other arrangements;
our ability and third parties” abilities to protect intellectual property righis;
costs related 1o and outeomes of potential litigation or other disputes;
our ability to adequately support future growth;
our abality to attract and retain key personnel to manage our business effectively;
potential liabilities associated with hazardous materials;
our ability to maintain adequate insurance policies: and

future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies.
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Qur aperating results and liguidity needs could be negatively affected by market fluctwations and economic downturn.

Our operating results and liquidity could be negatively affected by economic conditions generally, both in the United States
and elsewhere around the world. The market for discretionary medical products and procedures may be particularly
vulnerable to unfavorable economic conditions. Some patients may consider certain of our product candidates to be
discretionary, and if full reimbursement for such products is not available, demand for these products may be tied to the
discretionary spending levels of our targeted patiemt populations. Domestic and intermational cquity and debt markets have
experienced and may continue to experience heightened volatility and turmoil based on domestic and international economic
conditions and concerns. In the event these economic conditions and concemns continue or worsen and the markets continue
to remain volatile, our operating results and liquidity could be adversely affected by those factors in many ways, including
weakening demand for certain of our products and making it more difficult for us to raise funds if necessary, and our stock
price may decline. Additionally, although we plan to market our products primarily in the United States, our partners have
extensive global operations, indirectly exposing us to risk.

e business and operations would suffer in the event of failures in our internal computer systems,

Despite the implementation of sccurity measures, our internal computer systems, and those of our current and any future
partners, contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters,
terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. While we have not experienced any such material system
failure, accident, or security breach to date, il such an event were 1o occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could
result in a material disruption of our manufacturing activities, development programs and our business operations. For
example, the loss of manufacturing records or clinical trial data from completed or future clinical trials could result in delays
in our regulatory approval effons and significantly increase our costs Lo recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any
disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of
confidential or proprictary information, we could incur liability and the further commercialization and development of our
products and product candidates could be delayed

We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and aur systems and infrasiruciure face cerfain rivks,
including cybersecurity and data leakage risks,

Significant disruplions to our information technology systems or breaches of information security could adversely affect our
business. In the ordinary course of busmess, we collect, store, and transmit large amounts of confidential information, and it
is eritical that we do so in a secure manner (o maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. The
size and complexity of our information technology systems, and those of our third-party vendors with whom we contract,
miake such systems potentially vulnerable to service interruptions and security breaches from inadvertent or intentional
actions by our employees, partners, or vendors, from attacks by malicious third parties, or from intentional or accidental
physical damage to our systems infrastructure maintained by us or by third parties. Maintaining the secrecy of this
confidential, proprictary, or trade secret information is important to our competitive business position. While we have taken
steps to protect such information and invested in information technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts will
prevent service interruplions or security breaches in our systems or the unauthorized or inadvertent wrongful use or
disclosure of confidential information that could adversely alfect our business operations or result in the loss, dissemination,
or misuse of critical or sensitive information. A breach of our security measures or the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosure,
unapproved dissemination, misappropriation or misuse of trade secrets, proprietary information, or other confidential
information, whether as a result of thefi, hacking, fraud. trickery or ather forms of deception, or for any other reason, could
enable others to produce competing products, use our proprictary technology or information, or adversely affect our business
or financial condition. Further, any such interruption, security breach, loss or disclosure of confidential information., could
result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position, resulis of operations or cash Now.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We may not be able to obtain or enforce patent rights or other intellectual property rights that cover our product
candidates amd technologies that are of sufficient breadh to prevent thivd parties from competing againse us.

Our success with respect to our product candidates and technologies will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain
patent protection in both the United States and other countries, to preserve our trade secrets and fo prevent third parties from
infringing upon our proprictary rights, Our ability to protect any of our product candidates from unauthorized or infringing
use by third parties depends in substantial part on our ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable patents or enforee
confidentiality contracts.




Our patents include licensed patents and pﬂl.enlﬁ]l)i;!icalinns in the United States and foreign jurisdictions where we believe
there is a market opportunity for our products. The covered technology and the scope of coverage vary from country to
country. For those countries where we do not have granted patents, we may not have any ability to prevent the unauthorized
use of our lechnologies. Any patents that we may obtain may be narmow in scope and thus easily circumvented by
competitors. Further, in countries where we do not have granted patents, third parties may be able to make, use, or sell
products identical to, or substantially similar to, our product candidates,

The patent application process, also known as patent prosecution, is expensive and time-consuming, and we and our current
or future licensors and licensees may not be able 1o prepare, file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at
a reasonable cost or in a timely manner, 1t is also possible that we or our current licensors, or any future licensors or
licensees, will fail to identify patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of development and commercialization
activities before it is too late to obiain patent protection on them. Therefore, these and any of our patents and applications
may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. It is possible that defects
of form in the preparation or filing of our patents or patent applications may exist, or may arise in the future, such as with
respect to proper priority claims, nventarship, claim scope or patent term adjustments, If our current licensors, or any future
licensors or licensees, are not fully cooperative or disagree with us as to the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of any
patent rights. such patent rights could be compromised and we might not be able to prevent third parties from making, using
and selling competing products. 1f there are material defects in the form or preparation of our patents or patent applications,
such patents or applications may be invalid and unenforceable. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop
equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability (o prevent competition from
third parties, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Due 1o legal standards relating to pﬂanw.hlrty. validity, mfnrcmbdln)f and claim scope of patents covering phaﬂnamuncal
inventions, our ability to obain, maintain and enforce patents is uncenain and involves complex legal and factual questions,
Accordingly, rights under any existing patents or any patents we might obtain or license may not cover our product
candidates, or may not provide us with sufficient protection for our product candidates to afford a commercial advantage
against competitive products or processes, including those from branded and generic pharmaceutical companies. In addition,
we cannot guarantee that any patents will issue from any pending or future patent applications owned by or licensed to us.
Even if patents have issued or will issue, we cannot guaraniee that the claims of these patents are or will be held valid or
enforceable by the courts or will provide us with any significant protection against competitive products or otherwise be
commercially valuable o us.

Competitors in the field of dermatologic therapeutics have created a subsiantial amount of prior art, including scientific
publications, patents, and patent applications. Our ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable patenis depends on
whether the differences between our technology and the prior art allow our technology to be patentable over the prior art.
Although we believe that our technology includes certain inventions that are unique and not duplicative of any prior art, we
do not have outstanding issued patents covering all of the recent developments in our technology and we are unsure of the
patent protection that we will be successful in obtaining, if any. Even if the patents do successfully issue, third parties may
design around or challenge the validity, enforceability or scope of such issued patents or any other issued patents we own or
license, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable. If the breadth or strength of
protection provided by the patents we hold or pursue with respect to our product candidates is challenged. it could dissuade
companics from collaborating with us 1o develop, or threaten our ability 10 commercialize. our product candidates.

The laws of some foreign jurisdictions do not provide intellectual property rights to the same extent as in the United States
and many companies have encountered significant difficulties in protecting and defending such nghts. in foreign jurisdictions.
If we encounter such difficultics in protecting or arc atherwise prccludodr?m cffectively protect ing our intellectual propeny
in foreign jurisdictions, our business prospects could be substantially harmed. The patent positions of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal
principles remain unresolved. Changes in cither the patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws in the United States
and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadih of claims
that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents.

The degree of future protection of our proprietary rights is uncertain. Patent protection may be unavailable or severely limited
in some cases and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:

. we might nol have been the first to mml or the first to file the inventions covered by each of our pending

patent appl and issued p
. others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
. the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business;
. any patents we obtain or our licensors” issued patents may not encompass commercially viable products, may

not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties:
. any patents we obtain on our in-licensed issued patents may not be valid or enforceable; and
. wie may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable,
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Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its earliest
nan-provisional priority application filing date. Various extensions mayv be available; however, the life of a patent, and the
protection it affords, is limited. Without patent protection for our product candidates, we may be open 1o competition from
generic versions of our product candidates. Further, the extensive period of time between patent filing and regulatory
approval for a product candidate limits the time during which we can market a product candidate under patent protection,
which may particularly affect the profitability of our early-stage product candidates. The issued ULS. patents relating to
DMT310 will expire or have expired between 2022 and 2023 and will not be eligible for patent term extension if approval
occurs after patent expiration.

Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. Although we have taken steps to
protect our trade secrets and unpatented know-how by entering into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and
intellectual propenty protection agreements with certain employees, consultants and advisors. third parties may still obtain
this information, or we may be unable to protect our rights, We also have limited control over the protection of trade secrets
used by our suppliers, manufacturers and other third parties. There can be no assurance that binding agreements will not be
breached, that we would have adequate remedies for any breach or that our trade secrets and unpatented know-how will not
otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors. 11 trade secrets are independently discovered.
we would not be able 1o prevent their use. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets
or unpatented know-how is expensive and time-consuming, and the owtcome is unpredictable. In addition, couns outside the
United States may be less willing to protect trade secret information.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the unceriainties and costs surronnding the prosecition of our patent
applications and the eaforcement or defense of our futiire patents,

Our ability to obtain patents is highly uncertain because, to date, some legal principles remain unresolved, there has not been
a consistent policy regarding the breadth or interpretation of claims allowed in patents in the United States and the specific
content of patents and patent applications that are necessary to support and interpret patent claims is highly uncertain due to
the complex nature of the relevant legal, sciemtific. and factual issues. Changes in either patent laws or interpretations. of
patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property or namrow the scope
of our patent protection.

For example, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law.
The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to United States patent law. These include provisions that
affiect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The United States Patent and
Trademark Office, or USPTO, has developed new and untested regulations and procedures 1o govem the full implementation
of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in
particular, the first to file provisions, only became effective in March 2013, The Leahy-5mith Act has also introduced
procedures making it easier for third parties to challenge issued patents, as well as to intervene in the prosccution of patent
applications. Finally, the Leahy-Smith Act contains new statutory provisions that require the USPTO to issue new regulations
for their implementation, and it may take the courts years to interpret the provisions of the new statute. It is too early to tell
what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business and the protection and enforcement of
our intellectual property. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs
surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our future patents. Further, the ULS.
Supreme Count has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, cither narrowing the scope of patent protection available in
certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations, In addition to increasing uncertainty with
regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the
value of patents, ence obtained. Depending on actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal counts, and the USPTO, the laws and
regulations goveming patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to
enforce patents that we have owned or licensed or that we might obtain in the fiture. An inability 10 obtain, enforce, and
defend patents covering our proprictary technologics would materially and adversely affect our business prospects and
financial condition.

Similarly, changes in patent laws and regulations in other countries or jurisdictions or changes in the governmental bodies
that enforce them or changes in how the relevant governmental authonity enforces patent laws or regulations may weaken our
ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we may obtain in the future, Further, the laws of some foreign
countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United Sutes. As a
result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property both in the United States
and abroad, For example, if the issuance to us, in a given country, of a patent covering an invention is not followed by the
issuance, in other countries, of patents covering the same invention, or if any judicial interpretation of the validity,
enforceability, or scope of the claims, or the written description or enablement, in a patent issued in one country is not similar
to the interpretation given to the cormesponding patent issued in another country. our ability to protect our intellectual
property in those countries may be limited. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United
States and other countries may materially diminizh the value of our intellectual property or nammow the scope of our patent
protection,
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights threughout the world,

Filing, prosecuting, and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be
prohubitively expensive. The requiremenis for patentability may differ in cerlain countries, particularly developing couniries.
In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the
United States. Consequently, we may not be able 1o prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries
outside the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent
protection to develop their own products and. further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have
patent protection, but enforcement on infringing activities is inadequate. These products may compete with our products, and
our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intelleciual property rights in foreign
Jurisdictions, The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement
of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals, which could make it
difficult for us 1o stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary
rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert
our efforts and attention from other aspects of our busnms.s, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third partics 1o assert claims against us. We
may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially
meam'ngrul. In addition, certain countrics in Europe and certain developing countries have compulsory licensing laws under
which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses io third parties. In those couniries, we may hove limited remedies if
our patents are infringed or if we are compelied lo grant a license to our patents to a third party, which could materially
dimunish the value of those patents. This could limit our potential revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce
our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the
intellectual property that we own or license. Finally, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be
adversely affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual property laws.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission,
Jee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be
reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these reguirements,

Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are dee to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in
several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require
compliance with a number of procedural. documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent
application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in
accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the
patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance
events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include failure to respond to official actions
within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. [Fwe or our
licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitors might be able
to enter the market, which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Ifwe ﬁt.i.' to comply with our obligations snder our intellectual property license agreenients, we conld fose license rights
that are important to our business,

We are a party to certain license agreements thai impose \'anousdlllgen.ce milestone, royalty, insurance and other
obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, the respective licensors may have the right to terminate the
license, in which event we may not be able to develop or market the affected product c.andl:l.u‘l!c The loss of such rights could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects. For more information about
these license arrangements, see “Business—Collaborations and License Agreements.”

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time-consuming, and an
unfavorable outcome in that litgation cowld have @ material adverse effect on our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use
our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot guarantee that marketing
and selling such candidates and using such technologies will not infringe existing or future patents. Numerous 1.5, and

foreign issued patents and pendin ent applications owned by third ies exist in the fields relating to our product
mdl’gt'lintcs. ﬁs|:h¢ bimcchr?éug;— mphn:ﬁpmul ical 'mduslrie{cxpandwmd more patents are iss.u:d.nlﬁc risk increases that
others may assert that our product candidates, technologics or methods of delivery or use infringe their patent rights.
Morcover, it is not always clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various drugs, biologics, drug
delivery sF-_ﬂcms or their methods of use, and which ol these patents may be valid and enforceable. Thus, because of the large
number of patents issued and patent applications filed in our fields, there may be a risk that third parties may allege they have
patent rights encompassing our product candidates, technologies or methods
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In addition, there may be issued patents of third parties that are infringed or are alleged to be infringed by our product
candidates or proprictary technologies. Because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy
until the patents are issued, because patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not
published until eighteen months after filing and because publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual
discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our own and in-
licensed issued patents or our pending applications. Our competitors may have filed, and may in the future file, patemt
applications covering our product candidates or technology similar to ours. Any such patent application may have priority
over our own and in-licensed patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to issued patents
covering such technologics. 1T another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to those owned or in-
licensed to us, we or, in the case of in-licensed technology, the licensor may have o participate, in the United States, in an
interference proceeding to determine priority of invention,

We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having patent or other intellectual property rights
alleging that our product candidates or proprictary technologies infringe such third parties” miellectual property nghts,
including litigation resulting from filing under Paragraph IV of the Hatch-Waxman Act. These lawsuits could claim that there
are existing patent rights for such drug and this type of litigation can be costly and could adversely affect our operating
results and divent the anention of managerial and technical persennel, even il we do not infringe such patents or the patents
asseried against us are uliimalely established as invalid. There is a risk that a count would decide that we are infringing the
third party”s patents and would order us to stop the activities covered by the patents. In addition, there is a risk that a court
will order us to pay the other party damages for having violated the other party’s patents.

As a result of patent infringement elaims, or to avoid potential claims, we may choose or be required to seek licenses from
third parties. These licenses may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we are able to obtain a
license, the license would likely obligate us to pay license fees or rovalties or both, and the rights granted to us might be
nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property, or such rights might be
restrictive and limit our present and future activitics. Ultimately, we or a licensee could be prevented from commercializing a
product or forced o cease some aspeet of our business operations, if, as a result of actual or threatencd patent infringement
claims, we are unable to enter into licenses on acceptable terms.

In addition to possible infringement claims against us, we may become a panty (o other patent litigation and other
proceedings, mcluding interference, derivation, re-examination or other post-grant proceedings declared or granted by the
USPTO. and similar proceedings in foreign countries, regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our current or of
our other products.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries generally. To date, no litigation asserting infringement claims has ever been brought against us. ITa
third-party claims that we infringe its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including:

. infringement and other intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-
consuming to litigate and may divert our management's anention from our core business;

. substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product or
technology at issue infringes or violates the third party's rights, and if the court finds that the infringement
was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner's attorneys” fees:

. a court prohibiting us from selling or licensing the product or using the technology unless the third party
licenses its intellectual property rights to us, which it is not required 1o do;

. if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties or upfront fees or grant
cross-licenses to intellectual property rights for our products or technologics; and

. redesigning our products or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require
substantial monetary expenditures and time.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because
they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any
litigation could harm our ability 1o raise additional funds or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition,
operating results, and prospects,




Because we rely on certain third-party licensors and partners, and will continue to do 5o in the future, if one of our licensors
or partners is sued for infringing a third party s intellectual property rights, our business, financial condition, operating
results, and prospects could suffer in the same manner as if we were sued directly. In addition to facing liigation risks, we
have agreed to indemnify certain third-pany licensors and partners against claims of infringement caused by our proprietary
technologies, and we have entered or may enter into cost-sharing agreements with some our licensors and partners that could
require us to pay some of the costs of patent litigation brought against those third parties whether or not the alleged
infringement is caused by our proprietary technologies. In certain instances. these cost-sharing agreements could also require
us o assume greater responsibility for infringement damages than would be assumed just on the basis of our technology.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results.

We may become involved in lowswits to protect or enforce our patenis or other intellectual property or the patenis of oar
licensors, which could be expensive and fime-consuming,

Competitors may infringe our intellectual property, including our patents or the patents of our licensors, As a result, we may
be required to file infringement claims to stop third-party infringement or unauthorized use. This can be expensive and time-
consuming, particularly for a company of our size. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a
patent of ours is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology ot issue on the
grounds that our patent claims do not cover its technology or that the factors necessary to grant an injunction against an
infringer are not satislied. An adverse determination of any litigation or other proceedings could put one or mare of our
patenis at risk of being invalidated, interpreted narrowly or amended such that they do not cover our product candidates.
Moreover, such adverse determinations could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing, or issuing with limited and
potentially inadequate scope 1o cover our product candidates or to prevent others from marketing similar products.

Interference, derivation, or other proceedings brought at the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority or
patentability of inventions with respect to our patent applications or those of our licensors or potential partners. Litigation or
USPTO proceedings brought by us may fail or may be invoked against us by third parties. Even if we are successful,
domestic, or foreign litigation or USPTO or foreign patent office proceedings may result in substantial costs and distraction
to our management. We may not be able, alone or with our licensors or potential partners, to prevent misappropriation of our
proprietary rights, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect such rights as fully as in the United States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or
other proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this
type of litigation or other proceedings. In addition, during the course of this kind of litigation or proceedings, there could be
public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments or public access to
related documents. If investors perceive these results to be negative, the market price for our commaon stock or Warranis
could be significantly harmed.

Cwr reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that our frade secrei
will be misappropriated or disclosed, and confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties may nof adeguately
prevent disclosure of trade secrees and protect other praoprietary information,

We consider proprietary trade secrets or confidential know-how and unpatented know-how 10 be imporiant o our business.
We may rely on trade secreis or confidential know-how to protect our technology, especially where patent protection is
believed by us to be of limited value,

To protect this type of information against disclosure or appropriation by competitors, our policy is to require our employees,
consultants, collaborators, contractors, and advisors to enter into confidentiality agreements and. if applicable, material
transfer agreements, consulting agreements or other similar agreements with us prior to beginning research or disclosing
proprietary information. These agreements tvpically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our confidential
information, mcluding our trade secrets. However, current or former employees, consultants, collaborators, contractors and
advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our confidential information to competitors, and confidentiality agreements
may not provide an adequate remedy in the evem of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, The need to share
trade secrets and other confidential information increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors,
ar¢ inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given
that our proprictary position is based, in pan, on our know-how and trade secrets, a competitor’s discovery of our trade
secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our competitive position and may have an adverse effect on our
business and results of operations. Enforcing a claim that a third party obtained illegally and is using trade secrets or
confidential know-how is expensive, time consuming and unpredictable. The enforceability of confidentiality agreements
may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.
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In addition, these agreements typically restrict the ability of our employees, consultants, collaborators, contractors and
advisors to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets, although our agreements may contain certain limited
publication rights. Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors may discover our trade secrets, either
through breach of our agreements with third parties, independent development or publication of information by any of our
third-party collaborators. A competitor’s discovery of our trade secrets would impair our competilive position and have an
adverse impact on our business.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have wrongfully used or
disclosed to us alleged trade secrets of their former employers or their former or currenf customers,

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, certain of our employees were formerly employed by
other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Moreover, we engage
the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our products and product candidates, many of whom were
previously employed at or may have previously been or are currently providing consulting services to, other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors, We may be subject to claims that these
emplovees and consultants or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary
information of their former employers or their former or current cusiomers, Although we have no knowledge of any such
claims being alleged to date, if such claims were to arise, litigation may be necessary to defend against any such claims. Even
il we are successful in defending against any such claims. any such litigation could be protracted, expensive, a distraction to
our management team, not viewed favorably by investors and other third parties and may potentially result in an unfavorable
outcome,

If our patent term expires before or soon after our produces are approved, or if manafacturers of generic or biosimilar
drugs successfully challenge owr patents, our business may be materially harmed,

Patents have a limited duration. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent
is generally 20 vears from its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a
patent, and the protection it affords, s limited. Fven if patents covering our product candidates, their manu facture, or use are
obtained, once the patent life has expired. we may be open to competition from competitive medications, including generic or
biosimilar medications.

Depending upon the timing. duration, and conditions of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one or more of
our United States patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent
Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act, and similar legislation in the Furopean Union. The
Hatch-Waxman Act permils a patent term extension of up 1o five vears for a palent covering an approved product as
compensation for effective patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process, The patent
term extension cannol extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, and
only one patent applicable to an approved drug may be extended. However, we may not receive an extension if we fail to
apply within applicable deadlines, fail 1o apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail to satisfy applicable
requirements, Morcover, the length of the extension could be less than we request, IT we are unable to obtain patent term
extension or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we can enforce our patent rights
for that product will be shortened and our competitors may obgain approval to market competing products sooner than we
expect. Also, the scope of our right to exclude during any patent term extension period may be limited or may not cover a
competitor’s product or product use. As a result, our revenue from applicable products could be reduced, possibly materially.

Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new drug candidates, patents
protecting such drug candidaies might expire before or shorily afier such drug candidates are commercialized. As a resull, our
patents and patent applications may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products
similar or identical to ours. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse eflect on our competitive position, business,
financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

Manufacturers of genene or biosimilar drugs may challenge the scope, validity, or enforceability of our patents in court or
before a patent office, and we may not be successful in enforcing or defending those intellectual property rights and. as a
result, may not be able 1o develop or market the relevant produet exclusively, which would have a material adverse effect on
any potential sales of that product. Upon the expiration of our issued patents or patents that may issue from our pending
patent applications, we will not be able to assert such patent rights against potential competitors and our business and results
of operations may be adversely affected.




If our trademarks and trade names are por adequarely protected, then we may mot be able to build name recognition in our
markets af interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed. circumvented, or declared generic or determined
to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we
need to build name recognition among potential collaborators or customers in our markets of interest. Al times, competitors
may adopt trade names or trademarks similar 1o ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly
leading to market confusion, In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by
owners of other registered trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our unregistered trademarks or trade
names, Over the long term, if we are unable 1o successfully register our trademarks and trade names and establish name
recognition based on our trademarks and rade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business may
be adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain
names, copyrights or other intellectual propenty may be inefTective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources and could adversely impact our financial condition or results of operations.

Our proprictary information may be lost, or we may suffer security breaches,

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including intelleciual property, clinical trial data,
proprietary business information, personal data and personally identifiable mformation of our clinical trial subjects and
employees, in our data centers and on our networks, The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information
is critical 1o our operations. Despite our security measures, our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable
to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions, Although, to our knowledge, we
have not experienced any such material security breach to date. any such breach could compromise our networks and the
information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of
information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information,
significant regulatory penalties, disrupt our operations, damage our repitation and cause a loss of confidence in us and our
ability to conduct clinical trials, which could adversely affect our reputation and delay our clinical development of our
product candidates,

Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock and Warranis

The market price of our common stock and Warranis frave been volavile and can fluctiare substantially, which could
result in substantial losses for holders of our securities,

The market price of our common stock is highly volatile, and since our initial public offering in August 2021, the market
price of our common stock has ranged from $0.162 o $6.95 per share. The market price for our commaon stock and Warrants
may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response 1o factors including the following:

. actual or anticipated fluciuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

. actual or anticipated changes in the pace of our corporate achievements or our growth rate relative to our
competitors;

. failure to meet or exceed financial estimates and projections of the investment community or that we provide
to the public;

. issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

. share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our comman stock or
Warrants,

. additions or departures of key management or other personnel;

. disputes or other developments related to proprictary rights. including patents, litigation matters, and our
ability to obtain patent protection for our technologies;

. announcement or expectation of additional debt or equity financing efforts;
- sales of our common stock or Warrants by us, our insiders or our other stockholders; and

. general economic, market or political conditions in the United States or elsewhere (including, without
limitation, conditions arising out the COVID-19 pandemic).
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In particular, the market prices of clinical-stage companies like ours have been highly volatile due to factors, including, but
not limited to:

. any delay or failure in a clinical trial for our product candidates or receive approval from the FDA and other
regulatory agents;
. developments or disputes conceming our product candidate’s intellectual property rights;

. our or our competitors” technological innovations;
. fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by mvestors to be comparable 1o us;
. announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint

wventures, capital commitments, new technologies or patems:
. failure w complete significant transactions or collaborate with vendors in manufaciuring our product; and
. proposals for legislation that would place restrictions on the price of medical therapies.

These and other market and industry factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock and Warranis to
fluctuate substantially, regardless of our actual operating performance, which may limit or prevent investors from readily
selling their shares of common stock or Warrants and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock and
Warrants. In addition, the stock market in general, and Nasdaq Capital Markets and emerging growth companies in
particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of these companies. In the past, when the market price of a secunity has been volatile, holders of that
security have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issucd the security. If any of our
steckholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also
divert the time and attention of our management,

Cur Warranis may nof have any value.

There can be no assurance that the market price of our commaon stock will ever equal or exceed the exercise price of our
outstanding Warrants, In the event that our common stock price does not exceed the exercise price of the Warrants during the
period when the Warranis are exercisable, the Warrants may not have any value,

A Warrant does not entitfe the holder to any rights as commaon stockholders uniil the holder exercives the Warrant for a
share of our common stock,

Uniil you acquire shares of our common stock upon exercise of your Warrants, vour Warranis will not provide you any rights
as a common stockholder. Upon exercise of vour Warrants, you will be entitled 1o exercise the rights of a common
steckholder only as to matters for which the record date occurs after the exercise date.

We are an “emerging growtlh company, ™ and will be able fake advantage of reduced disclosure requiremenis applicable fo
“emerging growth companies,” which could make our commaon stock amd Warrants less attractive fo investors,

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act and. for as long as we continue to be an “emerging
growth company,” we intend 1o take advantage of cenain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other
public companies bul nat to “emerging growth companies.” including. but not limited to, not being required to comply with
the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding
execulive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a
nonbinding advisory vole on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We could be an “emerging growth company™ for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day
of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed 51,235 billion, (ii) the date that we become a “large
accelerated filer™ as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act. which would occur if the market value of our common
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds 3700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second
fiscal quarter, or (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding
three vear period.

We intend to take advantage of these reporting exemptions described above until we are no longer an “emerging growth
company.” Under the JOBS Act, “emerging growth companies™ can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards
until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this
exemplion from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting
standards as other public companies that are nol “emerging growth companies.™
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We cannot predict if investors will find our commen stock or Warrants less attractive if we choose to rely on these
exemplions. I some investors find our common stock or Warrants less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future
disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and Warrants and the price of our common stock
and Warrants may be more volatile.

There may be fimitations on the effectiveness of our imternal controls, and a failure of our control systems to prevent ervor
or frawd may materially harm our company. If we fail to remediate a material weakness, or if we experience material
weaknesses in the future or otherwise fuil fo maintain an effective system of internal controls in the future, we may not be
able fo accurately or fimely report our financial condition or results of aperations, which may adversely affect investor
confidence in us and, as a resolt, the valwe of our common stock and Warranis,

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering in August 2021, we had been a private company with limited accounting
personnel to adequately exeeute our accounting processes and limited supervisory resources with which to address our
internal control over financial reporting. As a newly public company, we have designed a control environment as required of
public companies under the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Proper systems of internal controls over financial accounting and dis¢losure controls and procedures are eritical 1o the
operation of a public company. We may be unable to effectively establish such systems, especially in light of the fact that we
expect 1o operate as a publicly reporting company. This would leave us without the ability to reliably assimilate and compile
financial information about our company and significantly impair our ability to prevent error and detect fraud, all of which
would have a negative impact on our company from many perspectives,

Moreover, we do not expect that disclosure controls or internal control over financial reporting, even if established, will
prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs, Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud could materially
adversely impact us.

If securities or industry analyses do nof publish vesearch or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business, our stock price and trading volume conld decline.

The trading market for our common stock and Warrants depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us or our business. We do not currently have and may never obiain research coverage by securities and
industry analysts. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of our company, the trading price for our securities
would be negatively impacted. 1f we obtain securities or industry analyst covernge and if one or more of the analysts who
covers us downgrades our securities or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and
Warrant price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us
regularly, demand for our securities could decrease, which could cause the price of our securities and trading volume to
decline.

Future sales of our common stock, Warranis or securities convertible into our common stock may depress our stock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, Warrants or securities convertible into our common stock in the
public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of
shares intend to scll shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock and Warrants, As of February 14, 2023, we
had 12,321,848 outstanding shares of common stock. If a large number of shares of our commaon stock. Warrants or securities
conventible into our common stock are sold in the public market after they become eligible for sale, the sales could reduce the
trading price of our commaon stock and Warrants and impede our ability to mise futare capital,

Our failure to maintain compliance with Nasdag 's continwed listing requirements could result in the desilting of our
commian stock andor our Warrants

On June 17, 2022, we received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Staff of the Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC (“Nasdag™)
indicating that, based upon the closing bid price of our common stock for the last 30 consecutive business davs, we are not in
compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share for continued listing on the Nasdaq
Capital Market, as set forth in Masdaq Listing Rule 5550{a}2) (the “Notice™). We were provided a compliance period of 180
calendar days from the date of the Notice. or until December 14, 2022, o regain compliance with the minimum closing bid
requirement, pursuant to Nasdag Listing Rule S810{c}3HA). On December 15, 2022, we were provided an additional
compliance period of 180 calendar days, or until June 12, 2023, to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid
requirement.




We will continue to monitor the closing bid price of our common stock and seck 1o regain compliance with all applicable
Nasdag requirements within the allotted compliance periods and may, if appropriate, consider available options, including
implementation of a reverse stock split of our commen stock. to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid
requirement. 1§ wie seek to implement a reverse stock split in order te remain listed on Nasdag, the announcement or
implementation of such a reverse stock split could negatively afect the price of our common stock and'or Warrants. 17 we do
not regain compliance within the allotted compliance periods. including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdag,
Nasdag will provide notice that our commen stock and Warrants will be subject to delisting. We would then be entitled 10
appeal that determination to a Nasdaq hearings pancl. There can be no assurance that we will regain compliance with the
minimum bid price requirement during the 180-day compliance period or maintain compliance with the other Nasdag listing
requirements, A delisting could substantially decrease trading in our common stock and Warrants, adversely affect the market
liguidity of our commaon stock and Warrants as a result of the loss of market efficiencies associated with Nasdag and the loss
of federal preemption of state securities laws, adversely affect our ability 1o obtain financing on acceptable terms, if at all,
and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, suppliers, customers and employvees and fewer busingss
development opportunitics. Additionally, the market price of our commaon stock and/or our Warrants may decline further and
stockholders may lose some or all of their mvestment.

Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders have substantial control over us and could delay or prevent a
change af corporate control

Owr directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of our common stock, tagether with their affiliates, beneficially
own, in the aggregate, approximately 36.4% of our outstanding common stock as of February 14, 2023. As a resull, these
stockholders, acting together, have the ability to significantly influence the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders
for approval, including the election of directors and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets.
In addition, these stockholders, acting together, have the ability 1o control the management and affairs of our company.
Accordingly, this concentration of ownership could harm the market price of our common stock and Warrants by:

. delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us;
. impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us; or

. discouraging a potential acquiror from making a tender offer or otherwise attempling to obtain control of us.

See “Principal Stockholders” below for more information regarding the ownership of our outstanding stock by our executive
officers, directors and holders of more than 5% of our commaon stock, together with their affiliates,

Anti-takeover provisions contaimed in our certificate af incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law,
could impair a takeover attempr.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions which could have the
effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors. Our
corporate governance documents include provisions:

. classifying our board of directors into three classes;

. autherizing “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by our board of directors without
stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend, and ather rights superior to our common
stock:

. limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and oificers;
. limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings;

. requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our
stockholders and for nominations of candidates. for election to our board of directors;

. controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board of directors and stockholder meetings; and

. providing our board of directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings
and to cancel previously scheduled special meetings.
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These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our
management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law. including Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding common stock from
engaging in certain business combinations withoul approval of the holders of substantially all of our cuslanding commaon
stock.

Any provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, bylaws or Delaware law that has the cffect of
delaving or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders 1o receive a premium for their
shares of our common stock or Warrants, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our
common stock and Warrants,

Chur ability fo use our nef aperafing loss carryforwards may be linvited,

As of December 31, 2022, we had net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of approximately $9.2 million for federal
income tax purposes and approximately $5.0 million for state income tax purposes. Utilization of these NOLs depends on
many factors, including our fuiure income, which cannot be assured. These NOLs could expire unused and be unavailable (o
offset our future income rax liabilities. In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. or
the Code, and corresponding provisions of state law. if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which is generally
defined as a greater than $0% change, by value, in its equity ownership by 5% stockholders over a three-vear period, the
corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOLs and other pre-change tax afiributes to offset its post-change income may be
limited. We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent changes in our stock ownership, some
of which may be outside of our control. Ownership changes that materially limit our use of our historical NOLs could harm
our future operating results by effectively increasing our future LS, federal income tax and ULS, state income tax obligations,
In addition, as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, as modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act of 2020, or CARES Act, federal NOLs incurred in 2018 and in future years may be carried forward indefinitely,
however, the deductibility of our federal NOLs generated in such years will be limited to 80% of taxable income if utilized in
taxable vears beginning after December 31, 2020, Federal net operating losses incurred in years beginning before January 1,
2018, are subject to a twenly-vear carrvforward but are not limited Lo 80%s of 1axable income.,

We have never paid dividends on our capital steck, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foresecable
Suture.

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future camings to
finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect 1o declare or pay any dividends in the foresecable
future, Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock and Warrants after price appreciation, which
miay never ocour, as the only way to realize any fulure gains on their investment.

Cur amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Deloware ax the
sole and exclusive fortm for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which
could timif our stockhelders® ability o obiain a fovorable fudicial forum for disputes with us or owr directors, officers or
ather employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires that, unless we consent in writing to the sclection of an
alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will, to the fullest extent permitied by law, be the sole and
exclusive forum for cach of the following:

. any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

. any action asserting a claim for breach of any fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee
of ours to the Company or our stockholders;

. any action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer of ours arising pursuant to, or a claim against
us or any of our directors or officers, with respect 1o the interpretation or application of any provision of, the
DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or bvlaws; or

. any action asserting a claim govemed by the intermal affairs doctrine;
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provided, that, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any of the foregoing actions for lack of
subject manter jurisdiction, any such action or actions may be brought in another state court sitting in the State of Delaware.

The exclusive forum provision is limited to the extent permitted by law, and it will not apply to claims arising under the
Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or for any other federal securities laws which provide for
exclusive federal jurisdiction.

Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts aver all such
Securities Act actions, Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent
having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among
other considerations, our amended and restated centificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the
United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserling a cause of action arising under the
Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a
stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring such a claim arising under the Securities Act against us, our directors, officers, or
other employees in a venue other than in the federal district counts of the United States of America. In such instance, we
would expect o vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our amended and
restated centificate of incorporation.

Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the
types of lawsuits to which it applies. this provision may limit or discourage a stockholder’s ability 1o bring a claim in a
Jjudicial forum that it finds favarable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage
such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees, and may result in increased costs for investors o
bring a claim. Allematively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the provision and that investors cannot waive
compliance with the fiederal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Although we believe this provision
benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies,
the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our mailing address is 3525 Del Mar Heights Rd_, #322, San Diego, Califoria 92130 All of our employees work remotely
because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Previously, we leased office space in San Dicgo, Califomia; however, we clected not to
renew the lease during 2019, We believe our virtual work offices are adeguate to meet our current needs, although we may
sock to negotiate new leases or evaluate additional or aliemnate space for our operations. Wi believe appropriate aliernative
space would be readily available on commercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in claims that arise during the ordinary course of business. Although the results of
litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not currently have any pending litigation to which we are a
party or to which our property is subject that we believe to be material. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can be costly
and time consuming, and it can divert management’s attention from important business matters and initiatives, negatively
impacting our overall operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

This item is not applicable,




PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Cuir common stock and Warrants trade on The Nasdag Capital Market under the symbaols “DRMA™ and “DRMAW™
respectively since August 12, 2021, Prior to that date, there was no public market for our common stock or Warrants.

Haolders

As of December 31, 2022, there were approximately 71 stockholders of record of our Commaon Stock. This number does not
include beneficial owners whose shares were held in street name. The actual number of holders of our Common Stock is
greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in
street name by brokers or held by other nominees.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock. We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on
our common stock for the foreseeable fiture, but curremtly intend to retain any future carnings to fund the development and
growth of our business. The payment of cash dividends if any, on the common stock will rest solely within the discretion of
our board of directors and will depend, among other things, upon our eamings, capital requirements, financial condition, and
other relevant factors.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED|

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of onr financial condition and results of operations fogether with our
Sinancial statements amd related notes theveto included elsewhere in this Ammeal Report on Form 16-K. Same of the
information contained in this discussion and analysis or set fordh elsewhere in this report, inclding information with respect
tor onar plans and strategy for oure bustness, includes forward-looking statements that imvolve risks and ancertaintics. Az a
result of many factors, including those factors sef forth in the "Risk Factors ™ section of this report, our actual results conld
differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following
dizcussion and analysis. References in the following discussion to “we ", “our”, “us”, "Dermata”, or "the Company ™, refer
ta Dermata Therapewtics, Inc. formerly known as Devmata Therapewtics, LLC.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage medical dermatology company focused on identifying, developing, and commercializing innovative
pharmaceutical product candidates for the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases we believe
represent significant market opporfunities.

Demmatological diseases such as acne vulgaris (or acne), psoriasis vulgaris (or psoriasis), hyperhidrosis, and various aesthetic
indications. affect millions of people worldwide each year which may negatively impact their quality of life and emotional
well-being. While there are multiple current treatment options for these indications on the market, we believe that most have
significant drawbacks, including underwhelming efficacy, cumbersome application regimens and varying negative side
effiects, all of which we believe lead to decreased patient compliance. A majority of these indications are first treated with
topical therapy; however, many patients frequently switch treatments or discontinue treatment altogether due to patient
dissatisfaction, This is primarily due to slow and modest response rates, carly onset of negative side effects, daily application
schedules and long duration of therapy. Given the limitations with current topical therapies, we believe there is a significant
opportunity o address the needs of frustrated patients searching for topical products that satisfy their dermatological and
lifestyle needs.
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Our two product candidates, DMT310 and DMTA410, both incorporate our proprietary, multifaceted, Spongilia technology to
topically treat a variety of dermatological conditions. Our Spongiifa technology is derived from a naturally grown freshwater
sponge, Spongifla lacusivis or Spongiila, which is processed into a powder that is mixed with a fluidizing agent immediately
prior to application to form an easily applicable paste, Spongifla is a unique freshwater sponge that only grows in commercial
quantities in select regions of the world and under specific environmental conditions, all of which give it its distinctive anti-
microbial, anti-inMammatory, and mechanical propenties. The combination of these environmental conditions, the proprietary
harvesting protocols developed with our exclusive supplier, and our posi-harvest processing procedures produce a
pharmaceutical product candidate that optimizes the mechanical components as well as the chemical components of the
sponge to create a product candidate with multiple mechanisms of action for the treatment of inflammatory skin conditions
and aesthetic applications.

We believe our Spangilla technology platform will enable us to develop and formulate singular and combination products
that are able to 1arget the topical delivery of chemical compounds into the dermis for a variety of dermatology indications,
We believe the combination of Spongiffe s mechanical and chemical components (which we believe have demonstrated, in-
vitre, anti-microbial and anti-inflammatory propentics), add to the versatility of our Spoagiffa technology platform's
effectivencss as a singular product, in the treatment of a wide variety of medical skin diseases like acne and psoriasis,. We
also believe the mechanical properties of our Spengilla technology allows for the intradermal delivery of a variety of large
maolecules, like botulinum toxins, monoclonal antibodies, or dermal fillers, 1o targel treatment sites, through topical
application without the need for needles.

Our lead product candidate, DMT3 10, is inended to utilize our Spongilla technology for once weekly treatment of a variety
of skin diseases, with our initial focus being the treatment of acne vulgaris, which has a U.S. market size of approximately 50
million patients. We have shown DMT310%s ability to treat the multiple causes of acne in a Phase 2b study whene we initially
saw a 45% reduction in inflammatory lesions alter four treatments, with statistically significant improvements at all time
paints for all three primary endpoints throughout the study (reduction in inflammatory lesions, reduction in non-inflammatory
lesions, and improvement in Investigator Global Assessment). Based on this Phase 2b data we are currently preparing for an
end of phase 2 meeting with the FDA to finalize requirements prior to initiating a phase 3 program in the second half of 2023,
In addition. based on the multiple mechanisms of action and anti-inflammatory effiect seen with DMT310 acne trial. we
completed a Phase 1b proof of coneept, or POC, tnal in psoriasis where we saw encouraging results warranting further
investigation.

DMT310 consists of two grams of powder processed from the naturally grown freshwater sponge, Spongilla lacustris. The
patient mixes the powder with a fluidizing agent (hydrogen peroxide) immediately prior to application by the patient to form
an easy-to-apply paste. The paste is applied similar to a mud mask and is lefi on the skin for approximately ten to fifteen
minutes, after which time it 1s washed off with water. Due to the unigue combination of DMT310°s mechanical components
and chemical components, and based on our Phase 2 acne data, we believe patients will only need 1o apply DMT3 10 once-
weekly 1o produce a desired treatment effect. The mechanical components of the Spongilla powder consist of many
microscopic siliceous, needle-like spicules that, when massaged into the skin, penetrate the stratum comeum (the skin's
outermost protective layer) and create microchannels into the dermis where pro-inflammatory cytokines and bacteria reside.
We believe that the penctration of the spicules also leads to the opening of microchannels, which allow oxygen to enter
piloschaceous glands, helping to kill C. acmes, which grow in an anacrobic (without oxygen) environment (. acnes is the
bacteria that cause inflammatory lesions in acne patients). The spicules also cause rejuvenation of the top layer of dead skin,
thereby increasing collagen production. Additionally, we believe the newly created microchannels provide a conduit for
DMT310°s naturally occurring chemical compounds to be delivered to the dermis and pilosebaceous glands, helping to kill
the €. acies and fight inflammation. In addition to these anti-microbial compounds, DMT3 10 also appears to have anti-
inflammatory chemical compounds, as demonstrated in in vitro experiments, that inhibit inflammation through the reduction
of C.acnes stimulated 11-8 production and by inhibiting 11-17A and 11.-17F expression in human cell lines. Also, during in
vitro studies of DMT3 10's organic compounds, we observed the inhibition of the lipogenesis of sebocytes, which may
translate to a reduction in sebum (an oily and waxy substance produced by the human body's sebaceous glands) production
and the oiliness of the skin in patients, which was observed by a number of clinical investigators in our Phase 2 acne studies.
We believe the combination of these biological and mechanical effects could be imponant factars in treating multiple
inflammatory skin diseases, as seen in our clinical trials,
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Our second product candidate uiilizing our Spongilla technology is DMT410, our combination treatment, DMT410 15
intended 10 consist of one treatment of our proprietary sponge powder followed by one topical application of botulinum toxin
for delivery into the dermis. Currently, botulinum toxin is only approved to be delivered to the dermis by intradermal
injections, which can be painful for the patient and time-consuming for the physician. However, we believe DMT4107s
ability to topically deliver botulinum toxin into the dermis could have similar levels of efficacy to existing delivery
technigues, with fewer wolerability issues. and a quicker application time, possibly replacing the need for intradermal
injections, We first tested DMT410 in a Phase | POC trial of axillary hyperhidrosis patients, which saw 80% of patients
achieve a reduction in gravimetric sweal production greater than 50% four weeks afier a single treatment. With almost 40
of the hyperhidrosis market currently being treated with intradermal injections of botulinum toxin, we believe there could be
significant opportunity for DMT410 to break into this market and replace intradermal injections of botulinum toxin. Based on
DMT410°s ability to effectively deliver botulinum toxin to the dermis as observed in the Phase | axillary hyperhidrosis trial,
we also conducted a Phase | POC trial of DMT410 for the treatment of multiple aesthetic skin conditions, including
reduction of pore size, sebum production, and fine lines, among others, In November 2021, we announced top-ling results
from this trial, where we saw promising data that we believe warrants further investigation of DMT4 10, We are currently in
the process of discussing partnering opponunitics with botulinum toxin companics to move the DMT410 program into Phase
2 studies.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a major impact in the US and around the world. The availability of vaccines
holds promise for the future, though new variants of the virus and potential waning immunity from vaccines may result in
continued impact from this pandemic in the future, which could adversely impact our operations. To date. the Company has
managed delays and disruptions without significant impact in planned and ongoing preclinical and clinical trials,
manufacturing or shipping. Potential impacis to our business include delays in planned and ongoing preclinical and clinical
trials including enrollment of patients, disruptions in ime and resources provided by independent clinical investigators,
contract research organizations, and other third-party service providers, temporary closures of our facilities, disruptions or
restrictions on our employees” ability to travel, and delays in manufacturing and'or shipments to and from third-party
suppliers and contract manufacturers for APls and drug product.

We have a limited operating history. Since our inception. our operations have focused on developing DMT3 10 and DMT410,
organizing and staffing our company, raising capital, establishing our supply cham and manufacturing processes, further
characterizing the multiple mechanisms of action of our Spengilla technology, building an intellectual property portfolio. and
conducting non-clinical and clinical mials. We do not have any product candidates approved for marketing and have not
generated any revenue from product sales. We have funded our operations primarily through the sale of our equity securities
and debt securities. Since inception, we have raised an aggregate of approximately $31.9 million of gross proceeds from the
sale of our debt and equity securities, including the securities sold in our IPO.

We have not generated any revenue to date and have incurred significant operating losses. Our net losses were $9.6 million
and §7.9 million for years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and as of December 31, 2022, we had an
accumiilated deficit of $45.6 million. We expect to contintie to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the
foreseeable future. We anticipate that our expenses will increase significantly in connection with our ongoing activitics, as
we:

. complete development of DMT310 for the treatment of acne, including non-clinical studies and Phase 3
clinical trials;

- prepare and file for regulatory approval of DMT3I10 for the treatment of moderate-to-seviere acne,

. continue development of DMTZ210 for the treatment of psoriasis, including a Phase 2 elinical trial and Phase 3
clinical trials. pending additional finances or strategic partner;

. identify a botulinum toxin partner for DMT410 for the reatment of aesthetic and medical skin conditions:

. prepare for commercialization of DMT310, if approved, including the hiring of sales and marketing
personnel;

. begin to manufacture our product candidates for Phase 2 and Phase 3 tnals and commercial sale:

. hire additional rescarch and development and selling, general and administrative personnel;
. maintain. expand, and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and
. incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company.
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We will need additional financing to support our operations. We may seck 1o fund our operations through public or private
equity or debt financings or other sources. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or
at all. Our failure to raise capital when needed or on favorable terms would have a negative impact on our financial condition
and our ability to pursue our business strategy. We will need to generate significant revenues to achicve profitability. and we
may never do 2o,

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue

We have not generated any revenue since inception and de not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in
the near future until we obtain regulatory approval of, and commercialize, our product candidares,

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical
development generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to
the increased size and duration of late-stage clinical wrials. We cxpect research and development costs to increase
significantly for the foreseeable future as our pipeline of product candidates progress further into clinical rials. However, we
do not believe it is possible at this time 1o accurately project total program- related expenses to reach commercialization
based on numerous factors. In addition, there are numerous unknown expenses related to the commercialization of our
product candidates including continued regulatory requirements, many of which cannot be determined with accuracy at this
time,

Research and development expenses consist of expenses incurred in connection with the development of our product
candidates. We expense development costs as incurred. These expenses include:

. expenses incurmed under agreements with CROs, as well as investigative sites and consultants that conduct
our clinical trials and preclinical studies;

. manufacturing and supply scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical and
clinical trial supply and commercial supply, including manufacturing validation batches; and

. outsourced laboratory services, including materials and supplies used 1o support our research and
development activities, including payments made for license fees and milestone payments.

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or
know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the remainder of the development of, or
when, if ever, material net cash inflows may commence from our product candidates. This uncertainty is due to the numerous
risks and uncertainties associated with the duration and cost of clinical trials, which vary significantly over the life of a
project as a result of many factors, including:

. the number of clinical sites included in the clinical trials;

. the length of time required to enroll suitable patients;

. ihe size of patient populations participating in the clinical irials;
. the number of doses a patient receives;

. the duration of patient follow-ups;

. the development state of the product candidates; and

. the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidates,
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Our expenditures are subject to additional uncertainties, including the terms and timing of regulatory approvals, and the
expense of filing, prosecuting. defending. and enforcing any patent claims or other intellectual property rights. Wie may never
succeed in achieving regulatory approval for our product candidates. We may obtain unexpected results from our clinical
trials. We may elect to discontinue, delay, or modify clinical trials of our product candidates. A change in the outcome of any
of these variables with respect to the development of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the costs and
timing associated with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the FDA or other regulatory authorities
were o require us to conduct clinical trials bevond those that we currently anticipate, or if we expenience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resotrces and time on
the completion of clinical development. Product commercialization will take several years and millions of dollars in
development costs,

General and Adminisirative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist pnncipally of salaries and related costs for personnel in executive and
administrative functions, travel expenses and recruiting expenses. Other general and administrative expenses include stock-
based compensation expenses, professional fees for legal, accounting and tax related services, insurance cosis, as well as
payments made to consultants. We expense all general and administrative expenses as incurmed.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase as a result of increased payroll, expanded
infrastructure and higher consulting, legal and tax related services associated with mainlaining compliance with stock
exchange listing and SEC requirements, accounting and investor relations costs, and director and officer insurance premiums
associated with being a public company.

Interest Expense

Interest expense has consisted primarily of interest expense on our previously outstanding convertible debt and loan with
Silicon Valley Bank, amortization of debt discount costs, and interest on milestone payments under the License Amendment
and Settlement Agreement,

Interest Income
Interest income consists of inlerest income carned on cash equivalents from interest bearing demand accounts,
Income Taxes

From inception until March 24, 2021, we operated as a limited liability company taxed as a partnership. Therefore, any
income tax liability or benefit through thar date acerued 1o our members. Sinee March 24, 2021, we have operated as a C-
Corporation and account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilitics for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements.
Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial
statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the dilferences are
expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax asseis and habilities is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

We recognize net deforred tax assets to the extent that we believe these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In
making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing
taxable temporary differences. projected future taxable income. tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. 11 we
determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of our recorded net amount, we
would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

We record uncertain tax positions on the hasis of a two-step process whereby (1) management determines whether it is more
likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, management recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit
that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. We recognize interest and
penalties related o unrecognized tax benefits, if any, within income tax expense, Any accrued interest and penalties are
included within the related tax liability,
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmenis and Estimates

We have based our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and resulis of operations on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, The

ion of these financial statements requires us (o make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liahilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities al the date of the financial statements as well as the reported
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods, On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments,
including those related to clinical development expenses and the fair value of units and common stock. We base our estimates
on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe ta be appropriate under the circumstances. Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different assumplions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our audited financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies are critical to the process of
making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our financial stalements,

Rescarch and Development Expenses

As parl of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required (o record actual research and development
expenses and to estimate accrued research and development expenses, current assets, and other current liabilities. This
process involves reviewing open contracts and commitments, communicating with our personnel to ientify services that
have been performed for us and estimating the level of service performied and the associated cost incurred for the service
when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers inveice us
monthly in arrears for services performed or when contractual milestones are metl. We make estimates of our accrued
research and development expenses, current assets, and other current liabilities as of each balance sheet date in our financial
statements based on facts and circumstances known 1o us at that time. Example of estimated accrued research and
development expenses, prepaid assets, and other current liabilities include fees paid to contract manufacturers made in
connection with the manufacturing of ¢linical trials materials and contract research organizations made in connection the
performance of clinical trials on our behalf.

We base our expenses related (o clinical manufacturing and clinical trials on our estimates of the services performed purstamt
o contracts with the entities performing those serviges on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to
negoliation, vary from contract to contract, and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under these types of contracts
depend heavily upon the successful completion of many separate tasks involved in the manufacturing of drug product and the
performance of clinical trials. In the case of clinical trials, a portion of the estimated cost normally relates to the projected
cost Lo treat a patient in the trials, and this cost is recognized based on the number of patients enrolled in the trial. Other
indirect costs are generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of the study. As actual costs become
known to us, we adjust our accruals, To date, our estimates have not differed materially from the actual costs incurred.
However, subsequent changes in estimates may result in a material change in our aceruals, which could also materially affect
our balance sheet and results of operations,

We accrue and expense clinical wrial activities performed by third parties based upon estimates of the proportion of work
completed over the life of the individual clinical trial and patient enrollment rates in accordance with agreements esiablished
with clinical research organizations ("CROs™) and clinical trial sites. We determine the estimates by reviewing contracts,
vendor agreements and purchase orders, and through discussions with mternal clinical personnel and external service
providers as to the progress or stage of completion of trials or services and the agreed-upon fee to be paid for such services,
However, actual costs and timing of clinical trials are highly uncertain, subject to risks and may change depending upon a
number of factors, including our clinical development plan.

We make estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our financial statements based on facts and
circumstances Known (o us al that time. IT the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from
the estimate, we will adjust the acerual sccordingly. Monrefundable advance paymients for goods and services, including fees
for process development or manufacturing and distribution of clinical supplies that will be used in future research and
development activities, are deferred and recognized as expense in the period that the related goods are consumed or services
are performed.
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Fair Value of Common Stock and Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as
expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The company’s policy permits the valuation
of stock-based awards granted to non-employees to be measured at fair value at the grant date.

Determining the appropriate fair value of share-based awards requires the use of subjective assumptions, including the fair
value of our common shares for awards prior to our IPO, and for options, the expected life of the option and expected share
price volatility, We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our option awards. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of share-based awards represents our best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the
application of judgment. As a result, if factors change and management uscs different assumptions, share-based
compensation expense could be materially different for future awards,

Prior to our mitial public offering m August 2021, we were required to periodically estimate the fair value of our common
stock when issuing stock options and computing their estimated stock-based compensation expense. The fair value of
common stock was determined by management on a periodic basis, with the assistance of an independent third-party
valuation firm. The assumptions underlying these valuations represented management’s best estimates, which involved
inherent uncertainties and the application of significant levels of managemeni judgment.

In order to determine the fair value, we considered. among other things. contemporaneous transactions involving the sale of
our common stock to unrelated third partics, the lack of marketability of our common stock and the market performance of
comparable publicly raded companies.

Fair Value of Common Units

In the absence of a public trading market for our common units prior to our IPO, on cach gramt date, we developed an
estimate of the fair value of our common units underlying the unit grants. We estimated the fair value of our common units
by referencing arm’s length transactions with third parties, inclusive of the common units underlying which occurred on or
near the valuation date(s).

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued 161,142 Class B Common Units to employees, officers, and directors.
During the vear ended December 31, 2020, we issued 2,926 Class B Common Units to consultants and 2.643 Class B
Common Units to an emplovee. All of the Class B Common Units issued in 2019 and 2020 represent a profits interest, as that
term is defined in Revenuve Procedure 93-27, 1993-2 C.B. 343, as clarified by Revenue Procedure 2001-43, 2001-2 C.B. 191.
For performance-based awards, if and when the achievement of the predetermined performance criteria become probable,
expense will be recognirzed. To date unit-based compensation expense has not been material. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of unit-based awards represents management’s best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and
the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and management uses different assumptions, unit-
based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards. All of such securities were exchanged for shares
of our capital units in connection with our conversion from a limited liability company to a corporation in March 2021,

Comparison of the Years Ended December 11, 2022, and 2021
The following table summarizes our resulis of operations for the vears ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Difference
Operating cxpenses:
Research and development .. . 5 5651041 8 3459340 § 2,191,701
General and adminisirative 4023445 4.397.524 (374.079)
Total operating expenses ... 9674486 7.856,804 1.817,622
Losses from operations (2.674.486) (T.R56.864) (1.817.622)
Other income and expenses:
Imterest (INCOME) EXPENSE, MBY ...cuiiisuses s sissssinssisssrssssmessssasei s ssisnsasassssassssn assessss (63,573) 45613 (109, 186)
TN OB s s bk i b s i s g e itnmdirmnd e cnsinimsmnsssnesy 3 (9,610,973)  $(7.90247T) $({1,708,436)




Rexearch and Development Expenses

Rescarch and development expenses increased by approximately $2.2 million from $3.3 million for the year ended December
31. 2021, to $5.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2022, The increase in research and development expense was the
result of $1.1 million of increased clinical trial expenses, $0.7 million of increased non-clinical expenses, 0.3 million in
increased CMC expenses, as well as increased emplovee and personnel expenses of $0.2 million, offset by decreased stock-
based compensation expense of $0.1 million.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by $0.4 million from $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, to
£4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, The decrease in general and administrative expenses was the result of
£0.8 million in decreased stock-based compensation expense, $0.2 million of decreased legal costs, and $0.1 million of
decreased emplovee and personnel expenses, offset by increased insurance costs of $0.5 million and increased public
company costs of $0.2 million,

Other income aid expenses

Onther income and expenses changed by $109,186 from $45.613 representing interest expense, net. for the year ended
December 31, 2021, compared o interest income, net, of $63,573 for the year ended December 31, 2022, The Company
opened a cash sweep account during the third quarter of 2022 and has begun caming interest income via overnight deposits.
The prior vear inferest expense related to the amortization of debt discount and interest expense for previously outstanding
debt. As of December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2022, the Company no longer had any debt outstanding.

Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating and financing activities:
Year Ended

December 31,
2022 021

Statements of cash flows data:

Total net cash provided by {used in):
Operating activities,
Finaneing activilies,
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalems...

- S{BE34.164) §(5.693,392)
- 5 4276652 $15961,798
- S{4,557.512) $10.208.406

Operating activifies

Cash used in operations of $8.8 million for the vear ended December 31, 2022, was the result of the net loss of $9.6 million
and a decrease in accounts payable and acerued and other current liabilities of $0.3 million, offset by non-cash stock-based
compensation of $0.9 million and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.2 million.

Cash used in operations of $5.7 million for the vear ended December 31, 2021, was the result of the net loss of §7.9 million
and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.7 million, offset by non-cash stock-based compensation off
£1.9 million and an in¢rease in accounts pavable and accrued and other current liabilities of $1.0 million,

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities of £4.3 million for the vear ended December 31, 2022, was the result of the net
proceeds received from the issuance of common stock and warrants issued in April 2022 from a private placement of the
Company s securities,

Cash provided by financing activities of $16.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, was the result of net proceeds
of $15.4 million from our initial public offering, $1.6 million from the issuance of convertible subordinated promissory notes,
proceeds of $0.6 million from the issuance of Series |d Preferred Units, offset by $1.0 million payment for the redemption of
5,221,156 shares of Series ¢ preferred stock and $0.6 million of principal and final payments on debt.




Liguidity and Capiial Resources

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue or commercialized any products. As of December 31, 2022, our cash
and cash equivalents totaled $6.2 million, and we had an accumulated deficit of $45.6 million. For the vear ended December
31,2022, and 2021, we used cash of 8.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively. in operations.

Historcally, our principal sources of cash have included proceeds from the issuance of commaon and preferred equity and
proceeds from the issuance of debt. Our principal uses of cash have included cash used in operations (including clinical
development of our product candidates and general and administrative expenses) and payments for license rights, We expect
that the principal uses of cash in the future will be for continuing operations, funding of research and development, and
general working capital requirements, We expect that as research and development expenses continue to grow, we will need
1o raise additional capital to suslain operations and research and development activities.

Future Capital Requiremenis

We plan to focus in the near term on the development, regulatory approval, and potential commercialization of DMT310 for
the reatment of acne and psoriasis. We anticipate we will incur net losses for the next several years as we complete clinical
development of DMT310 for the treatment of acne and psoriasis and continue research and development of DMT410 for the
treatment of aesthetic and medical skin conditions. In addition, we plan to seek opportunities to identify, acquire or in license
and develop additional drug candidates, potentially build commercial capabilities, and expand our corporate infrastructure.
We may not be able to complete the development and initiate commercialization of these programs if, among other things,
our clinical trinls are not successful or if the FDA does not approve our drug candidate anising out of our current clinical trals
when we expect, or at all.

Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be, compensation and related expenses, clinical costs, external
rescarch and development services, legal and other regulatory expenses, and administrative and overhead costs. Our future
funding requirements will be heavily determined by the resources needed to support development of our drug candidates,

As a publicly traded company, we will incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we were nol required 1o
incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, as well as rules adopted by the SEC and Nasdag,
requires public companies to implement specified corporate governance practices that were not applicable 1o us as a privaie
company. We expect these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some
activities more time-consuming and costly.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operaling expenses and capital
expenditure requirements into the third quarter of 2023, We have based this estimate of cash runway on assumplions that may
prove o be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we expect, We will require additional
capital to conduct Phase 3 studies for DMT3 10 for the treatment of acne, and to pursue in licenses or acquisitions of other
drug candidates.

Additional funds may not be available on a imely basis, on favorable terms, or at all, and such funds, if raised, may not be
sufficient to enable us to continue to implement our long-term business strategy. I we are unable to raise sufficient additional
capital, we may need to substantially curtail our planned operations and the pursuit of our growth strategy.

We may raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, In such an event, the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of a holder of our common stock,

Because of the numerous risks and unceriainties associated with research, development, and commercialization of
pharmaceutical drugs. we are unable to estimate the exact amount of our working capital requirements. Our future funding
requirements will depend on many (actors, including:

. the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we pursue;

. the scope, progress, results, and costs of researching and developing our drug candidates, and condugting
preclinical studies and clinical trials;

. the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our drug candidates;
. the cost of manufacturing our drug candidates and any drugs we successfully commercialize;
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. our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial
terms of such agreements;

. the costs invelved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending, and enforcing patent ¢laims,
including litigation costs and the outcome of such litigation: and

. the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, or milestone payments related to or royalties on, our current or
futire drug candidates, if any.

To continue to grow our business over the longer term, we plan to comimit substantial resources to research and development,
clinical trials of our product candidates, and other operations and potential product acquisitions and in licensing, We have
evaluated and expect o continue to evaluate a wide array of strategic transactions as part of our plan to acquire or in license
and develop additional products and product candidates o augment our internal development pipeline, Strategic transaction
opportunities that we may pursue could materially affect our liquidity and capital resources and may reguire us to incur
additional indebtedness, seek equity capital or both. In addition, we may pursue development. acquisition or in licensing of
approved or development products in new or existing therapeutic areas or continue the expansion of our existing operations.
Accordingly, we expect 1o continue 1o opportunistically seek access to additional capital 1o license or acquire additional
praducts, product candidates or companies lo expand our eperations, or for general corporate purposes. Strategic transaclions
may require us to raise additional capital through one or more public or private debt or equity financings or could be
structured as a collaboration or partnering arrangement. We have no arrangements, agreements, or understandings in place at
the present time to enter into any acquisition, in licensing or similar strategic business transaction.

If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholder will experience dilution. Debt financing, if available,
would result in increased fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt. making capital expenditures or declaring
dividends. Any debt financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms, such as liguidation and other preferences
that are not favorable to us or our stockholder. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements
with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product
candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable 1o us.

Gioing Concern

Since inception we have been engaged in organizational activities, including raising capital and rescarch and development
activities, We have not generated revenues and have not vet achieved profitable operations, nor have we ever generated
positive cash flow from operations. There is no assurance that profitable operations, if achieved, could be sustained on a
continuing basis. We are subject to those risks associated with any pre-clinical stage pharmaceutical company that has
substantial expenditures for rescarch and development. There can be no assurance that our rescarch and development projects
will be successful, that products developed will obtain necessary regulatory approval, or that any approved product will be
commercially viable, In addition, we operate in an environment of rapid technological change and is largely dependent on the
services of our emplovees and consultants. Further, our future operations are dependent on the success of the Company's
efforts to raise additional capital, These uncertainties raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern
for 12 months after the issuance date of our financial statements. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared
on a going concem basis. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the
recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of habilitics that may result from the possible
inability of the company to continue as a going concem, which contemplates the continuation of operations, realization of
assets and liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary course of business, We incurred net losses of $9.6 million and $7.9 million
for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of $45.6 million at December
31, 2022. We anticipate incurring additional losses until such time, if ever, that we can generale significant revenue from our
product candidates currently in development. Our primary source of capital has been the issuance of debt and equity
securities.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, please see the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the
Notes to our financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.




JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was signed into law, The JORS Act
contains provisions that, among other things. reduce certain reporting requirements for an “emerging growth company™. As
an “emerging growth company,” we are electing to take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS
Act for the implementation of new or revised accounting standards, and as a resull, we will comply with new or revised
accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth
companics. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision nol to take advantage of the extended transition period is
irmevocable,

Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an “emerging growth company,” we are not required to, among
other things, (i) provide an auditor’s atlestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404, (ii) provide all of the compensation disclosure that may be required of non-emerging growth public companies
under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, (1) comply with any requirement that may be
adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the
auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (auditor discussion and
analysis), and (iv) disclose certain executive compensation-related items such as the correlation between executive
compensation and performance and comparizons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median employee
compensation. These exemptions will apply until the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering or until
we no longer meet the requirements for being an “emerging growth company,”™ whichever occurs first.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Mot Applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this item appears in a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page
F-1 and is incorporated herein by reference,

ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fmangial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢) under the Exchange Act. means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded. processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, conirols and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulaied and communicated (o the company s management, including its principal executive and principal financial
officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-bencfit relationship of possible controls and
procedures, Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level,
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporiing

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding mternal control over
financial reporting or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period
established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting identificd in management’s evaluation pursuant to
Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that ocourred during the vear ended December 31, 2022, that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemmal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, believes that our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and are effective al the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our intermal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system,
no maiter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
contral system are met. Further, the design of a contral system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent imitations in all control sysiems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud. if any. have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
oceur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls, The design of any system of controls
also is based in part upan certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due 10 error or fraud may occur and nol
be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
MNone.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.




PART 111
ITEM 10, DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Executive Officers and Directors

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers and directors as of the date of this annual report:

Name Age Position(s)
Executive Officers
Gerald T. Prochl 63 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

4 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
58 Senior Viee President, Chief Development Officer
71 Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs & Quality Assurance

Kyri K. Van Hoose.
Christopher ], Nardo, Ph.D...
Maria Bedoya Toro Munera, Ph.D. .

Directors

David Hale 2M3)......ovviisnmsens 74 Lead Director
Wendell Wierenga, Ph.DD, (2) 75 Director
Kathleen Seott (1).....ooovvos 54 Director
Stephen J. Mento, Ph.D. (3).. " Director
Mary Fisher (1) 61 Director
Andrew Sandler, M.T. (2)(3) 1] Director
Brittany Bradrick (1)......c.ccecue. L1} [Director

{1} Member of the Audit Commitiee.
{2} Member of the Compensation Commitlee.
{3) Member of the Nominating and Governance Commitiee.

Management

Gerald T. Prochl became a director and our President and Chief Executive Officer in December 2014 and became our
Chairman in April 2021. Mr. Proehl has more than 30 vears of experience within the pharmaceutical industry. From January
2002 until January 2014, Mr. Prochl was President and CEO of Santarus, Inc., where he led the sale of Santarus, Inc. to Salix
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for $2.6 billion. Prior to Santarus, In¢.. Mr. Proehl worked for Hoechst Marion Roussel, Inc, for 14
years, where he served in various capacitics, including VP of Global Marketing, While at Hoechst, he was responsible for
marketing products in multiple therapeutic areas, including cardiology, allergy/respiratory, immunology, and neurology. Mr.
Prochl holds a B.S. in Education from State University of New York at Cortland. an M.A. in Exercise Physiology from Wake
Forest University, and an M.B. A, from Rockhurst University, Mr, Prochl currently serves as chairman of the board of one
public company, Tenax Therapeutics, Inc. (NYSE: TENX). Mr. Proehl was selected as an officer and director due to his
leadership experience at other companies and his history of founding and operating specialty pharmaceutical companies.

Kyri K. Van Hoose became our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in September 2021. Ms. Van Hoose is a
seasoned and collaborative finance and accounting professional with over 20 vears of experience, including more than 15
years of accounting and finance experience in the life science industry. Prior to joining Dermata, from September 2020 to
April 2021, Ms. Van Hoose served as Chief Financial Officer of TEGA Therapeutics, Inc_, a private biotechnology company.
Prior to TEGA, from November 2009 to April 2020, Ms. Van Hoose served as the head of finance for Curzion
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a private, rare disease company, until its acquisition by Horizon Therapeutics ple in Apeil 2020, Ms,
Van Hoase also served at Avelas Biosciences, Inc., a clinical-stage biotechnology company from December 2017 to July
2019. From September 2005 to February 2016, Ms, Van Hoose held leadership positions of increasing responsibilities at
Acadia Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including Senior Director of Finance and Corporate Controller. Ms. Wan Hoose began her
career at Deloitte and is a licensed Certified Public Accountant (California inactive). Ms. Van Hoose eamed her B.S. in
Accounting at the University of Southern California and M.B.A. in Finance at University of California, Irvine,
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Christopher J. Nardo, Ph.D. became our Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer in July 2022, Dr. Nardo has
more than 15 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. From September 2010 to May 2015, Dr. Nardo served in
positions of increasing responsibility at Allergan. PLC, initially leading clinical development of BOTOX® for the treatment
of Over Active Bladder from Phase 3 to product approval and launch, and ultimately leading clinical development for the
aesthetic group within the Dermatology Therapeutic Area, as well as serving as Global Development Team Leader for the
Allergan/Medytox collaboration including serving as the Chair of the AGN/MTX Joint Development Committee. From 2006
to 2010, Dr, Nardo served as Vice President, Clinical Operations and Biostatistics a1 Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(NASDAC: SPPI). Prior to that, Dr. Mardo held various clinical development leadership positions at CancerVax Corporation,
The lmmune Response Corporation, and Procter and Gamble Company (NYSE: PG). Dr. Nardo obtained a Ph.D. in
Epidemiology from the Gillings School of Public Health at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, his MP.H. in
Epidemiology and Biostatistics from the School of Public Health at San Diego State University, and his B.S. in Biology at
Loyola Marymount University.

Maria Bedoya Toro Munera, Ph.D). became our Senior Vice President ufllcg'uln‘[m’y Affairs and Quality Assurance in
January 2016. Dr. Bedoya Toro Munera has more than 30 years of experience in regulatory compliance, quality control and
quality assurance within the phiarmaceutical industry. From 2014 until its sale to Celgene in 2015, Dr. Bedoya Toro Munera
served as Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance at Receptos Inc. Prior to Receptos, Inc., Dr.
Bedova Toro Mungra served as Senior Vice President of Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance at Santarus, Ine, from
June 2007 to January 2014, She previously served as Senior Direclor Regulatory Affairs at Eisai Medical Research Inc.. from
November 2006 to May 2007, moving to Eisai from Ligand Pharmaceuticals, Inc. when Ligand divested their oncology
products to Eisai in November 2006. Dr. Bedova Toro Munera worked as Senior Director Global Regulatory Affairs and
Compliance at Ligand from 2003 to 2006, From 2000 to 2003, she served as Director Global Regulatory Affairs at Baxter
Hyland Immuno. From 1998 to 2000, Dr. Bedova Toro Munera worked at BASF Bioresearch Corporation as Director,
Regulatory Affairs'Quality, and from 1996 to 1998, she worked as Director, Quality Assurance and Regulatory Compliance
at Amylin Pharmaceuticals. From 1988 to 1996, Dr. Bedova Toro Munera worked at Rhone-Foulenc Rorer in a number of
increasingly responsible positions in regulatory compliance, quality assurance, quality control and compliance. Dr. Bedova
Toro Munera holds an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago, and a Ph.D. in bic-analytical chemistry from Ohio University,
In addition, she has a MA. in bic-analytical chemstry and a B.S. in chemisiry from Western Michigan University.

Non-Employvee Directors

Diavid Hale is our co-founder and has served as a member of our board of directors since December 2014, and as Lead
Director since April 2021. Mr. Hale is Chairman and CEO of Hale BioPharma Ventures, LLC a private company focused on
the formation and development of biotechnology, specialty pharma, diagnostic and medical device companies, Mr. Hale isa
serial entreprencur who has been involved in the formation and development of a number of successful biomedical
companies. He served as the Chairman of Santarus, Inc.., a specialty biopharmaceutical company. since 2004 and a member
of Santarus’ board since 2000, prior lo its acquisition by Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. in 2004, and as Chairman of
SkinMedica, Inc., prior to its sale to Allergan in 2012, Micromet, Inc., prior to its sale to Amgen Inc. in 2012, Somaxon
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., prior to its sale to Pernix Therapeutics Holdings Inc, in 2013, Crisi Medical Systems, Inc., prior to its
sale to Becton Dickinson & Company in 2003, and Agility Clinical, Inc. prior to its sale to Precision Medicine Inc. in 2017,
Mr. Hale is a co-founder and currently serves as Chairman of Oncternal Therapeutics, Inc. (NASDAQ: ONCT), since 2013,
Mr. Hale is also a co-founder and currently serves as a director of Neurelis, Inc., a private company, and is a co-founder of
Zerigo Health, Inc., Cadence, Inc., Evoke Pharma, Inc., Elevation Pharma, Inc., and Zogenix, Inc, Mr. Hale is a co-founder
and serves on the Board of Directors of BIOCOM and CONNECT and is a former member of the Board of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO), and the Biotechnology Institute. He has served on the Board of Rady Children's
Hospital since 1986, including Chairman of the Board from 2011 to 20135, and is founder and Chairman of the Rady
Children’s Institute of Genomic Medicine. He is a member of the UCSD Rady School of Management Dean’s Advisory
Council, a member of the board of the University of San Dicgo, and is a former Director of the San Dicgo Economic
Development Corporation. Mr. Hale was selected as a director due 1o his industry and executive business experience.

Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D. became a director in September 2006, From June 2011 to January 20014, Dr. Wierenga served as
Executive Vice President, Research and Development at Santarus, Inc., a public biophammaceutical company that was
acquired by Salix Pharmaceuticals. Inc. in January 2014, From July 2004 to May 2011, Dr. Wierenga served as Executive
Vice President, Research and Development at Ambit Biosciences Corporation and Neurocrine Biosciences, Inc, (NASDAQ;
NBIX). Prior to Neurocrine, from August 1999 to June 2004 he served as the Chief Executive Officer for Sy, Inc. where
he built an early stage bimech company which was acquired by Takeda Pharmacewtical Company Limited in 2005, From
1990 10 2000, Dr. He also was Sr. VP of Research at Parke Davis/Wamer Lambert, when it was acquired by Pfizer Inc. and
prior to that held various positions in research at Upjohn Pharmaceuticals from 1974-1990. Dr. Wierenga eamed his Ph.D. in
chemistry from Stanford University and his B.A, from Hope College in Holland, Michigan. He is currently the chair of the
Board of Directors of Crinetics (NASDAQ: CRNX) and is also a member of the Board of Directors of Cytokinetics, Inc.
(NASDAQ: CYTK). Most recently was on the Board of Directors for Anacor Pharmacewticals Inc. and XenoPort, Inc. prior
to their sales to Plizer Inc. and Arbor Pharmaceuticals, LLC. respectively. Dr. Wierenga was selected as a director due to his
industry and executive business experience.




Kathleen Scott became a director upon the effectiveness of our initial public offering in August 2021, Ms. Scon is currently
the Chief Financial Officer of ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a publicly raded biotech company (Nasdaq: SPRY). Prior to ARS
Pharmaceuticals, Ms. Scott was the Chief Financial Officer of Neurana Pharmaceuticals from January 2017 to March 2022,
Recros Medica from August 2014 to April 2021, Adigica Health from February 2016 to March 2021, Clarify Medical from
August 2014 to December 2016, Oncternal Therapeutics from March 2016 to May 2016, MDRejuvena from August 2014 1o
August 2016, and BioSurplus from March 2010 10 November 2014, Prior to BioSurplus, Ms. Scott was a Partner at RA
Capital Advisors, a San Diego private investment bank providing financial advisory services. Ms. Scoll spent over 15 vears
with RA Capital Advisors, from December 1994 1o July 2010, completing billions of dollars of mergers, acquisitions,
divestitures, and restructurings for a broad range of corporate clients, Ms, Scout started her career as an auditor in Arthur
Andersen’s San Diego office, focusing on both public and private clients. Ms. Scott is the past board chair and current
director of the YMCA of San Diego County and is a CPA and CFA charter holder, Ms. Scott graduated magna cum laude
from UCLA with a B.S. in economicsbusiness. Ms. Scott was selected as a director due to her extensive industry and
financial experience.

Steven J. Mento, Ph.D. became a director upon the effectiveness of our initial public offering in August 2021, Since July
2005, Dr. Mento has served as a director on the board of directors of Conatus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and from July 2005 w0
December 2012, Dr. Mento served as chairman of Conatus® board of directors. Dr. Mento was a co-founder of Conatus and
served as its President and Chief Executive Officer from July 2005 until its merger with Histogen Inc. (NASDAQ: HSTO) in
May 2020, Dr. Menio has over 30 vears of combined experience in the biolechnology and pharmaceutical indusiries. From
1997 1w 2005, Dr. Mento was President, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Idun
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Dr. Memo guided Idun during its transition from a discovery focused organization to a drug
development company with multiple products in or near human clinical testing. In April 2005, Idun was sold to Pfizer Inc.
Previously, Dr. Mento served as President of Chiron Viagene, Ine. (subsequently Chiron Technologies, Center for Gene
Therapy) from 1995 ro 1997, and Vice President of Chiron Corporation from 1995 1o 1997, Dr. Mento was Vice President of
research and development at Viagene from 1992 1o 1995, Prior to Viagene, Dr. Mento held various positions at American
Cyanamid Company from 1982 to 1992, including as Director of Viral Vaccine Research and Development at Lederle-Praxis
Biologicals, a business unit of American Cyanamid, Dr. Mento eurrently serves on the board of directors of Histogen,
BIOCOM California and various academic and charitable organizations. He previously served on the boards of
Biotechnology Innovation Organization, BIO Emerging Companies Section Governing Board, BIO Health Section
Governing Board, and Sangamo Biosciences, Inc. Dr. Mento holds a Ph.D. and M 5., both in Microbiology, from Rutgers
University, and a B.A. in Microbiclogy from Rutgers College, Dr. Mento was selected as a director due to his experience in
the bistechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including executive leadership experience at several pharmaceutical
COMpanies.

Mary Fisher became a director upon the effectiveness of our initial public offering in August 2021. Ms. Fisher currently
serves as Chief Executive Officer, Chair and a Director at Colorescience Inc., a science-based skincare company and former
division of SkinMedica, Inc. While at SkinMedica, Ms. Fisher served as Chief Executive Officer from April 2008 10
December 2012, where she led the successful sale of the company to Allergan, Inc. for 350 million, Prior to joning
SkinMedica, from Junc 2000 to July 2007, Ms. Fisher served as the Chief Operating Officer of Acorda Therapeutics, Inc.
(NASDAQ: ACOR). She previously held management and leadership positions at Cephalon, Inc. from March 1994 10 March
1999, Immunex Corp. from November 1990 to March 1994, and Boehringer Ingelheim from 1981 to 1990, She previously
served on the Board of Directors al ZELTIO) Aesthetics, Inc. from September 2012 to April 2017, and Ovascience from June
2013 to August 2018, Ms. Fisher currently sits on the Board of Sientra since January 2019, Ms. Fisher was selected as a
director due to her extensive business and professional experience.

Andrew Sandler, M.D. became a director upon the effectiveness of our initial public offering in August 2021, Since
September 2017, Dr. Sandler has served as Chief Medical Officer at Kiadis Pharma M.V, Prior to Kiadis, Dr. Sandler was
Senior Vice President, Medical A ffairs at Medivation (acquired by Pfizer) from January 2006 to June 2017. Dr. Sandler held
varipus additional roles including Chief Medical Officer and Seattle Site Head at Dendreon Pharmaceuticals from October
2010 to April 201 5. Prior to Dendreon, Dr. Sandler was Chiel Medical Officer ai Spectrum Pharmaceuticals from Sepiember
2008 to April 2010, and Vice President, Head of Global Medical Affairs, Oncology for Bayer Healthcare Pharmaceuticals
from February 2008 to February 2010, Dr. Sandler also held various positions at Berlex Oncology/Schering AG from
October 2003 1o August 2008, and Seagen, Inc. from October 1999 to June 2003, Dr, Sandler was a Fellow in
Hematology/Medical Oncology at the University of California, San Francisco (LCSF) from July 1994 to June 1996. Tle did
his Intemship. Residency. and Chief Residency at Mt. Sinai Hospital in New York, NY from July 1990 10 June 1994, Dr,
Sandler attended and received his MID degree from Mount Sinai School of Medicine (lcahn School of Medicine at Mt Sina)
from July 1986 to June 1990, In addition, he graduated from the Uiniversity of Rochester with a B.S. degree in Neuroscience
in 1986. Dr, Sandler was selected as a director due to his experience in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries as
well as his leadership experience.
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Brittany Bradrick became a director in January 2022, Ms, Bradrick has served as the Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Financial Officer of Neurelis, Inc. since September 2022 and the Chiel Financial Officer since October 202 1. Prior 1o joining
Weurelis. Ms. Bradrick was Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer at ViaCyie Inc. from June 2020 to
September 2021, Prior to Viacvte, Ms. Bradrick served in strategy and corporate development positions at Insulet
Corporation as Vice President, Strategy & Corporate Development from 2016 to 2020 and as Director, Business
Development & Alliance Management at Abbott Laboratories (INYSE: ABT). Prier 1o these positions, Ms. Bradrick was an
investment banker for the life science industry at Piper Jaffray, Credit Suisse, and Chase Securities from 1997 to 2007, Ms.
Bradrick began her career as a Federal Reserve Bank Examiner. Ms. Bradrick holds an M.B A from the Johnson Graduate
School of Management at Comell University and a B.S, in Business Administration from the University of Missouni, Ms.
Bradrick was selected as a director due 10 her extensive industry and financial experience.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among any of the directors or executive officers,
Committees of the Board of Dircctors

Our board of direciors has established an Audii Commiitee, a Compensation Commitiee, and a Nominating and Corporaie
Governance Committee. Our board of directors may establish other committees to facilitate the management of our business.
The composition and functions of each commitiee are described below. Members serve on these committees until their
resignation of until otherwise determined by our board of directors. Each of these committees operate under a charter that has
been approved by our board of directors, which are available on our website.

Audit Committee, Our Audil Committee consists of Kathleen Scott, Mary Fisher, and Briany Bradrick, with Ms. Scout
serving as the Chairwoman of the Audit Committee. Our board of directors has determined that the three directors currently
serving on our Audit Committee are independent within the meaning of the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules and Rule 10A-3 under
the Exchange Act. In addition, our board of dircctors has determined that Kathleen Scott qualifies as an audit committee
financial expert within the meaning of SEC regulations and The Nasdag Marketplace Rules.

The Audit Committee oversees and monitors our financial reporting process and intemal control system, reviews and
evaluates the audit performed by our registered independent public accountanis and reports to the board of directors any
substantive issues found during the audit. The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation
and oversight of the werk of our registered independent public accountants. The Audit Committee reviews and approves all
transactions with affiliated parties,

Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Commiltee consisis of Wendell Wierenga, David Hale and Andrew Sandler,
with Dr, Wierenga serving as the Chairman of the Compensation Committee, Our board of directors has determined that the
three directors currently serving on our Compensation Committee are independent under the listing standards, are “non-
employee directors™ as defined in rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act and are “outside dircctors™ as that term is
defined in Section 162(m) of the Intermnal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

The Compensation Commiliee provides advice and makes recommendations to the board of directors in the areas of
emplovee salaries, benefit programs and director compensation, The Compensation Committee also reviews and approves
corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our President, Chief Executive Officer, and other officers and
makes recommendations in that regard to the board of directors as a whaole.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee consists of
David Hale, Steven Mento and Andrew Sandler, with Mr. Hale serving as the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee nominates individuals to be elected 1o the
board of directors by our stockholders. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers recommendations
from stockholders if submitted in a timely manner in accordance with the procedures set forth in our bylaws and will apply
the same criteria 1o all persons being considered. All members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee are
independent directors as defined under the Nasdag listing standards.
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Board Composition

Our board of directors consists of seven members. Our directors will hold effice unti] their successors have been elected and
qualified or until the earlier of their resignation or removal.

In accordance with the terms of our restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws, our board of directors is divided into
three classes, class 1, class 1T and class [11, with each class serving staggered three-year terms. Upon the expiration of the term
of a class of directors, directors in that class will be eligible to be elected for a new three=year term at the annual meeting of
stockhalders in the year in which their term expires. Our directors are divided among the three classes as follows:

. The Class I directors arc Andrew Sandler. and Mary Fisher: their terms will expire at the 2025 annual meeting
of stockholders.

. The Class 11 directors are David Hale and Steven J. Mento: their terms will expire at the 2023 annual meeting
of stockholders.

. The Class 11T directors are Gerald T. Prochl, Wendell Wierenga, and Kathleen Scott; their terms will expire at
the 2024 annual meeting of stockhalders.

We expect that any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among
the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, cach class will consist of one-third of the directors, The division of our board
of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or prevent a change of our management or a change
in gontrol,

Our amended and restated centificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylows provide that the authorized number
of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors, Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also provide that our directors may be removed only for cause, and that any
vacancy on our board of directors, including a vacancy resalting from an enlargement of our board of directors, may be filled
only by vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

We have no formal policy regarding board diversity. Our priority in selection of board members is identification of members
who will further the interests of our stockholders through his or her established record of professional accomplishment, the
ability o contribute positively to the collaborative culture among board members, knowledge of our business and
understanding of the competitive landscape.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopied a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our employees, officers and directors. A
current copy of the code is posted on the Corporate Governance section of our website, which is located at

www. dermatarx.com. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our code of business conduct and
ethics, or waivers of such provisions applicable to any principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, and our directors, on our website identified above or
in filings with the SEC,

Delinguent Section 16(a) Reporis

Section 16{a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, officers and person who own more than 10% of a registered class of
our equity securities 1o file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. On July 7, 2022, Christopher Nardo
filed a Form 4 reporting receipt of an equily grant one day late. Based solely upon review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 (and
amendments thereto) filed electronically with the SEC by our executive officers and directors owning mor than 10% of our
common stock and upon any written representations received from the executive officers and directors, other than as
described above, to our knowledge we believe that all other Section 16(a) filing requirements were met timely in fiscal year
2022,




ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following tables and accompanying narrative disclosure set forth information about the compensation camed by our
named executive officers during the vears ended December 31, 2022, and 2021. Our named executive officers. who are our
principal exccutive officer and the two most highly compensated exccutive officers {other than our principal executive
ofTicer) serving as executive officers as of December 31, 2022, were:

. Gerald T. Prochl, President and Chiel Executive Oficer:
. Kyri K. Van Hoose, our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; and
. Christopher 1. Nardo, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chief Development Officer.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of our Named Executive Officers for the year ended
December 31, 2022, and 2021:

Stock

Option
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus (1) Awards (2) Total
Gerald T. Proehl...... 2022 £ 317917 % - 8 152620 § 470,537
President and Chief Executive Officer 2021 135,907 - 1,162,306 1.298.213
Kyri K. Van Hoose .. 2022 298750 - 49,440 348,160
Senior Vice Prﬂrde'm C&:d!'m'am.luf{muw (3] 2021 78,750 28800 354,900 462450
Christopher 1. Narde, Ph.D. .. 2022 297,917 - 63,390 361,307
Senior Vice President, Chief Developmens Oﬁ"tw 2021 270,000 £6,400 322,504 678,904

(1) Mr. Prochl’s bonus for 2021 was remunerated in fully vested stock options. All stock options are granted pursuant 1o
our 2021 Plan. Ms. Van Hoose and Dr. Nardo's bonuses for 2021 were paid in cash. No bonuses were paid for 2022.

{2} Inaccordance with SEC rules, this column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock option awards granted
during 2021, These amounts have been computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, Assumptions used in the
calculation of this amount are described in Notes 7 to our financial statements included elsewhere in this document.
This amount does not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the execulives upon the vesting of the
stock options. the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the common stock underlying such stock options.

{3) Ms. Van Hoose joined Dermata in September 2021,

Employment Arrangemenis with our Named Executive Officers

We are party to employment agreements with each of our Named Executive Officers listed below, Each of these Named
Executive Officers are currently party to customary confidentiality and imellectual property assigniment agreements with us.

Gerald T, Prochl

On December 6, 2021, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr, Prochl. Under the terms of the Proehl Agreement,
Mr. Prochl holds the position of President and Chiel Executive Officer and receives a base salary of 350,000 annually, In
addition, Mr. Prochl 1s eligible to receive an annual bonus, with a target amount equal 1o 50% of Mr. Prochl’s base salary,
The actual amount of each annual bonus will be based upon the level of achievement of cenain of our corporate objectives
and Mr. Prochl’s individual objectives, in cach case, as established by the Company and Mr. Prochl for the calendar year with
respect to which the annual bonus relates. The determination of the level of achievement of the corporate objectives and Mr.
Proehl’s individual performance objectives for a yvear shall be made by us in our reasonable discretion. In addition, Mr,
Proehl is eligible 1o receive, from time (o lime, equity awards under our existing equity incentive plan. or any other equity
incentive plan we may adopt in the future, and the terms and conditions of such awards. i any, will be determined our board
of directors or the Compensation Committee, in their discretion. Mr. Proehl will also be eligible to participate in any
exceutive benefit plan or program we adopt.




We may terminate Mr. Proeh!’s employment at any time without Cause (as that term is defined in the Prochl Agreement)
upon four weeks prior written notice to Mr. Prochl. Mr. Prochl may terminate his employment for Good Reason (as that term
is defined in the Prochl Agreement) upon 60 days writien nofice.

If Mr. Prochl’s employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason, Mr. Prochl will be entitled to receive (i) his
earned bul unpaid base salary through the final day of his employment, (i) expenses reimbursable under the Proehl
Agreement incurred on or prior to the last day of his emplovment, (i) any amounts or benefits that are vested amounts or
benefits that Mr. Prochl is entitled to receive under any of our equity compensation plans (clauses (i) through (iii)
collectively, the Accrued Obligations), (iv) severance payments equal to 12 months of Mr, Prochl’s base salary (to be paid in
a lump sum on the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Mr. Prochl’s termination), (v) a pro-rated payment equal o the
annual bonus the Board determines is due, and (vi) if clected, we will reimburse Mr. Proehl for certain COBRA health
benefits for 12 months.

Notwithstanding the above, if Mr. Frochl’s emplovment is terminated without Cause or he resigns for Good Reason either
within three months immediately preceding or within one vear after a Change of Control (as defined in the 2021 Plan), Mr.
Proehl will receive (i) the Accrued Obligations, (ii) severance payments equal to 18 months of Mr. Proehl's base salary (1o be
paid in a lump sum on the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Mr. Proeh!’s termination ). (iii) the targeted annual
bonus amount the Board determines is due to Mr. Proehl, (iv) if elecled, we will reimburse Mr. Proehl for certain COBRA
health benefits for 18 months, and (v) Mr. Proehl will be deemed to be fully vested in all of his outstanding equity awards as
of the date of his termination.

If Mr. Prochl’s employment is terminated with Cause or without Good Reason, he will be entitled to receive (i) his carned but
unpaid base salary through the final day of his employment, (i) expenses reimbursable under the employment agreement
incurred on or prior to the last day of his employment, and (iii) any amounts or benefits that are vested amounts or benefits
that Mr, Prochl is entitled to receive under any of our equity compensation plans.

We may terminate Mr, Proch!’s employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Mr. Prochl. Mr, Prochl may
voluntarily terminate his employment at any time without Good Reason upon four weeks prior written notice.

Kwi K. Van Hoose

On November 19, 2021, we entered into an emplovment agreement with Ms. Van Hoose, which was subsequently amended
on January 1, 2022 (as amended, the Van Hoose Agreement). Under the terms of the Van Hoose Agreement, she holds the
position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and receives a base salary of $300,000 annually, In addition,
Ms. Van Hoose is eligible (o receive an annual bonus, with a targel amount equal to forty percent (40%) of Ms. Van Hoose's
base salary. The actual amount of each annual bonus will be based upon the level of achievement of our corporate objectives
and Ms. Van Hoose’s individual objectives, in each case, as established by us and Ms. Van Hoose for the calendar year with
respect to which the anntial bonus relates. The determination of the level of achievement of the corporate objectives and the
Ms. Wan Hoose's individual performance objectives for a year shall be made by us in our reasonable discretion, In addition,
pursuant to the terms of her employment agreement, Ms, Van Hoose is eligible to receive, from time to time. equity awards
under our existing equity incentive plan, or any other equity incentive plan we may adopt in the future, and the terms and
conditions of such awards, if any, will be determined by our board of directors or Compensation Committee, in their
discretion. Ms, Van Hoose is also eligible to participate in any executive benefit plan or program we adopt,

We may terminate Ms. Van Hoose's employment at any time without Cause (as that term is defined in Ms. Van Hoose's
employment agreement) upon two weeks prior written notice to Ms, Van Hoose. Ms. Van Hoose may terminate her
employment for Good Reason (as that term is defined in Ms. Van Hoose's employment agreement) upon 60 dayvs wrilten
nolice o us, upon which notice we have 30 days to cure the conditions that Ms. Van Hoose considers io be Good Reason,
subject to certain conditions set forth in her employment agreement.

IT Ms. Van Hoose's employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason, Ms. Van Hoose will be entitled to receive
(1) the Accrued Obligations, (iv) severance payments equal to nine months of Ms. Yan Hoose's base salary (1o be paid in a
lump sum on the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Ms. Van Hoose's tenmination), {v) the targeted annual bonus
amount the Board determines is due 1o Ms. Van Hoose, and (vi) if elected, the Company will reimburse Ms. Van Hoose for
certain COBRA health benefits for nine months.
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Notwithstanding the above, if Ms. Van Hoose's emplovment is terminated without Cause or she resigns for Good Reason
cither within three months immediately preceding or within one year after a Change of Control (as defined in the 2021 Plan),
Ms. Van Hoose will receive (i) the Accrued Obligations, (i) severance payvments cqual to 12 months of Ms. Van Hoose's
base salary (to be paid in a lump sum on the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Ms. Van Hoose's termination), (iii)
the targeted annual bonus amount the Board determines is due to Ms, Van Hoose, (iv] if elected, the Company will reimburse
Ms. Van Hoose for certain COBRA health benefits for 12 months, and (v) Ms. Van Hoose will be deemed to be fully vested
in all of her outstanding equity awards as of the date of her termination.

If M. Wan Hoose™s employment is terminated with Cause or without Good Reason, she is entitled to receive (i) her eamed
but unpaid base salary through the final day of her employment, (i) expenses reimbursable under the employment agreement
incurred on or prior to the last day of her employment, and (iii) any amounts or benefits that are vested amounts or benefits
that Ms. Van Hoose is entitled to receive under any of our equity compensation plans.

We may terminate Ms. Van Hoose's employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Ms. Van Hoose. Ms. Van
Hoose may voluntarily terminate her employment at any time without Good Reason upon two weeks prior writlen natice to
us.

Christopher J. Nardo, Ph.D.,

On August 17, 2021, we entered into an emplovment agreement with Dr. Mardo, which was subsequently amended on
December 6, 2021, January 1, 2022, and July 1, 2022 (as amended, the Nardo Agreement), Dr. Nardo holds the position of
Senior Vice President, Chief Development Officer and receives a base salary of $320,000 annually, In addition, Dr, Nardo is
eligible 10 receive an annual bonus, with a target amount equal o forty percent (40%) of Dr. Nardo's base salary. The actual
amount of each annual bonus will be based upon the level of achievement of our corporate objectives and Dr. Nardo's
individual objectives, in each case, as established by us and Dr. Nardo for the calendar year with respect to which the annual
bonus relates. The determination of the level of achievement of the corporate objectives and the Dr. Nardo's individual
performance objectives for & vear shall be made by us in our reasonable discretion. In addition, pursuant to the terms of his
emplovment agreement, Dr. Nardo is eligible to receive, from time o time, equity awarnds under our existing equity incentive
plan, or any other equity incentive plan we may adopt in the future. and the terms and conditions of such awards, if any. will
be determined by our board of directors or Compensation Committee, in their discretion, Dr. Nardo is also ¢ligible to
participate in any executive benefit plan or program we adopt.

We may terminate Dr. Nardo's employment at any time without Cause (as that term is defined in Dr. Nardo’s employment
agreement) upon two weeks prior written notice to Dr, Nardo, Dr. Mardo may terminate his employment for Good Reason (as
that term is defined in Dr. Nardo's employment agreement) upon 60 dayvs written notice to us, upon which notice we have 30
days to cure the conditions that Dr. Nardo considers to be Good Reason, subject to certain conditions set forth in his
employment agreement.

IT Dr. Nardo's employvment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason, Dr. Nardo will be entitled to receive (i) the
Accrued Obligations, (iv) severance payments equal to nine months of Dir. Nardo’s base salary (io be paid in a lump sum on
the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Dr. Nardo's termination), {v) the targeted annual bonus amount the Board
determines is due to Dr. Nardo, and (vi) if elected, the Company will reimburse Dr. Nardo for certain COBRA health benefits
for nine months.

Notwithstanding the above, if Dr. Nardo's employment is terminated without Cause or he resigns for Good Reason either
within three months immediately preceding or within one vear after a Change of Conirol (as defined in the 2021 Plan). Dr.
Mardo will receive (i) the Accrued Obligations, (i) severance payments equal to 12 months of Dr, Nardo’s base salary (to be
paid in a lump sum on the next regular payroll date within 60 days of Dr. Nardo’s termination), (iii) the targeted annual bonus
amount the Board determines is due to Dr, Nardo, (iv) if elected, the Company will reimburse Dr. Nardo for certain COBRA
health benefits for 12 months, and (v) Dr. Nardo will be deemed to be fully vested in all of his outstanding equity awards as
of the date of his termination,

If Dr, Narda's employment is terminated with Cause or without Good Reason, he is entitled to receive (i) his camed but
unpaid base salary through the final day of his employment, (i) expenses reimbursable under the employment agreement
incurred on or prior (o the last day of his employment, and (i) any amounts or benefits that are vested amounts or benefits
that Dir. Nardo is entitled to receive under any of our equity compensation plans,

We may terminate Dr. Mardo's employment at any time for Cause upon written notice to Dr. Nardo, Dr. Nardo may
voluntarily terminate his employment at any time without Good Reason upon two weeks prior wrilten notice to us,




Ouistanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes, for cach of our Named Executive Officers, the number of shares of our Common Stock
underlying outstanding stock options held as of December 31, 2022:

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised Option Option

Options Exercise  Expiration  Vesting

Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date Schedule
Gerald T Proehll.. .o uiisisibmn it cipiisiiasss ipmemss 7,181 346 8 631 331726 (1
23373 25,407 631 33126 2)
9,756 - 574 331531 {3
9,756 - 574 33131 {4)
28,389 9,463 574 331551 5
49,462 - 574 33131 (6)
4,517 - 2.07 1227 {9)
197,610 = 1.88 11232 (10)
42,141 207 11227 (1
57,859 1.88 17232 {10y
Fourd N i3 o 23,437 51,563 539 &3131 N
- 30,000 1.88 1/2/32 (10
Christopher . Nardo, PhoD. ... 2439 - 574 33131 (8)
6,097 - 574 33131 (3)
6,097 - 574 35131 {4)
18,292 6,098 574 331531 {5)
1,585 - 574 33131 (6)
11,686 12,704 574 33131 (2)
= 30,000 1.88 11232 (10
- 30,000 051 673032 (hy

(1) This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021. The stock option vests in 35 equal monthly installments
commencing January 11, 2021,

{2} This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021. The stock option vests in 48 equal monthly installments
commencing January 1, 2021,

(3) This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021, The stock option vests in 48 equal monthly installments
commencing January 1, 2018.

(4)  This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021. The stock option vests in 48 equal monthly installments
commencing December 19, 2018,

{5) This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021, The stock option vests in 48 equal monthly installments
commencing December 11, 2019

(6) This stock option award was granted March 31, 2021 and was fully vested at issuance,

(7) This stock option award was granted September |, 2021. The stock option vests in 48 equal monthly installments
commencing September 1, 2021,

{8) This stock option award was granted on March 31, 2021 and is fully vested. The stock option vested in 48 equal
monthly installments commencing Scptember 1, 2017,

(9)  This stock option award was granted Jamuary 3, 2022 and was fully vested at issuance.

(10} This stock option award was granted January 3, 2022. The stock option vests 40% at the first anniversary date of the
stock option grant with the remaining 60% vesting over the remaining 36 months for a total vest period of 48 months,

(11} This stock option award was granted July 1, 2022, The stock option vests 25% at the first anniversary date of the stock
option grant with the remaining vesting in 36 equal monthly installments commencing July 1. 2022

We did not engage in any repricings or other modifications or cancellations to any of our named executive officers’
outstanding option awards during the year ended December 31, 2022,

93




Director compensation

The following table shows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, certain information with respect to the compensation
of all non-employee directors of the Company:

Fees

Earned Stock

Paid in Stock Option
Name Cash {1} Awards () Awards Total
TIRVEE BRI - i oo i o b b e bt o I 18,125 § 54750 S 7.54003) & B0A15
Wendell Wierenga Ph.D. 12.500 37,500 7.540(3) 37.540
Kathleen Scoll............. 34,375 20,625 7.540(3) 62,540
Steven J. Mento Ph.D. 45813 - T.540(3) $3.353
Mary Fisher.......... 29,688 17,812 T.540(3) 35,040
Andrew Sandler M.D.. 30,563 18.375 T.540(3) 56478
Brittany Bradrick .... 17.813 17,812 12.040(3) 47665

(1) Board of Director fees camed or paid in cash were for calendar year 2022, representing fees camed by our Directors.
{2)  Amounts in this column reflect the grant date fair value of RSUs granted to our non-employee directors, These amounts
have been computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of valuation assumptions used to
determine the grani date fair value of the loregoing RSU awards, see Note | (o our audited consolidated financial

siatements for the year ended December 31, 2022, included in this Annual Report on Form [0-K.

{3)  Inaccordance with SEC rules, this column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock option awards granted
during 2022, These amounts have been computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, Assumptions used in the
caleulation of this amount are deseribed in the notes to our financial statements included elsewhere in this document.
This amount does not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the Directors upon the vesting of the
stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the common stock underlying such stock options.

{4) These stock option awards were granted on January 12, 2022, with a vesting schedule of 1z* vesting monthly.

We have adopted a compensation policy pursuant to which our board members receive $40,000 per vear (360,000 for Lead
Director), each member of the Audit Committee receives $7,500 per vear (515,000 for the Chair), each member of the
Compensation Committee receives $3,000 per year ($10,000 for the Chair), and each member of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee receives $4.000 per vear ($8,000 for the Chair). Any compensation to be paid under this
policy may be made in cash or restricted stock units at the election of each board member which must be made in the prior
calendar year. As part of this non-employee director compensation policy, our directors may clect to receive their annual
compensation (i) 100% in restricted stock units, (ii) 50% in cush and 50% in restricted stock units, or (1i) 100% in cash. This
policy is applicable for fiscal years commencing on January 1, 2022,

We have also adopted an equity compensation policy pursuant to which board members shall auomanically be granted stock
options to purchase 10,000 shares of our common stock upen joining the board of directors, and on January 1 of ¢ach year,
each then serving non-emplovee director shall be automatically granted stock options to purchase 5,000 shares of our
common stock. These stock options shall have a term of ten vears and shall have an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair
market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. All options to be granted under this policy will be granted
purseant to our 2021 Plan.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Securities Authorized for lssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

On March 24, 2021, our board of directors and stockhaolders adopted the 2021 Plan which provides for the grant of incentive
stock options and non-qualified stock options to purchase shares of our common stock and other types of awards. On June 29,
2021, our board of directors and stockholders approved an amendment to the 2021 Plan to increase the aggregate number of
shares of common stock available for issuance in connection with options and other awards granted under the 2021 Plan,

The general purpose of the 2021 Plan is to provide a means whereby eligible employees, officers, non-employee directors
and other individual service providers develop a sense of proprietorship and personal involvement in our development and
financial success, and to encourage them to devote their best efforts to our business, thereby advancing our interests and the
interests of our stockholders. By means of the 2021 Plan, we seek to retain the services of such eligible persons and to
provide incentives for such persons to exent maximum efforts for our success and the success of our subsidiaries.




The following table provides information with respect to our compensation plans under which equity compensation was
authorized as of December 31, 2022,

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
Number of future
securitiecs  Weighted issuance
to be issued  average  under equity
upon exercise  compensation
exercise of  price of plans
outstanding outstanding  (excluding
options, options, securities

warranis warrants reflected in
and rights  and rights column a)
Plan category (a) (b) {eM2)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1)... B050139 § 404 455,539
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders - - -
ol R R R

(1) The amounts shown in this row include securities under the 2021 Plan,

{2) Inaccordance with the “evergreen” provision in the 2021 Plan, an additional 123,218 shares were automatically made
available for issuance on the first day of 2023, which represents 1% of the number of shares outstanding on December
31, 2022; these shares are excluded from this caleulation,

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of February 14, 2023, by:

. each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common
stock:

. each of our directors;

- cach of our named exccutive officers; and

. all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Under these rules, beneficial ownership
includes any shares of commaon stock as to which the individual or entity has sole or shared voting power or investment
power. Applicable percentage ownership is based on 12,321,848 shares of common stock outstanding as of February 14,
2023, In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by an individual or entity and the percentage ownership of that
person, shares of commaon stock subject 1o options held by such person that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023, are considered outstanding, although these shares are not considered
outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person,
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Each of the stockholders listed has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned by the
stockholder unless noted otherwise, subject to community propeny laws where applicable.

Number of Percent of
Shares Shares
Benelicially Beneficially
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Owned (2) Owned
5% or Greater Stockholders
Proehl Investmeni Ventures LLC ... T LI L O e AL Oep 1. 15 P 9 i 1) 238%
Named Executive Officers nnd'Dlmm:
Gerald T. Prochl... 37248103 )(4)5) 28.9%
Christopher J. Mardo, Ph.D. . 91,322(6) .
Kyri K. Van Hoosc. 43,187 L
David Hale.............. 717,388(8)(9)(10) 5.8%
Wendell Wicrenga Ph.D, 34.470(11) .
Kathleen Scott............ H4.584012) b
Steven J. Mento, Ph.D 15,0004 13) -
Mary Fisher.... 38,443014) "
Andrew &ﬂmdlcr M D, 39,184(15) *
Brittany Bradrick .. 33,443(16) *
AN Execurive Oﬂk:r.l and Directors as a group (11 PErsons)... oo 9,831,840 36.4 %

*  Less than 1%

(1} Unless noted otherwise, the address of all listed stockholder is 3525 Del Mar Heights Rd., #322, San Dicgo, CA 92130,
Each of the stockholder listed has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned by the
stockholder unless noted otherwise, subject to community property laws where applicable.

{2)  We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which is generally determinad by voting power and'or dispositive power with respect 1o securities, Unless
otherwise noted, the shares of common stock listed above are owned as of February 14, 2023, and are owned of record
by each individual named as beneficial owner and such individual has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to
the shares of common stock owned by each of them,

{3) Gerald T. Prochl, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is the Chairman and Chief Exccutive Officer of Prochl
Inwvestment Ventures LLC. Due 1o Mr. Proehl’s ownership of Proehl Invesiment Ventures LLC, he may be deemed (o
have sole voting and dispositive control over the shares of our common stock held by Prochl Investment Ventures LLC,
As a result, Mr. Prochl may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of our common stock held by Prochl Investment
Ventures LLC.

{4)  Includes (1) 2,905,544 shares of common stock held by Proehl Investment Ventures 1.LC, (ii) 27,987 shares of common
stock issuable upon exercise of warrants held by Proehl Investment Ventures LLC that are exercisable within 60 days of
February 14, 2023,

(3}  Includes (i) 59,512 shares of common stock held by Mr. Proehl, (i) 383,510 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held by Mr. Proehl exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023, (iii) 8,928 shares of
common stock held by Mr. Proehl as Trustee of the Megan Proehl Wilder 2020 Irrevocable Trust, (iv) 17,857 shares of
common stock held by Mr. Prochl as Trustee of the Allison Taylor Prochl 2020 lmevocable Trust, (v) 33,767 shares of
common stock held by Mr. Proehl as Trustee of the Sean Michael Proehl Irmevocable Trust Dated December 18, 2020,
and (vi) 142,857 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase up to 142,857 shares of Common Stock held by Mr.
Prochl as Trustee of the Proeh] Family Trust. Does not include 85,150 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock aptions held by Mr. Prochl that are not exercisable within 60 davs of February 14, 2023

{6) Includes (i) 25,121 shares of common stock held by Dr. Nardo, (ii) 63,762 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held by Dr. Nardo exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023, and (iii) 2,439 shares of
common stock held by Dr. Nardo as Co-Trustee of the Nardo Family Trust Dated October 3. 2001, Does not include
161.236 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options held by Dr. Nardo that are not exercisable
within 60 days of February 14, 2023,

{7} Includes 43,187 shares of commaon stock issuable upon exercise of stock options held by Ms. Van Hoose exercisable
within 60 days of February 14, 2023. Does not include 161,813 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock
options held by Ms. Van Hoose that are not exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023,

(8) David Hale, our Lead Director, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Hale BioPharma Ventures LLC. Due to
Mr. Hale's control of Hale BioPharma Vemures L1.C, he may be deemed to have sole voting and dispositive control
over the shares of our common stock held by Hale BioPharma Yentures LLC. As a resul, Mr, Hale may be deemed 1o
beneficially own the shares of our common stock held by Hale BioPharma Ventures LLC,




(9)  Includes (i) 532,925 shares of common stock held by Hale BioPharma Ventures LLC, and (ii) 3.048 shares of common
stock held by Hale BioPharma Ventures LLC issuable upon exercise of warrants exercisable within 60 days of February
14, 2023.

(10} Includes (i) 75,720 shares of common stock held by Mr. Hale, (i) 22,072 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held by Mr. Hale exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023, (iii) 12.195 shares of
common stock held by a limited parmership of which Mr. Hale serves as the General Partner and as such, has voting
and dispositive control aver the shares of common stock, and (iv) 35,714 shares of common stock and warrants to
purchase up to 35,714 shares of Commeon Stock held by Mr. Hale as Trustee of the Hale Family Trust,

(11} Includes (i) 62,398 shares of common stock held by Dr, Wierenga and (it) 22,072 shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of stock options held by Dr, Wierenga exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023,

{12} Includes (i) 2,439 chares of commen stock held by Ms. Scott as Trustee of the Scott 2008 Trust dated 3728108, (i)
27,145 shares of common stock held by Ms. Scott, and (1i1) 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
stock options held by Ms. Scott exercisable within 60 davs of February 14, 2023,

{13) Includes 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options held by Dr. Mento exercisable within
60 days of February 14, 2023,

(14) Tncludes (i) 23,443 shares of commaon stock held by Ms. Fisher and (i) 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held by Ms, Fisher exercizable within 60 davs of February 14, 2023,

{15} Includes (i) 24,184 shares of common stock held by Dr, Sandler and (i) 15,000 shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of siock oplions held by Dr. Sandler exercisable within 60 davs of February 14, 2023,

(16} Includes (i) 23,4435 shares of common stock held by Ms. Bradrick and (i) 15,000 shares of commaon stock issuable upon
exercise of stock options held by Ms, Bradrick exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2023,

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The following is a description of transactions since January 1, 2022 to which we have been a participant in which the amount

involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and in which any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5%

of our voling securities, or any members of their immediate family, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest,

Ellm than compensation arrangements with our Named Executive Officers which are described under “Executive
ompensation,

Sean Prochl

Sean Prochl, the son of Gerald T. Prochl, our Chief Executive Officer, is currently employed as our Senior Director, Legal &
Business Development. Mr. Sean Proehl receives a salary of $168,000 a vear. In addition, Mr. Sean Proehl is eligible 1o
receive, from time to time, equity awards under our existing equity incentive plan, or any other equity incentive plan we may
adopt in the future, and the terms and conditions of such awards, if any, will be determined by our board of directors or
Compensation Committee, in their discretion.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written relaled person transaction policy setting forth the pelicies and procedures for
the review and approval or ratification of related person transactions. This policy covers, with certain exceptions set forth in
Ttem 404 of Regulation 5-K under the Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar
fransactions, arrangements or relationships, in which we were or are to be a participant, where the amount involved exceeds
the lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, and a related person had.
has or will have a direct or indirect material interest, including without limitation, purchases of goods or services by or from
the related person or entities in which the related person has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness and
employment by us of a related person. In reviewing and approving any such transactions, our audit committee is tasked to
consider all relevant facts and circumstances, including. but not limited to: (i) whether the transsction is on terms comparable
to those that could be obtained in an arm’s length transaction with an unrelated party; (ii) the extent of the related person’s
interest in the transaction; (ii) the benefits to the Company; (iv) the impact on a direcior’s independence in the event the
related person is a director, an immediately family member of a dircctor or an entity in which a director is a

partner, stockholder or executive officer: (v) the availability of other sources for comparable products or services: (vi) the
terms of the transaction; and (vii) the terms available to unrelated third parties, All related-party transactions may only be
consummated if our audit committee has approved or ratified such transaction in accordance with the guidelines set forth in
the policy. Any member of the audit committee who is a related person with respect to a ransaction under review will not be
permitied to participate in the deliberations or vote respecting approval or ratification of the ransaction, However, such
director may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at 3 meeting of the sudit committee that considers the
transaction.
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Direcior Independence

Under the rubes of Nasdag, a director will only qualify as an “independent director” if,, in the opinion of that company’s board
of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in
carrying out the responsibilitics of a director. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 of the
Exchange Act, a member of an audil commitiee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacily as a member of
the audit commitiee, the board of directors, or any other board commintee, accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting,
advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries or otherwise be an affiliated person of
the listed company or any of its subsidiarics.

Our board of directors has determined that David Hale, Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D., Andrew Sandler, M.D., Mary Fisher,
Steven J. Mento, Brittany Bradrick, and Kathleen Scott are “independent directors™ as such term is defined by Nasdag
Marketplace Rule 3605(a)(2). We have established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Commiltee and a Nominating and
Caorporate Governance Committee. Our board of directors has determined that Kathleen Scont is an “audit committec
financial expert,” as defined under the applicable rules of the SEC. and that all members of the Audit Committee are
“independent™ within the meaning of the applicable Nasdag listing standards and the independence standards of Rule 10A-3
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Each of the members of the Audit Commiliee meeis the requirements for financial
literacy under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table summarizes the fees paid for professional services rendered by Mayer Hoffman MeCann, P.C., or MHM,
our independent registered public accounting firm, for each of the last two fiscal years.

Year ending December 31, 2022 2021

Audit fiees (1) -~ 5 423028 5 436,064
Audit related fees
Tax fees............
All other fees
Total.............

25,522 TERI2

.5 449450 § 31487

(1) Awudit fees consist of fees incurred for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements,
review of the quarterly financial statements, assistance with registration statements filed with the SEC, and services that
are normally provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in connection with regulatory filings or
engagements. Substantially all of MHM's personnel, who work under the control of MHM sharcholders, are employees
of wholly owned subsidiaries of CBLZ, Inc., which provides personnel and various services to MHM in an alternative
practice siructure,

Aunditor Independence

In our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, there were no other professional services provided by Mayver Hoffman McCann,
P.C. that would have required our audit committee to consider their compatibility with maintaining the independence of
Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C.

Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

Ouwr audit committee has established a palicy goveming our use of the services of our independent registered public
accounting firm. Under this policy. our audit commitiee is required to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services performed
by our independent registered public accounting firm in order 1o ensure that the provision of such services does not impair the
public accountants” independence. All fiees paid to Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C. for our fiscal year ended December 31,
2022, were pre-approved by our Board of Direetors andfor Audit Commitiee,
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PART IV
ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{2} 1)Financial Statements
The financial statements and related notes, together with the report of Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C. appear at pages F-1
through F-26 following the Exhibit List as required by “Part ll—Item &—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
this Form 10-K.
(a)2)Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

{a}(3)Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibyit

No. Description of Document

31 Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6. 2021).

32 Amendment No. | of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc., filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 11, 2022 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 11, 2022),

i3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

34 Amendment Mo, | to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 23,
2022).

4.1 Specimen Certificate representing shares of common stock of Dermata Therapeutics, Ine. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed with the SEC on August 6,
2021).

42 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company”s
Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

43 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in the Company”s Initial Public Offering (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6,
2021},

44 Form of Underwriter Warrant issued in the Company s Initial Public Offering {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

4.5 Form of Warrant Agency Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Direct Transfer, LLC entered into
in connection with the Company s Initial Public Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the
Company s Registration Statement on Form S=1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

46 Form of Comman Stock Warrant issued in Registered Direct Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
of the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2022).

4.7 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant issued in Registered Direct Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of
the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2022).

4.8 Description of Securities.®

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and its Officers and Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6, 2021},

10.2 Dermata Therapeutics, Ing. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the

Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%
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10.3

10.4

10.8

0.9

10.10

10.12

10.13

10,14

10.15

116

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

Amendment No. | to the Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference to
Exchibit 10.15 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award under 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).7
Form of Incentive Stock Option Award under 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit
10.4 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%

Employment Agreement dated December &, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Gerald T.
Proehl (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 10, 2021),%

Form of Employment Agreement dated August 17, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and
Christopher J. Nardo, M.P.H., Ph.D, (incorporated by reference to Exhibin 10,6 of the Company”s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).7

Amendment No. | dated December 6, 2021 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata
Therapeutics, Inc. and Christopher J. Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,4 of the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2021), §

Amendment No. 2 dated January 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Ine. and Christopher J. Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company”s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2022).%

Amendment No. 3 dated July I, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.
and Christopher Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). +

Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Maria Bedoya
Toro Munera, Ph.D., M.B.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2021).%

Amendment No. | dated January 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Inc. and Maria Bedoya Toro Munera, Ph.I). (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March &, 2022)*+

Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Ine. and Kyri K. Van
Hoose (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 10, 2021).%

Amendmen No. | dated January 1, 2022 1o the Employiment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Ine. and Kyri K. Van Hoose (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,13 of the Company*s Annual Report on
Farm 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2022). +

Supply Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Reka-Farm LLC, dated as of February 27, 2020
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6, 2021).4

License Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani, Inc., dated as of March 31, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6, 2021).4

Amended and Restated Annex A to the License Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani, Inc.
dated as of March 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,10 of the Company s Registration Statement
on Form 5-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

License Amendment and Seitlement Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani, Inc. dated as

of Junc 4, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1011 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S«
1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).#

Amendment 1o the License Amendment and Seitl Ag between Dermata Therapeutics, Tne, and
Villani. Inc.. dated July 30, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).4

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement Dated April 20, 2022 between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and the
Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
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the SEC on April 25, 2022).

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated April 20, 2022 between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and the
Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC an April 25, 2022),

Form of Placement Agent Agreement dated April 20, 2022 between the Registrant and Maxim Group LLC
(incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.3 of the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
April 25, 2022).

Consent of Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C.*

Centification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule |3a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*
Certification of the Chiel Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*

Centification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14({b) or Rule |5d-
T14(b).**

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because ils
XBRI. tags are embedded within the Inline XBRI. document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Exiension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatied as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101}

#  Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) are omitted in accordance with the rules of the SEC.
*  Filed herewith,
**  Fumished, not filed.

t  Indicates a management contract of compensation plan, contract oF arrangement.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly Dermata Therapeutics, LLC)
(*Company™) as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, and the related statements of operations, stockholders”™ equity (deficit), and
cash flows for each of the two vears in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referned to as
the “financial statements™), In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2022, and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the two vears in the period ended December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America,

Going Concern Uncertaintly

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As
discussed in Note | to the financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows from
operations and is dependent on additional financing to fund operations. These conditions raise substantial doubt about its
ahility to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company”s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB™) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordange with the ULS, federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCADRB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
to error of fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of intermal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s intemal contral over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion,

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks, Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

We have served as the Company”'s auditor since 2016,
s/ Mayer Hoffman MeCann, P.C.

San Diego, California
February 21, 2023




DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(FORMERLY DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, LLC)
Balance Sheets

December 31,
2021 2021

Asseis:
Cash and cash equivalents....
Prepaid expenses and other r.'urrenl. us:ls
Total assets ......

-5 6241299 8 10,798.806
703,194 825,134
. 5 6944488 S 11.623.940

Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity:

Liabilities:
Accounts payable ... S i e b s s B 90, TO2 8 515245
Acerued and uﬂwr current |lﬂ‘JI!!tH’.‘.& 425932 1.001.591
Total liabilities... 922,634 1.516.836

Commitments nnd Commgcnme: (see N:ﬂe IDJ
Stockholders” Equity:

Commaon Stock, par value SO.0001, 250,000,000 shares authorized, and 12,321,848 shares
izsued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022; and 90,000,000 shares authorized and
£,328,629 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021, respectively ...

Additional paid-in capital ...

Accumulated deficit ...

Total stockholders’ equity ...
Total liabilities and stockholders” QUitY ..o

1,232 833
51613810 46,088,546
(45,593, 188) _(35.982.275)
65,021,854 10,107,104

§ 64488 S 11.623.940

The accompanying notes arc an integral pant of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(FORMERLY DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, LLC)
Statements of (perations

For the vear ended
December 31,
2022 2021

Operating expenses:

Reszarch and development ......
Gieneral and administrative ..
Total operating expenses .
Loss [rom operations...

Other income and expenses:
Interest (income) expense, nel ...
Net loss

Deemed dividend upon the redemption of 5,221,156 shares of Series le prefemed stock (see

. 8 565141 5 3439340
4,023,445 4,397,524
9.674.486 7.856.864
(9.674.486) _ (7.856.864)

’ (63.573) 45,613
$(9.610.913) § (7.902.477)

Mote 6).., e - £ 269038
Deemed dl\rlc['.'ud upon lhc am@em‘. oflcm‘-s ofli\c Serlcs ld convemble prcfcned 5tu-r:k

o RO Y & e B R e L S Gl s s - § 2203199
Net loss atributable to common H.Dckhuldm S(9.610,913) S10,464.714)

Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted ...
Weighted-average basic and diluted common units/shares..

~$ (08D (2.43)

11.050.662 4,302,232

The accompanying nofes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(FORMERLY DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, LLC)

St of Stockholder’s Equity (Deficit)
Series 1a Preferred Series 13 Warrants Series 1 Preferved
Vst Amssng Vndes. Amesit Lnias. Amssat
Badsece 2 Desember 31, 2020 3CI3TI0 § aisos) LA T34 6300008 § 311555

Sarics 1d Prefermed Unes sised
Clans B Common Units forfunad
Converson of Commoa Units 1o Common Siock.
0 Prefoned Siock (a506.244) § (6811877 018730} § (4 I80081) (6,500,000)  $(4,1155%5)
Converson of Warreng Usits 1o Preferred Seock 1.419228) § (724310

om0 o Sencs 1o preferred shases
Conversom of Prelerred Ssock 1o Common Stock
Comversom of Preforred Ssock Wirrants to Commson Stock Wartants
Converson of Camverible Debe to Comaan Seock
Insuknce of Contmon Siock and wasrants, net issuance costs

Staxk-hased compeniation
et s
Balwsce ai December 31, 2021 o - = 3 - = % = = % - = § - = 3 =
Ismusnce of common wock isd warrants, met of isruance coets
lssunce of common stock upan exercise of pre-funded warrants
lssmnce of ressricted sock wi swards
Tasannce of common ok upon comversion of restrivied dock unity
Seexhbuned compenmaition
Net bass.
Balunce ai December 31, 2022 - 3 - - 3 . - 8 - - 3 - - § - - 0§ -
Preferred Stack Addwinasl
Series be Peelorred Series 1d Prefored Preferred Stach Warrames € omimon Sock Faid-im Accumulsied
[ Amwit [ Amounit Shares Far Value Shares Far Valae Shar s Far Value Caplial Defbcis Total

Huliace st December 311, 2000 46 453 158 3 sd9sR 3 orerd) 3017700
Setbes 14 Prelerred Unéts iniod 60A5G8 3 5034800 5 LoMEel
Class B Commen Units forfented -
Corverson of Common Units 1o Common Stock (RIS ] L] .
Converdon of Prefenad Unitx 1o Profered Saock. (46555, 1K) 8 (6.491942)  gnfafoRd) § 5.004801) Thoaa 3 T -
Converson of Wanmane s 1o Prefermed Seock 1419228 5 [T+ -
Redemgsion of Sevies |¢ prefecrad shares (5.321,158) § (52 $ (1000000,
Conversion of Preferred Stock to Commen Stock (BSE23015) 5 (6,582) pEILEL ) 1 -
Comversiom of Preforred Ssock Wamants to Commaon

Sacch Wasrnats (L4 § e -
Corversson of Canversble Debe 1o Comenan Stock ane s ¥ 3 18G4
Tswasnce of Common Si0ck snd wasrasis, nel

ISTECE CORty 25748 § »7 15385300 § 1538550
Secck-based compensition 1,586,722 0 1L5sn
et boss. 5 lTQO‘!_ﬂ'TI ] !T.ﬁﬂ.‘_l? i
Balusce at December 31, 2021 = 3 = - 8 - - 3 - - 5 3 RIMe20 § [EE] PR SME  § (3598227%) § 10107104
Tesaince of common stock smd warrandy, et af

IR Couts 898585 § «© 4276275 4290368
lasasnce of common stock upon evercise of pre-

fanded warmanis 200§ n? . b2 1)
tesunce of restricted stock umit swarde [Tt 166574
Tssaance of common ilock upon comvenion of

restrached stk wits Napk 8 n 22 =
Saockdared compenmtion 10B2 1% LOEZ 1 s
Net bous 5_(etoon) (9810013}
Balisce at December 11, 2022 - 3 - -3 = - 3 = . 3 - TlasaiEas 3 1212 SIAILHI0 5 (45So1is8) 5 60ZIESh

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,




DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC,
(FORMERLY DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, LLC)
Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ended
December 31,

2022 2021

Cash flows from opemling activities:
Adjusmmnu. 10 FECOne Llc Tt oss to net cash usud in ﬁp;:ra:mg activities:
Stock-based compensation..,
Amortization of debt disconrﬁ cusls
Increase/{decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:
Prepaid expenses and other curment assets .,
Accounts payable..... iy i
Accrued and olhcrcurrcm Ilahllﬂu:s

.. B(9,610913) 5(7.902477)

930,325 1905408
- 14,126

121,940 (T50,081)
(18,543) 410,969
(256,973) 628.663

Net cash used in operating activities:...

(8,834,164) _ (5.693.392)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of commaon stock and warrants, net of issuance costs............
Proceeds from issuances of common stock upon exercises of pre-funded warrants
Redemption of Series Ic prcl’wrcd stock..
Payments on debi .........
Net proceeds ﬁ'nm isstance of conv
Proceeds from issuance of Series 1d preferred units...

4,276,365 15,385,563
287 %
- {(1.000,000)

- (556,482)
- 1,562,117
570,000

Wet cash provided by financing activities:.

4,276,652 15,961,798

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash cquwalw.'nls
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ...

(4,557.512) 10,268,406

0.798.806 530,400

. 8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ............. 6,241,294 §10,798.806
Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest., . 8 L 1,420
Cash paid for taxes. . 8 950 & 1,400
Won-cash financing activities:
Conversion of common and preferred units and warrants 1o common and preferred stock and
WIS, veevsiaa s & - £29.936,660
Conversion ot‘mvemblu subbrﬂlmted pmm]ssm)r nmes Iu Scﬂes. id prct':rm.l :tmts ........ 5 = 8§ 4.464.801
Deemed dividend upon amendment to the terms of the Series 1d convertible prcrcrn:d
stock . - . ¥ - £ 2293199
Conversion o!‘mmembln subnr:llmicd pmmussm nntes nnd axcmnd mlm tn commaon
shares al TPO ... . = & 130434
Conversion orpreferreﬁ stock to commen stock at 1PO., Foi | - 8 6,582

The accompanying nofcs are an integral part of these financial statements,
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(FORMERLY DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, LLC)
MNotes to Financial Statements

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Dermata Therapeutics, Inc., (the “Company™), was formed in December 2014 as a Delaware limited liability
company (“LLC™) under the name Dermata Therapeutics, LLC. On March 24, 2021, the Company converted from an LLC to
a Delaware C-corporation and changed its name to Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. Any references in these Notes to Financial
Statements to equity securities as “units” refir 1o pre-conversion equity securities and any references to “shares” or “stock™ in
these Motes to Financial Statements refer to post-conversion equity securitics. The Company is a clinical-stage biotechnology
company focused on the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases.

Initial Public Offering

On August 17, 2021, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO™). in which it sold 2,571,428 shares of
its commaon stock together with 2,571,428 warranis to purchase one share of commaon stock with an exercise price of §7.00
per share at a combined offering price of $7.00. Additionally, the underwriters exercised their option to purchase an
additional 385,714 warrants o purchase commaon stock with an exercise price of $7.00 per share. The Company received net
cash proceeds of approximately $15.4 million from the IPO after deducting underwriters” discounts and offering expenses of
approximately 52.6 million.

Each of the following occurred in connection with the completion of the PO in August 2021:
- The sale of 2,571,428 shares of common stock along with 2,957,142 warrants to purchase common stock.

- The conversion of 65,823,015 shares of convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 3,813,973 shares of
common stock.

- The conversion of $175,000 principal amount of ding convertible promissory notes and accrued
interest of 55,434 into 32,219 shares of common stock.

- The conversion of 1,419,228 Series |a preferred warrants into 69,212 warrants exercisable into common
stock.

Each purchaser in the IPO received one share of common stock and one warrant to purchase one share of common
stock at a combined offering price of $7.00, Each warrant to purchase common stock entitles the holder to purchase one share
of common stock at an excrcise price of $7.00 per share, arc immediately exercisable, and expire five vears from the date of
issuance. The Company evaluated the terms of the warrants issued and determined that they should be classified as equity
instruments,

The Company s shares of common stock and warrants are listed on the Nasdag Stock Market LLC under the
symbols “DRMA,” and “DRMAW,” respectively, and both began trading in August 2021,

After the 1PO, there were no shares of preferred stock or preferred stock warrants outstanding. Prior to the 1PO, the
Company had 1,911,009 shares of common stock outstanding after giving effect for the Company’s reverse stock split in July
2021,

Reverse Stock Splic

On July 1, 2021, the Company effected a reverse split of shares of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of 1-for-
20,5 pursuant to an amendment to the Company”s certificate of incorporation approved by the Company’s board of directors
and stockholders. The par value was not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. All issued and outstanding common stock
shares and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse
stock split for all periods presented. and the conversion ratios for the Company”s outstanding preferred stock was adjusted
accardingly. See Note 6 — Equity Securities for additional information,
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Liguidity and Going Concern Uncertainty

Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its resources to research and development activities
and has not generated any revenue or commercialized any product candidates. As of December 31, 2022, cash and cash
equivalents totaled $6.2 million, and the Company had an accumulated deficit of $45.6 million. For the years ended
December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company used cash of $8.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively, in operations. The
Company’s cash balances are expected to fund aperations into the third quarter of 2023, The Company anticipates that it will
conlintie to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern for the one-year period following the date that these financial statements were issued.

Historically, the Company’s principal sources of cash have included proceeds from the issuance of common and
preferred equity units and proceeds from the issuance of debt. The Company”s principal uses of cash have included cash used
in operations and payments for license rights, The Company e¢xpects that the principal uses of cash in the future will be for
continuing operations, funding of research and development, conducting preclmical studies and clinical trials, and general
working capital requirements, The Company expects that as rescarch and development expenses continue to grow, it will
need to raise additional capital to sustain operations and research and development. The accompanying financial statements
have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any
adjusimenis io reflect the possible fulure effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounis and
classification of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concemn.

Management's Plan to Continue as & Going Concern

To continue as a going concem, the Company will need, among other things, to raise additional capital resources.
Until the Company can generate significant cash from operations, management’s plans to obtain such resources for the
Company include proceeds from offerings of the Company”s equity securities or debt, or transactions involving product
development, technology licensing or collaboration. Management can provide no assurance that any sources ol a sufficient
amount of financing or collsboration agreements will be available to the Company on favorable terms, ifat all. Additionally,
the COVID-19 pandemic continues 1o evolve and has already disrupted global financial markets. The Company s ability to
raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential worsening of global evonomic conditions and the recent
disruptions (o, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the Uniled States and worldwide resulting from the
pandemic. If the disruption persisis or deepens, the Company could experience an inability to access additional capial.

The Company has raised additienal eapital through the initial public offering of its commeon stock and warrants;
however, management's current plans do not alleviate substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern,

Basis af Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management o make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the
accompanying notes, Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Extimates

The Company s financial statemenis are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the Company’'s
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates these estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued research
and development expenses, stock-based compenzation, and the estimated fair values of equity instruments. Management
evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis. The Company bases its estimates on various assumptions that it believes are
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resulis may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.




Segment Information

Operating scgments are defined as componenis of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is
available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker. or decision-making group, in deciding how 1o allocate
resources and in assessing performance, The Company and the Company”s chief operating decision maker view the
Company"s operations and manage its business in one operating segment, which is the business of developing and
commercializing pharmaceuticals, The Company operates in only one segment,

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company capitalizes certain legal, accounting, and other fees and costs that are directly attributable to in-process
equity financings as deferred offering costs until such financings are completed. Upon the completion of an equity financing,
these costs are recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital of the related offering. Upon the completion of the PO in
August 2021, approximately $2.6 million of offering costs related to the IPO were reclassified to additional paid-in capital,
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had deferred financing costs of $0.06 million and as of December 31, 2022, the
Company had no deferred financing costs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company deposils its cash with reputable financial institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC™). This cash is held in checking, cash sweep, and money market accounts. At times, deposits held may
exceed the amount of insurance provided by the FDIC. The Company maintains an insured cash sweep account in which cash
fronm its main operating checking account is invested overmight in highly liquid, short-term investments. The Company
considers all highly liguid investments with a maturity date of 90 days or less at the date of purchase 1o be cash equivalents.
The Company has not experienced any losses in its cash and cash equivalents and believes they are not exposed to significant
eredit risk.

Fair Valuwe Measurement

The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy to prioritize the inputs used in the Company’s fair value
measurements, These tiers include Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable;
and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions. The Company's cash sweep account is considered tier Level | since quoted prices are available in
active and observable markets. The Company believes the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable,
and accrued expenses approximate their estimated fair values due to the short-term maturities of these financial instruments,

Patent Costs

Patent costs related to obtaining and maintaining patent protection in both the United States and other countries are
expensed as incurred. Patents costs are classified as general and administrative expenses,

Research and Development

Rescarch and development costs consist of expenses incumed in connection with the development of the Company s
product candidates. Such expenses include expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations,
manufacturing and supply scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical and clinical trial supply,
outsourced laboratory services, including materials and supplies used to support the Company ‘s research and development
activities, and payvments made for license fees and milestones that have not been demonstrated to have commercial value.
Such costs are expensed in the periods in which they are incurred. Uplront payments and milestone payments for licensed
technology are expensed as rescarch and development as incurred or when the milestone is achicved or is determined to be
probable of being achieved. Advanced payments for goods or services to be received in the future for research and
development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed as the related goods are received or services ane
performed.
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Income Taxes

From inception until March 24, 2021, the Company operated as a limited liability company taxed as a parinership.
Therefore, any income tax liability or benefit through that date accrued to the Company’s members. Since March 24, 2021,
the Company has operated as a C-Corporation and accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability methed, which
requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the
differences between the financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilitics using enacted tax rates in effect for the year
in which the differences are expected 1o reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and labilities s
recognized in income in the period that incledes the enactment date,

The Company recognizes net deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes these assets are more likely
than not to be realized. In making such a determination, managemem considers all available positive and negative evidence,
including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable ncome, tax-planning strategies,
and results of recent operations. If management determines that the Company would be able to realize its deferred tax assets
in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, management would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) management determines
whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position
and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, management recognizes the largest
amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Any acerued
interest and penaltics are included within the related tax Hability.

Stock-Based Comipensation

In March 2021, the Company”s board of directors and shareholders approved the 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive
Plan (“the 2021 Plan”), For stock options granted under the 2021 Plan, the Company measures and recognizes compensation
expense for all stock-based awards made to employees, directors, and non-employees, based on estimated fair values
recognized using the straight-line method over the requisite service period. The fair value of options to purchase common
stock granted w employees is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The calculation of stock-
based compensation expense requires that the Company make certain assumptions and judgments about variables used in the
Black-5choles model, including the expected term of the stock-based award, expected volatility of the underlying common
stock, dividend vield, and the risk-free interest rate, Forfeitures are accounted for in the period they occur, Restricted stock
units (“RSUs") granted under the 2021 Plan are measured at the grant date fair value of the common stock, with
corresponding compensation expense recognized ratably over the requisite service period. Refer to Note 7- Equity Incentive
Plan for further discussion.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss and other comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented. The
Company did not have other comprehensive income (loss) items such as unrealized gains and losses and so for the years
ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, comprehensive loss was equal to the net loss.

Net Loss Per Commeon UnivShare

On March 24, 2021, the Company converted from an LLC to a C-corporation, Upon the conversion, each
outstanding common unit and preferred unit was converted into one share of common stock and preferred stock, respectively.
Common units had similar rights and characteristics of common stock issued upon the conversion. In calculating net loss per
share, the Company retrospectively applied the effects of the conversion to the number of commeon units outstanding prior to
the conversion. Net loss per share for periods prior to the conversion to a C-corporation refers to net loss per commaon unit.

Basic net loss per unit'share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common unitholders or shareholders by
the weighted-average number of units or shares outstanding during the period, contingently issuable restricied stock units for
which no future service is required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying common stock, and pre-funded warrants
because their exercise requires only nominal consideration for the delivery of shares (collectively, “basic shares”™), without
consideration of common unit or share equivalents, Diluted net loss per unit or share is calculated by adjusting basic shares
outstanding for the dilutive effect of common unit or share equivalents owtstanding for the period. For purposes of the diluted
net loss per unit or share calculation, preferred units or shares, profit interests, and warrants to purchase preferred units or
shares are considered to be common unit or share equivalents but are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per
commuon unit or share if their effect would be anti-dilutive.
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As the Company has reported a net loss for the periods presented, diluted net loss per common unit or share is the
same as the basic net loss per common unit or share for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Wet loss ... s A0 10.913) § (7.902.477)
Deemed d|v|d.cnd upon mdmnplwn -:nl'ijZ] I56 sharesofSencs Ic cnn\erllhle
preferred stock ... R e e - 5 269038
Deemed dividend upon amcndmml nflh: ltnns lcnh: Scn:s ld comtﬂ:b!t
preferred stock ... e e s o e e B o e e e - & 2293199
Net loss auributable to common stockBolders ... 3 00,010,813) S{10,464,714)

Basic and diluted net loss per common unit/share. ...
Weighted-average basic and diluted common units/shares....

. 8 (0.87) § (2.43)
11.050.662 4,302,232

The common unit or share equivalents that are not included in the caleulation of diluted net loss per common unit or
share but could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future are as follows:

As of December 31,
2022 021

Common Stock Options.
Common Stock Warrants. ..
Taotal potentially dilutive securities..

1056326 523,199
6993813 3.091.657
8050139 3.614.856

Recenddy Adopied Accounting Pronouncements

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company has reviewed recent aceounting standards and does not expect
the future adoption of recently issued accounting pronouncements 1o have a material impact on the Company s financial
position and resulis of operations,
3. Balance Sheet Details

The following provides certain balance sheet details:

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid insurance..

586407 §  T69416

Prepaid research and :l:wlupmm CosLs, 92,581 -
Prepaid other ... 11,604
Interest rc¢cwable i 12,602
Deferred offering costs . - 55.718

Total prepaid expenses :nd orh:r current assels 703.194 § 825.134

Accrued and other current liabilities...........
Accrued research and development costs
Accrued compensation and benefits ...
Accrued other .. Vi

Total acerued :md nl.'hcr rl.n'rcnt Iual:nhues.

254787 8§ 235584

170,389 766,207
756

425932 § 1.001,591

4. Subordinated Convertible Promissory Notes




In July and October 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of $3,000,000 of subordinated convertible promissory
notes (the “Notes™). Notes in the amount of 81,145,000 were issued to existing investors who are also related pantics (See
Note 11 - Refated Parties), §1,730,000 were issued to existing investors whe are not related parties and notes in the amaount of
£125,000 were issued to new investors. The Notes bore interest at 4% per annum and were to mature on July 17, 2021. The
Notes were subordinated to the Company’s long-term debt and were convertible into a qualified Series A financing of at least
S10 million at a 20% discount to the lowest price per unit paid by investors for that financing. Under authoritative accounting
guidance, this contingent beneficial conversion feature was to be measured and recognized when the contingency is resolved.
The Notes were recorded upon issuance net of debl discount costs of 328,301, The Company recognized 516,888 of
amortized delt discount costs during the vear ended December 31, 2021, related to the Notes.

On January 27, 2021, the Company amended the terms of the Notes to increase the maxinum amount of convertible
promissory notes to be issued from $3,000,000 1o 5,000,000, to allow for the conversion of the convertible promissory notées
into shares of common stock upon a Qualified Initial Public Offering with aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of at
least $10,000,000 at a 20% discount to the lowest price per share paid by investors for that financing and to extend the
miaturity date to December 31, 2021 In connection with this amendment, Notes in the amount of 51,253 000 were issued to
existing investors who are also related parties (See Note 11 - Related Parties) and 53 11,000 were issued to existing investors
who are not related partics.

In March 2021, the Company further amended the terms of the Notes to allow for the conversion of the Notes into
Series 1d Preferred Units ot the same price as purchasers of Serics 1d Preferred Units. As of March 15, 2021, $4,391,000 of
the Notes, along with related interest of §73,801, were converted to 5,379,247 Series 1d Preferred Units. Since the Notes did
not convert at & discount, there was no beneficial conversion feature.

The Company considers the above modification of the Notes in March 2021 to be a substantial modification
requiring extinguishment accounting under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 470-50-40-10. Based upon an
independent valuation of the reacquisition price of the Notes, the difference between the reacquisition price and the net
carrying amount of the Notes immediately prior to the medification is not material to the financial stalements,

In connection with the Company's IPO in August 2021, the outstanding principal of the Notes and accrued interest
totaling 5180434 converted into 32,219 shares of common stock. Upon this conversion, since the conversion contained a
20% discount, the Company measured the beneficial conversion feature and determined that it was not material to the
financial statements.

As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company had no promissory notes cutstanding.
5. Long-Term Debit

In February 2017, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB")
whereas SVB agreed (o provide term loans to the Company in two tranches. The first tranche of $2,500,000 was drawn in
February 2017 and bore interest at a rate of 1.5% above the prime rate, which was 3.25% as of December 31, 2020, with
principal and interest payable monthly through February 9, 2021, The second tranche was not utilized.

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, SVB also received warrant units to purchase, al any tlime afier
February 9, 2017, and prior to February 9, 2027, 187,978 Series la Preferred Units or the equivalent Series A Preferred Units
had they purchased Series 1a Preferred Units, if Series A Preferred Units are issued, at a price of $1.00 per unit. The
estimated fair value of these warrant units of $104,630 (See Note 6 — Equity Securities), as well as costs associated with the
term loan, including provision for a final payment of $225,000, were recorded as a discount to outstanding debt and
amortized to interest expense utilizing the effective interest method over the underlying term of the loan.

In June 2019, the Company and SVB entered into a First Amendment 1o the Loan and Secunity Agreement whereby
if the Company did not achicve certain capital milestones by December 1, 2019, term loan principal payments would be
deferred from December 21, 2019 through May 1, 2020 with the deferred principal payvments being payable in equal monthly
installments, in addition to those principal payments already scheduled to be paid, starting on June 1. 2020 and extending
through the February 9, 2021 maturity date of the term loan, In addition, if those principal payments were deferred for that
six-month period, a non-refundable amendment fee of $100,000 would be due and payable on the earliest 1o occur of the
maturity date, the prepayment of the term loan or the occurrence of an event of default, The capital milestones were not
achieved by December 1, 2019, and, therefore, the defined principal repayments were deferred.
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The non-refundable amendment fee of S100,000, as well as $12,280 of costs associated with the amendment, were
recorded as a discount to outstanding debt and were amortized to interest expense utilizing the effective interest method over
the remaining underlving term of the loan.

In January and February 2021, the Company paid the final principal payments of $231 482 under the SVB Loan and
Security Agreement. The Company also paid the final payment fee of 225,000 in February 2021 and the amendment fee of
S100,000 in March 2021. For the vear ended December 31, 2021, the Company paid a total of $556.482 to SVEB as final
payments for its long-term debt.

As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company had no long-term debt outstanding.
6. Equity Securities
Commaon Stock and Preferved Stock

On March 24, 2021, the Company entered into a Plan of Conversion (“Conversion™) whereby the Company
converted from an LLC under the laws of the State of Delaware to a Delaware C-corporation with the name Dermata
Therapeutics. Inc. In connection with the Conversion, each fully paid preferred and common unit in the LLC was converted
into a like number of shares of preferred and common stock of the Company with a par value of $0.0001 per share. The
Shares issued had the same rights, preferences and privileges that had accrued to the pre-convened Units. Any references in
these Notes to Financial Statements 1o equily securities as “units” refer to pré-conversion equity secunities and any references
to “shares™ or “stock” in these Notes to Financial Statements refer to post-conversion equity securities.

On July 1. 2021, the Company effected a reverse split of shares of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of 1-for-
20,5 pursuant to an amendment to the Company”s certificate of incorporation approved by the Company’s board of directors
and stockholders. The par value was not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. All issued and outstanding common stock
share and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse split
fior all periods presented.

On August 17, 2021, the Company completed its 1PO, in which it sold 2,571,428 shares of its common stock
together with 2,571 428 warrants to purchase one share of common stock with an exercise price of $7.00 per share at a
combined offering price of $7.00. Additionally, the underwriters exercised their option to purchase an additional 385,714
warrants with an exercise price of $7.00 per warranl. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $15.4
million from the PO after deducting underwriters” discounts and offering expenses of approximately 2.6 million,

Each of the following occurred in connection with the completion of the [PO in August 2021
- The sale of 2,571,428 shares of common stock along with 2,957,142 warrants to purchase common stock.
- The conversion of 63,823,015 shares of convertible preferred stock into an aggregate of 3,813,973 shares of

common stock

- The conversion of $175,000 prncipal amount of outstanding convertible promissory notes and accrued
interest of $5,434 into 32,219 shares of commaon stock.

- The conversion of 1, 419228 Series 1a preferred warrants into 69,212 warrant shares exercisable into
common stock.

Adfter the IPO, there were no shares of preferred stock or preferred stock warrants outstanding. Prior to the PO, the
Company had 1,911,009 shares of common stock outstanding afier giving effect for the Company’s reverse stock split in July
2021,

On April 25, 2022, the Company closed a private placement (“PIPE™), in which it sold 898 585 shares of its commaon
stock together with 2,875,000 pre-funded warmants to purchase one share of common stock with an exercise price of $0,0001
per share (“Pre-funded Warrani™), and 3,773,585 warrants to purchase one share of common stock with an exercise price of
£1.325 per share (“PIPE Common Warrant™) at a combined offering price of $1.325. The Company received net cash
proceeds of approximately $4.3 million from the PIPE after deducting underwriters” discounts and offering expenses of
approximately $0.7 million. The PIPE Common Warrant related to this private placement will expire on May 12, 2027.
Duiring the quanter ended June 30, 2022, 875,000 of the Pre-funded Warrants were exercised. Further, during the quarter
ended September 30, 2022, 2,000,000 of the Pre-funded Warrants were exercised. No Pre-Funded Warrants were outstanding
as of December 31, 2022.




The Company's tolal common stock issued and outstanding was 12,321 848 and 8 328,629 shares as of December
31, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Series | Preferred Units

From the Company’s fommation on December 8, 2014, through 2016, the Company issued 6,906,244 Series |
Preferred Units for net consideration of $6,833,877, The Company's Series | Prefermed Units were converted to prefemed
stock during the first quarter of 2021, Additionally. in August 2021, the Company converted all preferred stock into common
stock. No Series | Preferred Units were outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021,

Series la Preferred Units

In 2016, the Company issued 5.000.000 Series 1a Preferred Units in exchange for cash off $5,000.000 and net of
issuance costs of 19,868, Purchasers of the Series la Preferred Units also received 1,250,000 Warrant Units to purchase an
additional amount of Series 1a Preferred Units, The estimated fair value of the warmant units was recorded as a separate
component of members’ equity (deficit) in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, with an offset to the
Series la proceeds. In June 2020, 18,750 of the warrants were exercised for consideration of 518,750, which consideration
was received in July 2020, The Company's Series 1a Preferred Units were converted to preferred stock during the first
quarter of 2021. Additionally, in August 2021, the Company converted all prefermed stock into commaon stock. No Series la
Preferred Units were outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.

Series b Preferred Units

In 2018, the Company issued 6.500.000 Series 1b Preferred Units in exchange for cash of $6,500.000 and net of
issuance costs of $40.405, Purchasers of the Series 1b Preferred Units also received 1,268,279 Class B Common Units. The
estimated fair value of the Class B Commaon units has been recorded as a component of members’ equity (deficit) in the
accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, with an offset to the Series 1b proceeds. The Company”’s Series Ib
Preferved Units were converted to preferred stock during the first quarter of 2021, Additionally. in August 2021, the
Company converted all preferred stock into common stock. Mo Series [b Preferred Units were outstanding as of December
31, 2022, and 2021,

Series Ie Preferred Units

On June 14, 2019, the Company ¢losed participation in a $5,785,000 Series l¢ financing from curent and new
investors. As of December 31, 2019, cash of $5,535,000, including 150,000 from the conversion of a convertible note issued
1o a Managing Member of the Company for a loan made to the Company, net of issuance costs of $25,857, had been
received. The accrued interest on the convertible note in the amount of $1,487 was also converted into Series 1c Preferred
Units. The remaining balance of $250,000 committed to the financing was paid in the amounts of $123,000 in May 2020 and
$125,000 in June 2020.

In June 2019, 5.221,156 Series ¢ Preferved Units were issued in connection with the settlement and license
agreement, and in July 2021, the Company redeemed these units/shares in connection with an amendment 1o the settlement
and license agreement. See Note 9 — License Agreements for more information.

The Company's Series 1¢ Preferred Units were converted to preferred stock during the first quarter of 2021,
Additionally, in August 2021, the Company converted all preferred stock inte common stock. No Series 1¢ Preferred Units
were outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021,

Series Id Preferred Units

In March 2021, the Company issued 686,742 Series 1d Preferved Units at a cost of $0.83 per unit for total proceeds
of $570,000. In addition, as described in Note 4 — Subordinated Conventible Promissory Notes, as of March 15, 2021,
£4,391,000 of convertible promissory notes, along with related interest of $73,801, were converted into 5,379,247 Series 1d
Preferred Units. The owtstanding Series 1d Preferred Units were convented to preferred stock during the first quaner of 2021.
Additionally, in August 2021, the Company converted all preferred stock into common stock. No Series 1d Preferred Units
were outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021,




Class A Connmen Units

During 2014 and 2015, the Company issued 508,777 Class A Common Units in exchange for consideration of
$10,430. The Class A Common Units outstanding convented to common stock during the first quarter of 2021. No Class A
Common Units were outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.

Class B Commeon Units

The Company had 1,767,477 Class B Common Units outstanding as of December 31, 2020, This includes 133,953
Class B Common Units issued for consideration of 52,853 and 1,268,279 Class B Common Units issued in connection with
the issuance of the Series Ib Preferred Units, which were assigned an estimated fair value of $2,340,000, The remaining
365,245 Class B Common Units were issued as a profits interest as that term is defined by Revenue Procedure 93-27, 1993-2
C.B, 343, as clarified by Revenue Procedure 200143, 2001-2 C.B. 191, with participation thresholds from $0.001 1o $0.36.
During the first quarter 2020, the Company issued 2,439 Class B Common Units, all of which represented a profits interest.
During the first quarter of 2021, 22,494 Class B Common Units were forfeited as a result of emplovee resignations. The
remaining Class B Common Units outstanding converted to common stock during the first quarter of 2021, No Class B
Common Units were oustanding as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.

Liguidation Preference

Prior to the Company”s PO in August 2021, the Company’s preferred units were subject to liquidation preferences
contained herein. So long as there were no Series A Preferred Units outsianding at the time of a liquidity event, any liguidity
event proceeds would have been distributed as follows: First, the Series |d Preferred Units had a two times preference in
liquidation over the Series 1c Preferred Units and then participated with the Series 1, 1band la Preferred Units once the
Series 1¢ Preferred Unit preferences had been satisfied. Second, proceeds 1o Series ¢ Preferred Unit holders sufficient 1o
cover two times their Series Lo investment; third, proceeds to Series 1, Serics la, Series 1b, Series I, and Series 1d Preferred
Unit holders sufficient to cover interest at the rate of 8% per annum on the Series | Preferred Units, the Series 1a Preferred
Units, the Series Ib Preferred Units, the Series 1¢ Preferred Units. and Series 1d Preferred Units, fourth, proceeds to the
Series 1, Series 1a, Series |b and Series I Preferred Unit holders sufficient to cover the unit value of Series | Preferred
Units, Series 1a Preferred Units, Series |b Preferred Units, Series 1c Preferred Units, and Series 1d Preferred Units; fifth, to
Class A and Clazss B Common holders proceeds sufficient to cover their pro-rata portion of distributions made to Series 1,
Series 1a. Series 1b, Series lc. and Series 1d Preferred Unit holders, provided that no Class B Common Units would share in
any distribution until after the point at which the amount per Class A Common Unit exceeds the amount of such Class B
Common Unit's Participation Threshold; and sixth, a pro-rata distribution of the remaining proceeds to all equity holders.
Upon the issuance of Series A Preferred Units, each Series 1 Preferred Unit, each Series 1a Preferred Unil, each Series 1
Preferred Unit, each Series le Preferred Unit and each Series 1d Preferred Unit would have automatically converted into the
number of Series A Preferred Units equal to the sum of the unit value of the Series |, Series la, Series Ib, Series 1¢ or Series
Id Preferred Units plus all accumulated preferred retum as of the conversion date that would have been due with respect to
such Series 1, Series a, Scrics b, Serics e or Serics 1d Preferred Units in the case of a liquidity event. As of December 31,
2022, and 2021, no Series A Preferred Units had been issued, and no preferred stock remained outstanding.

Conversion Rights

Prior to the Company s IPO in August 2021, the Company’s preferred units were subject to conversion rights
contained hercin. Upon the first issuance by the Company of any Series A Prefermed Units, each Series | Prefemed Unit and
each Series 1a Preferred Unit and each Series 1b Preferred Unit and each Series 1¢ Preferred Unit and each Series 1d
Preferved Unit would have automatically been converted into the number of Series A Preferred Units equal to the sum of the
Unit Value with respect to such Series | Preferred Unit or Series 1a Preferred Unit or Series 1b Preferred Unil or Series I¢
Preferved Unit or Series 1d Preferred Unit as of the conversion date divided by the product of 0.80 multiplied by the Unit
Value of the Series | Preferred Units or Series La Preferred Units or Series 1b Preferred Units or Series Ie Preferred Units or
Series 1d Preferred Unit issued on the conversion date. The Series A Preferred Units issued to the Serics | Preferred
Members and Series la Preferred Members and Series Ih Preferred Members and Series 1¢ Preferred Members and Series 1d
Preferred Members upon conversion of such Series | Preferred Units and Series 1a Preferred Units and such Series b
Preferred Units and Series 1c Preferred Units and Series 1d Preferred Units would have had the same rights, privileges and
preferences as the other Series A Preferred Units issued by the Company on the conversion date, The Company considered
the classification of the Preferred Units and concluded that they were appropristely included as a component of equity since
each class of Preferred Units participates in the same form of consideration received upon a change in control. As of
December 31, 2022, and 2021, no preferred units or stock remained outstanding.
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Srockholders' Agreements

On March 24, 2021, in connection with the conversion of Dermata Therapeutics, LLC into a Delaware corporation,
the Company entered into a Stockholders” Agreement (as amended, the Stockholders™ Agreement) with all of its then-
existing stockholders, including Proehl Invesiment Ventures, LLC and Hale Biopharma Ventures, LLC. The Stockholders’
Agreement among other things, provided for certain restrictions on transfer of the Company's shares of capital stock, set
forth agreements and understandings with respect to how shares of its capital stock held by the stockholders party thereto will
have been voted on, or tendered in connection with, an acquisition of the Company and provided for certain voting rights
with respect to the election of directors. In addition, pursuant to the Stockholders’ Agreement, holders of the Company’s
Series |a Preferred Stock were entitled to purchase, at any time prior to March 14, 2026, such number of shares of the
Company’s Series la Preferred Stock as such Series |a Stockholder shall request, up to an aggregate number of shares of
Series Ia Preferred Stock not to exceed the product of 25% and the aggregate number of shares Series 1a Preferred Stock
thcn held by such Series 1a Stockholder (or the Series 1a Preferred Warrant Rights). The shares of Series 1a Preferred Stock

pursuant o any Series 1a Preferred Warram Right had a per share purchase price of $20.50 (subject to appropriate
ad;uslnlcnl in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination, or other similar mapnal:mmﬂ) Upon the
consummation of the Company s IPO of commaon stock, cach Series 1a Preferred Stock Warrant became exercisable for the
same number of shares of Common Stock with the same per share exercise price of 20,50 per share (subject to appropriate
adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination, or other similar recapitalization). The Stockholders”
Agreement would have automatically terminated upon the earliest of (a) immediately prior 1o the consummation of the
Company”s initial public offering of commaon stock, and (b) the consummation of a sale of the Company, subject to certain
conditions. The Company completed the 1PO of commion stock in August 2021, thereby terminating the Stockholders®
Agreement.

On June 29, 2021, with effectiveness on July 1, 2021, the Company's board of directors amended its Certificate of
Incorporation 1o adjust the conversion price and certain conversion mechanics of the Company s issued and outstanding
Series 1d Preferred Stock, whereby each share of Series 1d Preferred stock would convert into such number of Commaon
Stock as determined by dividing (i) the product of (a) the Original Issue Price for the Series 1d Preferred Stock, multiplied by
(b) 1.2, rounded to the nearest whole cent, by (ii) the 80% of the initial public per share offering price in the IPO. The Series
Id conversion shall not be subject to further adjustment for any stock split.

On June 29, 2021, with effectiveness on July 1, 2021, the Company's board of directors approved an amendment 1o
the 2021 Plan to increase the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuances from 593,340 to 1,648,213 shares.

On June 29, 2021, the Company s board of directors approved a 1-for-20.5 reverse split of all outstanding shares of
common stock, effected on July 1, 2021 (no fractional shares were issued). Except as otherwise noted, all references to share
and per share amounts related to common stock and common units have been restated 1o rellect the reverse stock split

On July 12, 2021, the Company s board of directors amended its Centificate of Incorporation to further adjust the
conversion price and certain conversion mechanics of the Company *s issued and outstanding Series |d Preferred Stock. The
two amendments to the Series 1d Preferred Stock conversion terms were combined for purposes of accounting for the
amendments. In order to determine if these amendments resulted in a modification or extinguishment of the Series 1d
Preferred Stock, pursuant to the related authonitative guidance, the Company engaged an independent third-party valuation
firm to assist with determining the fair value of the Series 1d Preferred Stock immediately before the change in conversion
terms, as well as immediately after the change in conversion terms. This resulted in a substantive increase i fair valoe, and
as such, the Company determined the amendments resulted in extinguishment accounting. Accordingly, the Company applied
ASC 260, Eamings per Share, and ASC 470, Debt, by analogy to determine the appropriate measurement and presentation.
The Company compared the fair value of the Series 1d Preferred Stock, as amended. 1o its carrving value and recorded the
resulting difference of approximately $2.3 million as a deemed dividend for the Series 1d preferred shareholders. The
Company recorded the deemed dividend to additional paid-in capital because the Company is in an accumulated deficit
position, thereby increasing the net loss atiributable to the common sharcholders for the vear ended December 31, 2021,

On July 30, 2021, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to the License and Settlement Agreement (or, the
Second License Amendment), whereby, for the settlement of certain disputes arising under the License Agreement, the
Company agreed to exchange the shares of Series 1¢ Preferred Stock owned by Villani, Inc. (*Villani™} for an increase of
milestone payments and rovalty rates due to Villani under the License Agreement. On July 30, 2021, Villani surrendered
5,221,156 shares of Series |¢ Preferred Stock to the Company and on August 17, 2021, the Company paid to Villani $1.0
million upon the close of the Company’s initial public offering for the redemption of the Series 1¢ shares. The Company
determined that the deemed dividend to Villani for the Series 1¢ preferred share redemption was the difference between the
£1.0 million paid for the shares and the carrying value of the shares of $730,962, resulting in a deemed dividend of $269,038,
This deemed dividend of $269,038 was recorded to additional paid-in capital because the Company is in an accumulated
deficit position, thereby increasing the net loss atiributable to common shareholders for the vear ended December 31, 2021.




On August 14, 2021, the Company s board of directors approved an amendment to the Company’s Centificate of
Incorporation to increase the number of shares of Common Siock authorized to 90,000,000,

On July 11, 2022, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment (the “Certificate of Amendment™) to the
Company’s Amended and Restated Centificale of Incorporation (the “Centificate of Incorporation’™) with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware to increase the number of authorized shares of the Company's common stock from 90,000,000
shares to 250,000,000 shares. The increase in the number of authorized shares was approved by the holders of a majority of
the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company at its annual meeting on July 11, 2022,

Warrants
Warrants issued ar IPO

On August 17, 2021, the Company completed its TPO, in which it sold 2,571,428 shares of its common stock
together with 2,571,428 warranis to purchase one share of common stock with an exercise price of $7.00 per share at a
combined offering price of $7.00. The underwriters exercised their option to purchase an additional 385,714 warrants,
increasing the number of warranis issued at IPO to 2,957,142, Each warrant is immediately exercisable al the option of the
holder and expires five years from the date of issuance.

The Company evaluated the terms of the warrants issued at the PO and determined that they should be classified as
equity instruments based upon accounting guidance provided in ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC
£15, Derivatives and Hedging. Since the Company determined that the warrants were equity classified, the Company
recorded the proceeds from the IPO, net of issuance costs, within common stock at par value and the balance of proceeds to
additional paid in capital, The fair value of each warmant on August 17, 2021, was 50,9995 based on the closing rading price
on that day.

As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding warrants are exercisable into 2,957,142 shares of common stock whose
fair value was S0.409 per share, based on the closing trading price on that day.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 2,957,142 warrants outstanding resulting from the TPO with an exercise
price of $7.00 and which expire August 17, 2026.

Underwriter IPO Warrants

Upon the closing of the Company s IPO in August 2021, the Company issued o the underwrilers warranis (o
purchase 128,571 of shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to 115% of the public offering price, or $8.05 per
share, exercisable for a period of five years, or until August 2026,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 128,571 warrants outstanding resulting from the underwriter IPO
warrants with an excrcise price of $8.05 and which expire August 17, 2026, As of December 31, 2022, the outstanding
warranis are exercisable for 128,571 shares of common stock whose fair value was 50,409 per share, based on the closing
trading price on that day,

Warrants issued with Class B Common Units

In March 2021, the Company granted Class B Common Units Profits interests to centain former emplovees and
consulianis, In connection with the conversion from an LLC to a C-Corporation, the Company converied 63,303 of vesied
Units to fully vested Common Stock Warrants with an exercise price of $5.74. These Common Stock Warrants issuances
were considered a modification under ASC 718, Stock Compensation, in which the fair value of the Class B Common Units
profits interests were measured at the modification date and compared 1o the fair value of the common stock warrants, with
the difference of $279,812 recorded as stock-based compensation expense in the first quarter of 2021,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 65,303 common warrants outstanding related o the prior Class B
Common Units with an exercise price of $5.74 and which expire December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2022, the
outstanding warrants are exercisable into 635,303 shares of common stock whose fair value was $0.409 per share, based on the
closing trading price on that day.




Warrants issued with Series la Preferred Units

In connection with the issuance of 5,000,000 Series 1a Preferred Units in November 2016, each Series 1a Preferred
Member received Warrant Units to purchase from the Company, at any time after November 15, 2016 and on or prior to
November 15, 2021, such number of Series 1a Preferred Units as such Series 1a Preferred Member shall request, up 1o an

e number of Series la Preferred Units not 1o exceed the product of 25% and the aggregate number of Series Ia
Preferred Units then held by such Series 1a Preferred Member, which was 1,231,250 units at December 31, 2020, The
exercise price for each Warrant Unit was $1.00, subject to adjustment for unit splits and combinations. The warrants had a 5=
year term, The Company received total procesds of $5,000,000 for the Series la Preferred Units and warrants which were
allocated on a relative fair value basis to the Units and warrants resulting in a relativie fair value of $4 381,199 and 618,801,

ively. The estimated fair value of the Series la Warrant Units was recorded as a arate component of members’
equity (deficit) in the accompanying financial statements as of December 31, 2020, In June 2020, 18,750 of the warrants
were exercised for consideration of $18,750, which consideration was received in July 2020,

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, SVB also received Warrant Units to purchase, at any time after
February 9, 2017, and prior to February 9, 2027, 187,978 Series 1a Preferred Units or the equivalent Series A Preferred Units
had they purchased Series 1a Preferred Units, if Series A Preferred Units are issued, at an exercise price of §1.00 per unit. On
March 24, 2021, in connection with the conversion from an LLC to a C-Corporation, ¢ach warrant to purchase Senes 1a
Preferred Units in the L1.C was automatically converted inlo a warrant 1o purchase, upon the same terms and conditions,
shares of Series la Preferred Stock of the Company.

In July 2021, the Company effected a reverse split of shares of the Company’s common stock at a ratio of 1-for-20.3,
and the conversion ratio of the preferred stock was adjusted accordingly. In August 2021, in connection with the Company’s
IPO), the outstanding Series 1a preferred warrants were converted into 69,212 common warrants,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 69,212 common warrants outstanding related to the prior Series la
preferred warrants with an exercise price of $20.50 and which expire November 15, 2026. As of December 31, 2022, the
outstanding warrants are exercisable into 69.212 shares of common stock whose fair value was $0.409 per share, based on the
closing trading price on that day.

Common and Pre-Funded Warrants issued with PIPE

In April 2022, the Company completed the PIPE, in which it sold 898,585 shares of its common stock together with
2,875,000 Pre-funded Warranis 1o purchase one share of common stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, and
3,773,585 PIPE Common Warrants 1o purchase one share of commeon stock with an exercise price of §1.325 per share, ata
combined offering price of $1.325, Fach PIPE Common Warrant is immediately exercisable at the option of the holder and
expires May 13, 2027,

During the quarter ended June 30, 2022, 875,000 of the Pre-funded Warrants were exercised. During the quarter
ended September 30, 2022, the remaining 2,000,000 Pre-funded Warrants were exercised. No additional Pre-funded Warrants
are outstanding as of December 31, 2022,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 3,773,585 PIPE Common Warrants outstanding with an exercise price
of §1.325 and which expire May 13, 2027, As of December 31, 2022, the owtstanding PIPE Common Warrants are
exercisable into 3,773,585 shares of common stock whose fair value was 50,409 per share, based on the closing trading price
on that day.

7. Equity Incentive Plan

Under the Company’s 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan™). the Company may grant options to
purchase common stock, restricted stock awards, performance stock awards, incentive bonus awards, other cash-
awards or directly issue shares of common stock to employees, directors, and consultants of the Company.

Effective January 1, 2022, an evergreen provision contained in the Company's 2021 Plan increased the total number of shares
of common shares issuable under the 2021 Plan in an amount equal to one percent of the Company's common shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2021, This evergreen provision resulted in an additional 83,286 common shares issuable
pursuant to the 2021 Plan. increasing the total authorized shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan to 1,731,499 as of
January 1, 2022. Stock awards may be granted at an exercise price per share of not less than 100% of the fair market value at
the date of grant, Stock awards granted are exercisable over a maximum term of 10 years from the date of grant and generally
vest over a period of four years for employees and one vear for directors of the Company”s board and consultants,

As of December 31, 2022, there remain an additional 455,539 shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan.




Fair Valwe Measurement

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which requires the use of highly subjective
assumptions, to determine the fair value of stock-based awards. The fair value of each employee stock option is estimated on
the grant date under the fair value method using the Black-Scholes model. The estimated fair value of each stock option is
then expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The assumptions and estimates that the
Company uses in the Black-Scholes model arc as follows:

. Fair Valwe of Common Stock, The estimated fair value of the common stock underlving the Company's stock
aption plan was determined by management by considering various factors as discussed below. All options to
purchase shares of the Company s common stock are intended to be exercisable at a price per share not less
than the per-share fair value of the Company’s commeon stock underlying those options on the date of grant.
In the absence of a public trading market for the Company s common stock, before the initial public offering,
on each grant date, the Company developed an estimate of the fair value of its common stock based on the
information known (o the Company on the date of grant, upon a review of any recent events and their
potential impact on the estimated fair value per share of the common stock and in part on input from an
independent third-party valuation firm. After the Company s initial public offering, the fair value of common
stock is measured as the Company”’s closing price of common stock on the date of grant,

. Rixk-Free Interest Rate. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation
madel on the implied yield available on UL5. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equivalent to that of
the expected term of the options,

. Expected Term. The expected term represems the period that the Company's stock-based awards are expected
to be outstanding. Because of the limitations on the sale or transfer of the Company’s common stock asa
privately held company, the Company does not believe its historical exercise pattern is indicative of the
patiem it will experience as a publicly traded company. The Company plans to continue 1o use the SAB 110
simplified method until it has sufficient trading history as a publicly traded company.

. Volagility. The Company determines the price volatility based on the historical volatilities of industry peers as
it has limited trading history for its common stock price. Industry peers consist of several public companies in
the biotechnology industry with comparable characteristics, including clinical trials progress and therapeutic
indications,

. Dividend Yield. The expected dividend assumption is based on the Company”s current expectations about its
anticipated dividend policy. To date, the Company has not declared any dividends to common shareholders,
and therefore the Company has used an expected dividend yield of zero,

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used for the stock option granis:
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
-5 146 % 487

Grant date fair value

Risk-free interest rate. 1.5% 0.92%
Dividend yield ........ OO0 % 0.00%%
Expected life in vears, 54 5.7

Expected volatility ......... 123% 122%

Stock-based Compensation Expense

In general, stock-based compensation is allocated to research and development expense or general and administrative
expense according to the classification of cash compensation paid 1o the emplovee, director, or consultant to whom the stock
award was granted,

On March 24, 2021, in connection with the conversion from an LLC to a C-Corporation, the Company converted
277,448 of Class B Common Units profits interests, for which no consideration had been received, into 277,448 options to
purchase common stock at an exercise price of $5.74 10 $6.3 14 per share. The fair value of common stock prior to IPO was
determined in part based upon input from an independent third-party valuation firm. The Company considered the conversion
of these Class B Commaon Units profits interesis as a modification under ASC T18, Stock Compensation, in which the fair
value of the Class B Common Units profits interests was measured at the modification date and compared to the fair value of
the common stock options, with the difference of 51,339,993 resulting in incréemental stock-based compensation expense
recorded in the first quarter of 2021,




In December 2021, the Company s board of directors authorized a stock option grant in licu of a cash bonus for the
Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The stock-based compensation expense of $0.4 million related to the
stock option grant was booked to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021: however, the impact to additional paid-in capital
was not booked until the first quarter of 2022, when the stock option award was granted.

The following table summarizes the total stock-based compensation expense related to stock opiions and RSUs
included in the Company’s statements of operations:

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Rescarch and development ... . % 20834 § 354,201
General and administrative ... 712001 1,551,207

§ 630325 § 1905408

As of December 31, 2022, total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was approximately $0.9
million and the weighted average period over which this cost is expected to be recognized is 2.4 years,

Stock Award Activity
A summary of the Company s Equity Plans stock option activity is as follows:
Weighted-
Average

Weighted- Remaining
Number of Average  Contractual

Options Exercise Term (in
Outstanding Price Years)
Balance at December 31, 2021 . 523,199 5 5.84 88
Options granted....... 533,127 1.75 86
Options exercised ‘ - - -
Options cancelled.... - - -
Balince st Pecember 31, 2022 .....umimpisiminmissinssinninms s isinsyiesisassasasiassssy 1,056,326 $ 3.77 8.2
Options exercisable at December 31, 2022, 617,769 § 433 8.3

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable as of December 31, 2022, is calculated as the difference between
the exercise price of the underlying options and the closing market price of the Company”s common stock on that date, which
was 50.409 per share. The intrinsic value of options cutstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2022, was zero due 1o
the underlying options exercise price above market value.

As of December 31, 2022, total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was approximately 0.9
million and the weighted average period over which this cost is expected to be recognized is 2.4 years,

Restricted Stock Unit Award Activity

A summary of the Company’s Equity Plan restricted stock unit, or RSU, award activity is as follows:

Number of

RSU's
outstanding
Balance at December 31, 2021 . . -
R5Us granted... 219.634
RSUs sentled 219,634

RSUs cancelled.......
Balance at December 31, 2022,

F-20




During the vear ended December 31, 2022, the Company issued 219,634 RSUs as partial compensation to certain
member of Dermata’s Board of Directors for their services during 2022. The Company recognized stock-based compensation
expense of approximately $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to the restricted stock unit awards.
There were no RSUs outstanding during fiscal year 2021, no RSU's outstanding as of December 31, 2022, and there is no
unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs as of December 31, 2022,

8. 401(K) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) savings plan for all eligible employees. The Company may make discretionary
matching contributions to the plan to be allocated to emplovee accounts based upon emplovee deferrals and compensation.
To date, the Company has not made any matching contributions into the savings plan,

9. License Agreements

On March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a license agreement, as amended (the “License Agreement™) with
Villani, Inc. whereby Villani has granted the Company an exclusive, sub-licensable, rovaliv-bearing license (the “License™)
under the Licensed Patents (as defined in the License Agreement). to formulate, develop, seck regulatory approval for, make
or sell products that contain Spongifia fecusiris (alone or in combination with other active or inactive ingredients) for the
treatment of diseases, disorders and conditions of the skin, including but not limited to acne, rosacea, psoriasis, atopic
dermatitis, seborrheic dermatitis, actinic keratosis and eczema that were developed using certain licensed know-how
(“Licensed Products™). The Company is responsible for the development (including manufacturing, packaging. non-clinical
studies, clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approval and commercialization (including marketing, promotion, distribution,
ete.)) for all Licensed Products. In partial consideration of the License, the Company forgave its previous outstanding loan to
Villani in the amount of $400,000,

The original License Agreement was amended in 2019 and, in consideration of the receipt of certain know-how and
patents, the Company issued to Villani 5,221,156 Series e Preferred Units equal to 3% of the Company s fully diluted
capitalization, valued at §730.962. Pursuant to the amended License Agreement, the Company was required to make future
milestone payments to Villani in an aggregate amount of up to 520.25 million upen the achievement of specified
development and sales milestones, pavable in cash or in equity, at the option of Villani, as well as single-digit royalty
paymenis on net sales,

On July 30, 2021, the Company further amended the License Agreement in the Second Amendment to the License
and Sertlement Agreement (the “Second Amendment”). In consideration of the Second Amendment, Villani exchanged the
5.221.156 Series le Preferred Shares issued to Villani in 2019 for an increase in milestone payments and royalty rates
payable pursuant to the License Agreement and the Company paid Villani $1 million after the close of the TPO. Pursuant o
the Second Amendment, the Company is required to make future milestone payments o Villani in an aggregate amount of up
to $40.5 million upon the achievement of specified development and sales milestones, payable in cash or in equity, ot the
option of Villani, as well as single-digit royalty payments on net sales, The Second Amendment includes customary terms
relating to, among others, indemnification, intellectual property protection, confidentiality, remedies, and warranties, See
Note 6 = Equity Sccuritics for additional information regarding the Company's redemption of the Series | ¢ Preferred Shares
from Villani.

10, Commitments and Contingencies
Corenavires Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, ithe World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.
Significant uncertainties may arise with respect to potential shutdowns of operations or government orders to cease activities

due to emergeney declarations, inability to operate. employee shortages, or claims for business interruption insurance, e,
Each of these matters may have a significant impact on the future results of the Company.
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Supplier Agreement

As a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. the United States, the United Kingdom, and the European Union
governments, among others, have developed coordinated sanctions and export-control measure packages against Russian
individuals and entities. The Company is currently a party to an exclusive supply agreement for the supply of the Spongilla
raw material used in DMT310 and DMT410. The counterparty 1o this supply agreement is a Russian entity. The imposition
of enhanced export controls and economic sanctions on fransactions with Russia and Russian entities by the United States,
the United Kingdom, and‘or the European Union could prevent the Company from performing under this existing contract or
any future contract it may enter or may prevent the Company from remitting payment for raw material purchased from the
Company”s supplier. The Company has received two shipments of raw material from its supplier during fiscal year 2022
containing additional quantitics of Spengilfa raw material which the Company believes will provide enough Spongilla raw
malerial to support the initiation and completion of two Phase 3 studies in moderale-to-severe acne and support filing a new
drug application for DMT3 10 in acne upon the successful completion of two Phase 3 studies. Depending on the extent and
breadth of new sanctions or export controls that may be imposed against Russia, otherwise or as a result of the impact of the
war in Ukraine, it is possible that the Company’s ability to obtain additional supply of the Spoagiifa raw material used in
DMT310 and DMT410 could be negatively impacted, which could adversely affect its business, resulis of operations, and
financial condition.

Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings or threatened legal
proceedings. The Company is not a party to any legal proceedings or aware of any threatened legal proceedings which are
expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or Iiguidity.

11. Related Parties

Prior to the Company converting from an LLC to a C-corporation in March 2021, the Company had two Managing
Members. One of the Managing Members remained the Company s majority stockholder upon the close of the Company *s
IPO and serves as the Company's President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board of Directors. The other
Managing Member remained a beneficial owner upon the close of the Company s [P0 and serves as the Company’s Lead
Director of the Board of Directors. Hereinafter these two Managing Members, and their affiliates, are referred to collectively
as the Principal Stockholders afier the completion of the IPO.

Dwring 2020, the Managing Members and other related parties loaned the Company $1,145,000 as subordinated
convertible promissory notes. Additionally, during the first quarter of 2021, the Managing Members and other related parties
loaned the Company 51,255,000 as subordinated convertible promissory notes. Refer to Note 4 ~ Subordinated Convertible
Promissory Motes for further discussion,

During the third quarter of 2021, the Company amended the conversion terms of its Serics 1d preferred stock, as
described in Note 6 — Equity Securities. As a result of the Series 1d preferred stock amendments, the Company presented a
deemed dividend of approximately $2.3 million for the vear ended December 31, 2021, approximately $1.2 million of which
related 1o Series 1d preferred shares owned by the Company's Principal Stockholders and their affiliates.

12, Income Taxes

Historicallv, the Company conducted its operations through a pass-through entity that filed its income tax returns as
a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. As a result, the Company was not subject to ULS. federal or state
income Laxes as ihe related tax consequences were reported by members. In March 2021, the Company changed its siatus
from a limited liability company to a corporation. and accordingly, the Company became taxable at the entity level for ULS.
federal and state tax purposes.
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A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes and income taxes computed using the U.S. federal statutory
corporate tax rate is as follows:

Years Ended

December 31,
{in thowusands) 2022 021
LS. Federal statutory income tax rate.. . {2018) § {1.659)
Permanent and other differences.. 68 38

Steck-based compensation expen 89 1o
Research and development credits (219) (118)
Valuation allowanee .....oocovnines 2,080 1.629
OB DO PRI RRONN st v i shasnbumsiinoh UL s v S b wh TR A N BT b o SR B ANV SRR A4 - -
Significant components of the Company s net deferred tax assets are as follows:
As of December 31,

{in thousands) 2022 2021
Net operating loss carryviorwards ... 1927 § 1.049

Research and development caﬂ')fonvards 337 118
Capitalized research and development. 1,068 -
Stock-based compensation expense. 31 274
Intangible assets., 49 110
Other, net .. 17 78
Giross deftrrnd lxx assﬂs 3,709 1,629
Less: valuation allowance.. (3.709) (1.629)
Total deferred tax assets ... . 3 - 5 -

The Company has established a full valuation allowance for its deferred tax assets due to uncertainties that preclude
it from determining that it is more likely than not that the Company will be able to generate sufficient taxable income to
realize such assets. Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable
income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence
evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred since inceplion.

Such objective evidence limiis the ability 1o consider other subjective evidence such as the Company's projections
for future growth. Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2022, a valuation allowance of $3.7 million and $1.6 million,
respectively, has been recorded against all of the Company's net deferred tax assets, as the Company has determined that
none of the Company’s balance of deferred tax assets is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of deferred tax assets
considered realizable, however, could be adjusted in the future if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses
is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence, such as estimates of future taxable income
during carry forward periods and the Company”s projections for growth.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, available of $0.2
million before consideration limitations under Section 382 of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, or Section 382 of the Code,
as further described below. The NOL will carryforward indefinitely and be available to offset up to 80% of future taxable
income each vear. The Company had state NOL carrvforwards available of $5.0 million as of December 31, 2022, The
federals NOLs may be used to offset future taxable income and will begin to expire in 2041, unless previously utilized. The
California credits carry forward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards
available of $0.4 million and $0.08 million, respectively. The federal credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2041, unless
previously utilized. The state research and development credits carry forward indefinitely.

Utilization of the Company's NOL and research and development credit camy forwards may be subject to whslanlml
annual limitations in the event 2 cumulative ownership change has occurred, or that occur in the future, as required
Section 382 of the Code. In general, an ownership change, as defined by the Code, results from a transaction, or series of
transactions over a three-vear period, resulting in an ownership change of more than 50% of the owtstanding common stock
of a company by certain stockholders or public groups, Such an ownership change may limit the amount of NOL and
research and development credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax,
respectively. The Company has not completed such an ownership ch analysis pursuant to Section 382 of the Code and
therefore has established a full valustion allowance as the realization of such deferred tax assets has not met the more likely
than not threshold requirement. 1§ ownership changes have oceurred or occurs in the {uture, the amount of remaining tax
attribute carryforwards available to offset taxable ncome and income tax expense in future years may be restricted or
eliminated. If eliminated, the refated asset would be removed from deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction in the
valuation allowance, Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations created by future ownership changes, if any.
will not impact the Company”s effective tax rate,
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The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is maore likely than not that the position
will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. The Company does not expect that there will be a significant
change in the unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months. Further, due to the existence of the valuation allowance,
future changes in the Company”s unrecognized tax benefits will not impact the effective tax rate,

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company”s gross unrecognized tax benefits at the
beginning and end of the periods presented:

Years Ended
December 31,
fin thowsands) 2022 021
Beginning balance of unrecognized tax benefits ... 41 8 -
Additions based on tax positions related to the current vear. Bl 41
Additions for tax positions of prior years ... 435 -
Reductions for tax positions in prior vears . Z
Ending balance of unrecognized tax benefits . 2. | 857 8 41

The unrecognized tax benefit amounts are reflected in the determination of the Company’s deferred tax assets, If
recognized, none of these amounts would affect the Company ‘s effective tax rate, since it would be offset by an equal
corresponding adjustment in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, The Company does not foresee material changes to
its liability for uncertain tax benefits within the next twelve months.,

The Company's palicy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax maters in income 1ax expense,
The Company had no accrual for interest or penalties on the Company s balance sheets as of December 31, 2022, or 2021
and has not recognized interest and/or penalties in the statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various states. The Company is subject to examination
by tax authorities in those jurisdictions from inception,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and | 5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 21, 2023 /s Gerald T. Prochl
Gerald T, Proehl
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 21, 2023 /o' Ky K. Van Hoose
Kyri K. Van Hoose
Chief Fimancial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has
been signed below by the following persons on behall of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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/5! Wendell Wicrenga, Ph.D. Director February 21, 2023
Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D.
/s/ Mary Fisher Director February 21, 2023
Mary Fisher
/s Andrew Sandler, M.D. Director February 21, 2023
Andrew Sandler, M.D.
/s Steven J. Mento, Ph.DD. Director February 21, 2023
Steven J. Mento, Ph.D.
/5! Kathleen Scott Director February 21, 2023
Kathleen Scott
/s’ Brittany Bradrick Director February 21, 2023
Brittany Bradrick
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Dermata Therapeutics, Ing. (the “Company,” “Diermata,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) hereby amends its Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal vear ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on February 21, 2023 (the “Form 10-K”), as set
forth in this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amendment™). This Amendment is being filed solcly to amend and
replace Part 11, Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures™ of the Form 10-K, 1o reflect the conclusion of the Company's Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer that the Company s internal contrals over financial reporting were effective
as of December 31, 2022.

Except as described above and for currently-dated centifications of the Company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer filed herewith as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2 and 32.1 no other changes are being made to the Form 10-K
and this Amendment does not modify, amend, or update in any way any ol the financial or other information contained in the
Form 10-K, Because no financial statements have been included in this Amendment, paragraph 3 of the centifications filed
herewith as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 have been omitted. This Amendment does not reflect subsequent events occurring after
the original filing date of the Form 10-K. Accordingly, this Amendment is limited in scope and should be read in conjunction
with the Company s filings with the SEC subsequent to the filing of the Form 10-K.,




ITEM 9A, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the paricipation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined +n Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(c} under the E'ccha.n;ge Act, means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required 10 be disclosed by a company in the reponis that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the I1mr.: periods specified in the
SECs rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company 's management, including its principal executive and principal financial
officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achicving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and

ures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date. our disclosure conirols and procedures were effective at
the reasonable assurance level,

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal control over our financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our Board
of Directors, management and other personnel, o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial
reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those policies and procedures that:

L] Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of assets;

L] provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with the authorizations of management and directors: and

- provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of assets that could have a matenal effect on our financial statements,

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on
the framework provided in fternal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

izations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, our man it concleded that our internal control
over financial reporting were effective as of December 31, 2022

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to
Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the vear ended December 31, 2022, that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely 1o materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, believes that our disclosure contrals and
procedures and internal contral over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and are effective al the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expeet that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal conirol over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system,
no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
These inherent limitations include the realitics that judgments in decision-making can be Taulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of a simple error or mistake, Additonally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls, The design of any system of controls
also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate,
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not
be detected,




PART IV
ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{2)(1) Financial Statements
The financial statements and related notes, together with the report of Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C. appear at pages F-1
through F-26 following the Exhibit List as required by “Part ll—Item &—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
the Form 10-K.
(a}(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

{a}(3) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Amendment.

Exhilyit

No. Description of Documeni

31 Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6. 2021).

32 Amendment No. | of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc., filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on July 11, 2022 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 11, 2022),

i3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

34 Amendment Mo, | to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 23,
2022).

4.1 Specimen Certificate representing shares of common stock of Dermata Therapeutics, Ine. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed with the SEC on August 6,
2021).

42 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company”s
Registration Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021 ).

43 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in the Company”s Initial Public Offering (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6,
2021}

44 Form of Underwriter Warrant issued in the Company s Initial Public Offering {incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form -1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

4.5 Form of Warrant Agency Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Direct Transfer, LLC emered into
in connection with the Company”s Initial Public Offering (mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

4.6 Form of Comman Stock Warrant issued in Registered Direct Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
of the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2022).

4.7 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant issued in Registered Direct Offering (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of
the Company”s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2022).

48 Deseription of Secunties ***

([} ] Form of Indemnification Agreement entered imo by Dermata Therapeutics. Inc. and its Officers and Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6. 2021).
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Equaty Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%

Amendment No. | to the Dermaia Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan {incorporated by reference (o
Exhibit 10.15 of the Company ‘s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award under 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).+
Form of Incentive Stock Option Award under 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form -1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).%

Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Gerald T.
Proehl {incorporated by reference io Exhibit 10,1 of the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 10, 2021).%

Form of Employment Agreement dated August 17, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and
Christopher 1. Nardo, M.P.H., Ph.D. {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,6 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 5-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).+

Amendment No. | dated December 6, 2021 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata
Therapeutics. Inc, and Christopher J. Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2021). +

Amendment No, 2 dated JTanuary 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Ing. and Christopher J. Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2022).%

Amendment No. 3 dated July 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.
and Christopher Nardo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,4 of the Company s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q) filed with the SEC on August 15, 2022). +

Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and Maria Bedoya
Toro Munera, Ph.D)., M.B.A. {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 10, 2021).F

Amendment No. | dated January 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Inc. and Maria Bedova Toro Munera, Ph.DD. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March &, 2022).%

Employment Agreement dated December 6, 2021 by and between Dermata Therapeutics, Ine. and Kyri K. Van
Hoose (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company”s Curreni Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 10, 2021).%

Amendment No. | dated January 1, 2022 to the Employment Agreement by and between Dermata Therapeutics,
Inc. and Kyri K. Wan Hoose (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,13 of the Company”s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2022). ¥

Supply Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Reka-Farm LLC, dated as of February 27, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6, 2021).48

License Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani, Inc. dated as of March 31, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company”s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on August 6, 2021).#

Amended and Restated Annex A o the License Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani, Inc.
dated as of March 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,10 of the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).

License Amendment and Sentlement Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics LLC and Villani. Inc. dated as
of June 4, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1011 of the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-
1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).#

Amendment to the License Amendment and Sciilement Agreement between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and
Villani, Inc.. dated July 30, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on August 6, 2021).4

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement Dated April 20, 2022 between Dermata Therapeutics. Inc. and the
Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company s Current Report on Form §-K filed with
the SEC on April 23, 2022).
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Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated April 20, 2022 between Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. and the
Purchaser (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on April 25, 2022).

Form of Placement Agent Agreement dated April 20, 2022 between the Registrant and Maxim Group LLC
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company®s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
April 23, 2022).

Consent of Mayer Hoffman McCann, P.C_***
Centification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*
Centification of the Chicf Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).*

Certification of Chiefl Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-
14(b).**

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

Inline XBRI. Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Cover Page Imeractive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101)

#  Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) are omitted in accordance with the rules of the SEC.
*  Filed herewith.

**  Fumished, not filed.

*** Previously filed

+ Indicates a management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement.




Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report 1o be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly awthorized.

DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
Date: March 28, 2023 /& Geradd T, Proehl

Gerald T. Prochl
Chief Executive Qfficer (Principal Executive Officer)




